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Enquiries relating to this Report are to be addressed to:
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Malta
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www.arbitrufinanzjarju.org.mt

Freephone: 80072366

Telephone: +356 21249245
Whatsapp: +356 79219961

Email: complaint.info@asf.mt 

Wherever used herein, the use of the masculine gender shall 
include the feminine and neuter genders, and the singular shall 
include the plural and vice versa unless the context specifically 
indicates otherwise. 

Any use of words or phrases to a similar effect shall have no 
significance in interpreting this report; such use is solely for 
convenience.

The cut-off date for information about appeals to decisions 
delivered by the Arbiter is 30 April 2025.
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Competence and 
Powers of the Arbiter 
for Financial Services

Role and mandate 

•	 The Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services 
provides an independent, impartial way to resolve 
disputes between customers and financial services 
providers outside of court. Established by the 
Arbiter for Financial Services Act (the Act), the 
Office and the Arbiter operates free from outside               
influence or control. 

•	 The Arbiter resolves complaints based on the specific 
facts and merits of each case, based on what, in his 
opinion, is fair, equitable and reasonable.

•	 This Office is Malta’s designated entity for alternative 
dispute resolution in financial services, aligning with 
certified ADR bodies across the EU and the EEA.

Scope and eligibility

•	 The law outlines the Arbiter’s roles, responsibilities 
and authority. The Arbiter considers relevant laws, 
rules, regulations, guidelines from national and 
European supervisory authorities, industry best 
practices and customers’ reasonable expectations 
from the time the issue occurred.

•	 To bring a complaint, a customer must have a direct 
relationship with a financial services provider, 
such as being a consumer of a service provider, 
being offered a service or seeking one. However, 
amendments to the Act – which will come into force 
on 1 October 2025 – will widen the scope of the 
Arbiter’s jurisdiction to review complaints relating to 
fraud, even those without such a direct relationship 
with the financial services provider involved in 
the transaction. The Arbiter determines eligibility                                                  
in individual cases. 

•	 The definition of financial services provider 
includes entities licensed or authorised by the 
Malta Financial Services Authority (MFSA) or 
other financial services law, covering areas like 
investments, banking, pensions, insurance and 
corporate services provision. A key condition 
for eligibility is that customers must first submit 
their complaint in writing to the financial services 
provider and allow 15 working days for a response.  
The provider may extend this deadline but, in any 
case, a response must be issued to the customer                                    
within 35 working days.
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Powers and decision-making

•	 The Arbiter possesses necessary powers to perform 
the role effectively. This includes the power to 
summon witnesses and administer oaths.

•	 The Arbiter determines the admissibility and weight   
of evidence presented.

•	 Proceedings can involve requesting information 
or documents from parties to the complaint                             
or third parties.

•	 The Arbiter may consolidate individual complaints if 
they are intrinsically similar.

•	 Decisions are made in writing. If a complaint is 
found valid, fully or partially, the Arbiter can direct 
the provider to review conduct, give explanations, 
change practices or pay compensation.

•	 Compensation awards can reach up to €250,000 
for each complainant for claims arising from the 
same conduct, excluding interest and other costs. 
For claims exceeding this amount, the Arbiter may 
recommend the provider pay the remaining balance, 
though this recommendation is not binding.

•	 The Arbiter also decides on the costs                                                       
of the proceedings.

•	 Decisions are binding on both parties. Following a 
decision, either party can request clarifications or 
corrections of errors within 15 days.

•	 Decisions can be challenged through an appeal to 
the Court of Appeal (Inferior Jurisdiction) within 20 
days.

•	 If no appeal is lodged, the Arbiter’s decision becomes 
final and binding.

•	 Final decisions are accessible online, with 
complainant identities pseudonymised.

•	 Where there is significant evidence of a provider’s 
misconduct or criminal conduct by any party, the 
Arbiter refers the matter to the relevant competent 
authorities.

•	 The Office and competent authorities exchange 
information on issues with wider regulatory 
implications.
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Highlights

In 2024, the Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services (OAFS) received 791 enquiries, 
maintaining the stable enquiry pattern seen in recent years.  More than half of these 
enquiries concerned banking and payment services, with insurance and investment 
matters following. Ninety per cent of all contacts were made through digital channels. 

Our Customer Relations Officers resolved most enquiries by providing general 
information, reflecting improved public access to reliable guidance and a marked 
enhancement in resolution times. Cross-border co-operation with FIN-NET continued, 
notably in insurance cases involving local firms passporting in the EU, with positive 
outcomes achieved, despite language barriers and the often complex nature of 
international documentation.

In 2024, we recorded the highest number of accepted formal complaints in four years, 
reaching 251 cases. This continued the upward trend from 151 cases in 2022 and 224 
in 2023.  Most submissions (88%) arrived through our online complaint platform. 

Across all sectors, the product categories generating the most complaints were 
“Savings/Current/Term Accounts” (66 instances), “Life-related” products (60 instances) 
and “Crypto/Virtual Financial Assets” (31 instances). Concurrently, the most common 
complaint issues reported were “Value at maturity” (56 instances), “General admin./
customer service” (38 instances) and “Suspected irregular activity” (34 instances). 

Mediation proved particularly effective in 2024, with agreements reached during 
mediation accounting for over half (59) of the cases resolved at the mediation stage. 
This represents a substantial increase from 2023, when these agreements represented 
only about a third (22) of similar cases. The average time from acceptance to closure for 
mediated cases was 88.7 days, approximately 27 days faster than the previous year. Our 
enhanced mediation resources contributed to a significant increase in settlements and 
withdrawals without adjudication.

The Arbiter issued 94 final decisions in 2024, with 51 cases (54%) not upheld, 36 cases 
(38%) partially upheld, and 7 cases (7%) fully upheld.  Compensation amounts varied, 
with the highest recorded at £118,295.60, though most awards ranged between €1,000 
and €5,000. Only seven cases proceeded to appeal.  

The Arbiter’s decisions covered disputes across banking, insurance, investments and 
corporate services. Notable themes included account closures, loan application disputes, 
crypto-related transfer blockages and recurring issues with fraudulent payment 
transactions. The Arbiter applied a transparent, structured model to assign responsibility 
in authorised push payment scam cases, ensuring that both provider and consumer 
conduct were duly considered. Decisions frequently examined regulatory compliance, 
service provider obligations, customer due diligence and communication standards. 
Where appropriate, compensation or partial redress was awarded.

We initiated changes to legislation to include victims of fraud within the Arbiter’s 
competence, even when victims are not customers of the service provider that handled 
the fraudulent payment. These changes will take effect from 1 October 2025, removing 
technical barriers that previously prevented proper examination of these complaints. 
This legislative change will allow complaints to be judged on their merits rather than 
dismissed on technical grounds of lack of competence.
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Acronyms / Abbreviations 

Act	 Arbiter for Financial Services Act (Chapter 555 of the Laws of Malta)

ADR	 Alternative Dispute Resolution

APP Fraud	 Authorised Push Payment Fraud

CFD	 Contracts for difference

CRO	 Customer Relations Officer

DFM	 Discretionary Fund Manager

EEA	 European Economic Area

ESMA	 European Securities and Markets Authority

EU	 European Union

FATF	 Financial Action Task Force

IDR	 Internal Dispute Resolution

KYC 	 Know Your Customer 

MFSA 	 Malta Financial Services Authority 

MoU 	 Memorandum of Understanding

NAO	 National Audit Office

OAFS	 Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services

PSD2	 Payment Services Directive 2 (Directive 2014/65/EC)

PSP	 Payment Service Provider

PSU	 Payment Service User

SEPA	 Single Euro Payments Area

VFA 	 Virtual Financial Assets 
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Arbiter’s Report
The role of the Arbiter for Financial Services has continued to evolve as I look 
back on the second full year of my appointment. Certainly, the decisions taken 
continue to take up the bulk of my time, but I have also continued to work on 
Technical Notes for the financial industry to enable decisions that are focused on 
other areas and refined the legislation governing this Office.

During 2024, 94 complaints were formally decided, compared to 136 cases that 
were decided in 2023.

The reduction in decided cases can be explained by two main reasons:

1.  On taking over in May 2023, there was a backlog of 66 cases awaiting decision. 
A great effort was made to clear this backlog, so that at the end of both 2023 and 
2024 there were only eight cases awaiting decision. The eight cases ready for 
decision as at end December 2024 were all complaints filed in 2024. In fact, we 
had only one outstanding active complaint coming from 2023 (active complaints 
exclude dormant complaints postponed sine die for particular reasons), which 
because of its complexity was finally decided in March 2025; and 

2.  There was a considerable increase in cases from 67 in 2023 to 115 in 2024 
where complaints were settled or withdrawn without adjudication, through 
mediation and/or withdrawal of the complaint. This is a result of the increase in 
the quantity and quality of mediation resources.

These are very notable results, given that complaints registered in 2024 
increased to 251 from 224 in 2023 and the decision time for adjudicated cases 
was considerably shortened, as reported elsewhere in this Report.

We are also pleased to note an increase in acceptance of the Arbiter’s decision 
without appeal to civil courts. While in 2023 some 12% (16 out of 136) of 
decisions were appealed, in 2024 this reduced to just over 7% (7 out of 94).

There were 18 cases decided by the Court of Appeal in 2024. In their great 
majority (14 out of 18) the Arbiter’s original decision was largely confirmed. In 
the four cases where the Court of Appeal reversed the Arbiter’s decisions, three 
cases related to operation/closure of bank account. In one such case, the court 
explained that its reversal of decision was based on new information that was not 
available to the Arbiter. The other two cases related to bank decision to close a 
customer account for failure to submit satisfactory KYC information. The fourth 
case where the Court reversed the Arbiter’s decision was related to a decision 
taken in February 2023 related to a pensions complaint where the court decided 
that the Arbiter’s decision against the Service Provider was based on issues not 
raised by the Complainant. 

Communication initiatives

OAFS continued enhancing its active media strategy to communicate with the 
public and raise awareness about our functions. This helps in two ways:

     a.	 to render the public aware of their rights when any service provider has    	
	 failed them; and

     b.	 to approach these rights with realistic expectations for              	  	
	 compensatory remedy.

This has helped to resolve many cases through mediation, especially in complaints 
related to redemption of long-term life policies which mature at substantially 
lower figures than had been quoted at inception when interest rates were much 
higher. It also helped settlements of complaints related to fraud payments (APP 
fraud) against banks which continued to be settled on the basis of the model 
framework published by the Arbiter at the end of 2023.

Alfred Mifsud
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Fraud schemes

It is heart-breaking to see the increasing incidence of consumers falling victim to ever more 
creative fraudsters who seem to be operating on an industrial scale.

We have seen how fraud cases are transitioning from mere one-shot fraud payment (APP fraud) 
to relationship-based schemes where fraudsters trap victims in making several and substantial 
payments in search of fake promises for high investment returns, which never materialise except 
in virtual fraudulent platforms.

These schemes, commonly referred to as pig butchering, generally start with fraudsters spending 
several weeks/months in a confidence-building exercise with their victim. Only when sufficient 
confidence is achieved do they induce the victim to make a small investment in a get-rich-
quick investment where the fraudster falsely professes professionalism and expertise. Victims 
are then lured, by fake huge profits, to increase their investments until the point when they 
seek realisation of their supposed profits. They are then requested to make additional payments 
to permit such realisation in the form of payment of taxes, maintaining liquidity thresholds or  
similar fake excuses.

We have seen cases where victims are forced to borrow from relatives, liquidate their pension 
fund or sell valuable assets to make these payments in the innocent belief that all will be restored 
when the profits flow in. At some point, reality strikes victims – with tremendous financial           
and psychological consequences.

Some complaints involved victims with a high educational background, so it is not just a case of 
victims’ naivety resulting from a low level of education. Indeed, fraudsters seem to target victims 
who command substantial financial resources. And they do it with a professional persuasion level 
that can entrap even enlightened minds through a good mixture of fear and greed.

As regulation invariably lags the fraudsters’ creativity, the OAFS has taken two initiatives in 
search of our mission to deliver decisions not just based on legal provisions but also on the basis 
of reasonableness, fairness and equity, as provided in our mandate.

Initiative 1: Technical Note: Guidance on considerations the Arbiter will adopt in 
determining complaints related to ‘pig butchering’ type of scams.

Through this first initiative the Arbiter guides the service providers on their responsibility to 
build monitoring systems that can ‘smell’ fraud in their customers’ payment patterns and 
their obligation to warn their customers about it. This is further explained in another section                                     
of this Report.

The Arbiter reminds that in accordance with the enabling law (Arbiter for Financial Services 
Act 2016) the Arbiter takes into consideration not merely the adherence to rules and 
regulations but in adjudicating the Arbiter is also empowered to consider elements of fairness,                  
reasonableness and equity.

Initiative 2: Changes to legislation to prevent fraud cases being considered out of scope for 
the Arbiter’s competence under its mandate in terms of the Act.

Through this second initiative victims of fraud are considered as eligible customer, as defined in 
the Act, of all service providers that handled the fraud payment, even if the victim is not their 
customer or has never asked or been offered a service. 

This legislative change would permit the Arbiter to consider complaints and adjudge them on 
their merits rather than having to declare lack of competence, even in cases where the service 
provider may have contributed to facilitate the fraudsters’ hit on their victims.

During the consultation process for these changes, the Arbiter noted the objections of 
some industry participants who were comfortable with the existing legal regime where their 
performance and possible contribution to facilitate the fraud could not be adjudged on its merits.

The Arbiter, in consultation with regulators, resisted this dismissive attitude by industry participants 
who had difficulty understanding that fraud prevention measures protect and enhance the 
industry’s reputation to the benefit of all concerned. After all, the change of legislation only 
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permitted hearing of complaints on their merits. Industry participants who perform in line with 
regulation and best practice will not be penalised by the change in legislation, which merely 
removed the technical barriers that were denying proper hearing of such complaints.

In the end a delayed effectiveness to 1 October 2025 was conceded to give time to participants 
to reconsider and adjust their systems as necessary.

Other complaints

We have noted a reduction in the complaints related to investments, both those effected directly 
as well as those involving pension funds. In fact, the fewer complaints on investments mainly 
involve complainants who are not typically of the retail type and to whom the Arbiter cannot 
offer the same consideration as that offered to retail clients. However, we still had decisions 
involving compensation to retail clients who complained of losses on their investments or 
pension schemes. These cases feature in other parts of this Report.

In cases of life insurance, more cases are being settled through mediation, but those that do 
not are decided based on uniform principles established in past decisions. Complaints related 
to general insurance cases cover a variety of subjects, including travel, car rental, health and 
public liability, and each case tends to have peculiarities which demand thorough analysis and 
deliberation. Many such decisions also feature in cases reported elsewhere in this Report.

Complaints received in the first third of 2025

In the first third of 2025 new complaints registered amounted to 59 in line with the overall 
tempo of 2024. It is our objective to have the majority of these complaints resolved without 
adjudication at the post-complaint procedure or mediation stage. Those that proceed to 
adjudication will be heard and decided with due despatch to make the OAFS more relevant to 
people’s lives. Our April 2025 newsletter provides further information in this regard.

Going forward

The OAFS is blessed with a very capable and dedicated team, and I rely on them tremendously 
to reach our objectives.

Our front office team go out of their way to try to resolve problems that would obviate the need 
to lodge formal complaints.

Our mediation service is increasingly effective in settling complaints prior to adjudication.

For those residual cases that proceed to adjudication, I find valuable support from our expert 
case analysts and administrative assistant who help me to shorten the time from completion of 
evidence to decision.

Equitable decisions delivered with despatch produce better outcomes for the benefit                               
of both litigants.

We have now completed negotiations to establish a legal framework for the necessary 
consultations with financial regulators. This helps to provide feedback for informed regulation, 
leading to better decision-making by the Arbiter. Through handling of complaints, OAFS can 
spot operational issues that would otherwise take longer to come to the attention of regulators.

We are also actively involved with regulators and law enforcement authorities to launch a 
national campaign to raise awareness about payments fraud and to establish a permanent 
helpdesk for actual and potential victims of fraud.

Going forward, the Arbiter expects to expand his adjudication role, separately from the OAFS, 
to the establishment of a Credit Review Office that can process complaints from business clients 
who have credit applications refused by lending institutions.

We look forward to continuing to be of service to the community.
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Chairman’s Statement

Geoffrey Bezzina

It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report for the Office 
of the Arbiter for Financial Services (OAFS) for 2024. As we 
reflect on the past 12 months, I am proud to report on the 
measurable progress the OAFS has made in achieving the 
goals outlined in our 2024 Strategic Plan. Our work across 
all fronts has maintained a sustained focus on providing 
independent, efficient and accessible dispute resolution 
services for consumers of financial services in Malta.

We implemented several key initiatives during the reporting 
year. Enhancing the OAFS’s visibility and accessibility 
remained a significant priority. We actively engaged the 
public through awareness campaigns focused on critical 
issues, such as authorised push payment scams and digital 
fraud, producing and sharing video guides via our website 
and social media. Our participation in various TV and radio 
programmes also helped raise awareness about the OAFS 
and the services we offer, with engagement rates indicating 
growing public recognition. We also took steps to improve 
the accessibility and efficiency of the complaints process, 
ensuring users could easily engage with our mechanism 
through both online channels and in-person appointments.

Operationally, we have seen substantial improvement in 
our turnaround time for processing and resolving cases. 
We dedicated increased resources to mediation, expanding 
our team and enhancing their training, ensuring our team 
remains abreast of changes in the financial services                
and legislative landscape.

Mediators now leverage a growing body of Arbiter decisions 
to guide parties towards realistic expectations, encouraging 
practical, fair outcomes often without the need for lengthy 
adjudication. Maintaining high service standards has 
been important, especially with the ongoing pressures 
of operational capacity keeping pace with complaint                                                          
volume and complexity.

A significant operational milestone achieved in early 2024 
was the successful relocation to our new premises in Msida. 
This move provides a more modern, conducive working 
environment, allowing us to better service the growing 
needs of our stakeholders.

We continued our engagement with international 
peers through participation in FIN-NET and the INFO 
Network. Our work on scam-related disputes and 
digital fraud prevention, particularly our framework for 
sharing responsibility between Payment Service Users 
(PSU) and Payment Service Providers (PSP), attracted 
significant interest from other jurisdictions grappling 
with similar challenges, highlighting the broader                                                        
relevance of our approach.

We continued to identify instances of systemic issues 
through the complaints and enquiries received, engaging 
with relevant regulators to address these concerns and 
safeguard consumer interests. This collaborative approach 
reinforces our commitment not only to individual disputes 
but also to contributing to the sector’s stability and integrity.

Looking ahead, our priorities for the 2025-2027 period 
are clearly set out in our three-year Strategic Plan. This 
plan builds directly on the progress recorded in 2024 
and provides a framework for continuous improvement 
across six strategic pillars: Accessible Services, High-
Quality Dispute Resolution, Enhanced Visibility, Policy 
Influence, Modern Legislation and Sound Governance. 
We will continue to expand our outreach, focusing on 
improving accessibility for all, including vulnerable groups, 
and making our processes even more accessible. The use 
of technology remains central, with dedicated investment 
planned for digital tools, such as case management 
upgrades and new platforms for sharing knowledge based                                           
on the Arbiter’s decisions.

Meeting our objectives and maintaining service quality 
require a secure, sustainable funding base. While 
government support remains critical, should the public 
subvention fall short of projected needs, the Board will 
consider a levy structure for financial service providers, 
even though this option brings additional administrative 
considerations. Such a move would align with international 
trends in the funding of alternative dispute resolution 
bodies and secure the future capacity of the OAFS to serve 
both consumers and industry.

In closing, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to 
the Arbiter for his dedicated leadership and to the members 
of the Board for their invaluable guidance and unwavering 
support. Our achievements would not have been possible 
without the dedication, diligence and teamwork of our 
personnel. Their commitment and hard work have been 
instrumental in delivering the OAFS’s mission. I am also 
grateful to the Ministry for Finance for its continued 
support and technical assistance.

We intend to remain responsive, transparent and 
forward-looking, ensuring the OAFS continues to deliver 
a trusted, effective dispute resolution service for the                               
island’s evolving financial sector.
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Chairman
Geoffrey Bezzina 

Members
Peter Muscat
Antoine Borg

Secretary
Valerie Chatlani
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Board of Management and Administration

The Minister for Finance appoints the Board of Management 
and Administration. Its functions include supporting the Arbiter 
in administrative matters, without involvement in complaint           
review and adjudication. 

All members attended the two meetings held in 2024.

Geoffrey Bezzina Peter MuscatAntoine Borg Valerie Chatlani
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Issues discussed during Board Meetings

During the year, the Board discussed the following main items:

1.	Office relocation and maintenance: The Board received updates on the ongoing 
challenges following the move from Floriana to Msida in February 2024. The 
Ministry for Finance confirmed it would cover rental and utility costs since the 
OAFS’s subvention proved insufficient. Temporary arrangements for ad-hoc 
maintenance payments were noted as financially disadvantageous. Discussions 
between the Ministry and the building owner regarding maintenance agreements 
were ongoing. 

2.	Annual report and financial statements: The 2023 Annual Report was published 
in June 2024 and distributed to the Ministry and relevant entities. The National 
Audit Office, auditors of the OAFS financial statements, issued a clean 
Management Letter for the 2023 financial statements. The reserves decreased 
due to extraordinary expenses incurred by the OAFS for additional fixed assets 
and other recurrent expenditure required for the new office location.

3.	Strategic planning and budget: A three-year Strategic Plan (2025-2027) was 
drafted and sent to the Minister for Finance for his consideration and eventual 
presentation to Parliament. Compared to the sum that had been requested, the 
Board noted a shortfall of €50,000 in the amount allocated by the Ministry for 
the Office’s operational and administrative responsibilities for 2025. This funding 
gap gave rise to concerns about the Office’s ability to maintain its current level 
of service and to implement its planned projects for the coming year, including 
staff development and essential system upgrades.

4.	Case management trends:  During 2024, mediation as a method of dispute 
resolution increased markedly, particularly in the context of scams and 
investment-related complaints. The Board noted that these cases often involved 
sophisticated fraud schemes, requiring both legal and technical expertise to 
resolve. The Arbiter, during a briefing to the Board, reiterated the necessity 
for a co-ordinated national strategy against financial scams. This strategy 
would bring together regulatory agencies and financial services providers to 
implement stronger measures to identify and block fraudulent transactions 
before consumers are affected. 

5.	Human resources: The Office expanded its staff capacity by recruiting interns 
and contracted staff to support mediation processes. This reflected a strategic 
shift towards resolving disputes through mediation more frequently.  An 
experienced mediator was engaged to deliver training on mediation and 
mediation techniques. 

6.	IT system migration: With the current Case Management System contract 
expiring in 2025, the Board evaluated alternatives for migration to a new system.

7.	Legislative amendments: Proposed revisions to the Arbiter for Financial Services 
Act were discussed, including expanding the definitions of “consumer” and 
“eligible client” to cover scam disputes where the customer would not have a 
direct contractual relationship with the financial services provider.

8.	Memorandum of Understanding with MFSA: Discussions on a draft MoU 
between the MFSA and the OAFS were ongoing.

9.	Data retention policy: The Board agreed that the period for holding physical 
case files be extended to ten years following the final decision of the Arbiter.  
All decisions published on the OAFS website will remain accessible to the public 
permanently. The Arbiter’s decisions (unredacted) will likewise be preserved 
permanently for internal purposes.
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Administrative Report
Amendments to the Arbiter for Financial 
Services Act

The Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services was 
established in April 2016 through the enactment of Act 
XVI of 2016 (Arbiter for Financial Services Act). This Act 
provides a comprehensive framework for the Office’s 
administrative, operational and jurisdictional aspects. 
It outlines the roles, responsibilities and accountability 
of the Office, as well as the appointment, functions, 
powers and competence of the Arbiter. 

Additionally, provisions are included for appointing a 
Substitute Arbiter when necessary. During the year 
under review, the Minister for Finance appointed a 
Substitute Arbiter to review a case. 

Several amendments to the Act have been made over 
the past eight years to address diverse requirements 
and improve clarity. During the year under review, the 
Office made submissions to the Minister for Finance 
to amend the definitions of “customer” and “eligible 
customer” to address gaps in the current legislation 
that have prevented certain persons from seeking 
redress through the OAFS (see below).

The Budget Measures Implementation Bill proposed 
several key changes to the Act to address these gaps. 
The most significant amendment concerned the 
extension of the term “eligible customer”, which limited 
this definition to individuals with direct relationships 
with financial services providers. 

Over the past few years, the Arbiter has received 
numerous complaints from individuals who have fallen 
victim to financial fraud schemes. In typical cases, 
these victims transferred funds to payment accounts 
controlled by fraudsters, with the IBAN often supplied 
by the payment service provider.

However, the Arbiter was compelled to reject 
hearing these complaints on a legal technicality: 
the victims had no direct relationship with the local 
financial services provider and therefore could not 
be considered “eligible customers” under the legal 
definition. This left fraud victims without recourse 
through the redress mechanism offered by the OAFS. 
The proposed amendment addressed this shortcoming 
by explicitly defining victims of suspected fraudulent 
payment transactions as “eligible customers” of 
any financial services provider involved in handling                                      
the fraudulent payment. 

Following the publication of the amendments in the 
Bill, discussions were held with various stakeholders 
to clarify and improve the proposed definition of 
“eligible customer” and agreement was reached 

that the proposed amendment to the definition 
would specify that victims must demonstrate 
“immediate, genuine and legitimate interest” to                                                                               
qualify as “eligible customers”. 

The amendments to the definition of “eligible customer” 
will apply to events occurring after the enactment 
date, specifically from 1 October 2025.  Complaints 
on transactions that happened before the enactment 
of these changes will continue to be assessed under 
the current legal framework. Additionally, financial 
institutions may only be held liable for their own 
shortcomings, not for failures by other parties                          
in the payment chain.

Moreover, these changes do not introduce new 
operational requirements for banks and payment 
service providers. Rather, they enable the Arbiter to 
hear genuine complaints from fraud victims instead of 
dismissing them outrightly on technical grounds. 

The definition of “customer” has also been widened 
to include voluntary organisations other than natural 
persons, micro-enterprises and consumer associations. 
This broadens access to the Arbiter’s services 
for a wider range of entities that may experience 
issues with financial services. The amendment also 
provides a clear definition of “voluntary organisation” 
by aligning it with the definition in the Voluntary                                       
Organisations Act (Cap. 492).

The amendments are now in force by Act IX of 2025. 

Enhancing accessibility and visibility

Triannual newsletter

As planned in our 2024 Strategic Plan, the OAFS successfully 
launched and maintained its triannual newsletter initiative 
throughout the year. The office issued all three planned 
newsletters at regular four-month intervals – in April, 
August and December – providing stakeholders with 
timely updates on the organisation’s activities, significant 
case decisions  and financial sector developments.

Issue 1 (April 2024)

NEWSL E TT E R

The Arbiter of Financial Services, Alfred Mifsud, looks back at his first year in office
and outlines the challenges he faced, the major milestones and some interesting new
developments.

On 28 April 2023, experienced financial adviser and banker Alfred Mifsud took over the reins of the
Office of the Arbiter of Financial Services from the first Arbiter, Dr Reno Borg, who had occupied the
post since 2016. Mr Mifsud listed as the top challenge he faces ensuring the Office remains relevant
to people in their daily lives.

“When the Office was launched in 2006, there was a Big Bang. It was a novelty. There had never been
something like it with executive decision-making powers. So, people referred to the Arbiter because
complaints could date back to 2004, before the law came into existence,” he explained. 

Once the initial impetus dissipated, it has now become more essential for the Office to remain
relevant to people’s lives, he said, adding: “It’s important that we maintain the programme and the
presence in people’s lives, knowing that there is an Arbiter to whom (they) can refer cases. Many
people might not be aware that they have this avenue to sort out their problems.”

Malcolm J. Naudi interviews Alfred Mifsud, Arbiter for Financial Services

Immediately on appointment, Mr Mifsud made it his priority to ensure that the decisions he was
called on to deliver would be taken in a timely manner. He first set out to adjudicate some 60 cases
filed with the Office in 2022/2023. “By the end of the year, we had very few cases left that were
pending for several months,” he said proudly.

“I hope that, going forward, we will see the duration very much shortened because I strongly believe
that to be relevant to the people – and people come here, apart from the informality and the lower
costs of handling their complaints – because timeliness is also very important for them.”

He explained that, for complainants, life needs to go on. “They await a decision so that they can
programme their life accordingly,” he said.

Mr Mifsud sees his role as being neither a regulator nor an operator: “I am an Arbiter, somewhere in
the middle, defending the consumers against the service providers.”

“It’s important that we maintain the programme and the presence
in people’s lives”
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The Arbiter issued decisions on 51 complaints, compared to
52 and 35 in the same period of 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Thirty-one decisions did not uphold the complaint, 15 partially
upheld it and five cases involved complaints that were fully
upheld.

One has to take into consideration that most of the decisions
issued in the first half of 2023 were taken in the second
quarter to address quite a large backlog left pending from
previous quarters. 

There was no such backlog at the end of 2023. So, the
decisions issued in the first half of 2024 were normal
operational flow, which is higher than the 35 issued in
2022.

At the end of June 2024, the Arbiter only had three cases
ready for decision; and another 11 were awaiting final
submissions after conclusion of the evidence collection
process.

At end June 2024, there were only 10 cases pending that
were registered before 2024. Of these, five were decided
after 30 June 2024, one was withdrawn since there was a
direct settlement following a preliminary decision issued
by the Arbiter, one is at the decision stage and three are in
the evidence hearing stage since they involve complex
issues.

The time from final submission to decision stage for
decisions issued during the first half of 2024 was, on
average, 69.5 days compared to 158 days in the same
period of 2023. Ten complaints filed in 2024, which
reached adjudication, were already decided by the end of
June 2024.

Highlights from the first six months of 2024:

DECISIONS

APPEALS

Of the 51 decisions issued, seven were appealed – four
appeals by the Service Provider and three by the
Complainant. By way of comparison in H1/2023 of the 52
decisions issued there were eight appeals – four by the
Service Provider and four by the Complainant.

The Court of Appeal decided five appeals filed before
2024. Three appeals confirmed the Arbiter’s decisions and
two reversed the Arbiter’s decisions. A Court of Appeal
decision reversing the Arbiter’s decision related to the right
of a bank to terminate an account relationship with clients
who fail to submit due diligence information requested. 

We are pleased to report a busy and productive first half of
2024.

51 complaints decided.
Only 10 cases registered before 2024 were pending
at the end of June 2024.
Time from final submission to decision stage – 69.5
days.
New complaints increased by 65% in H1 2024
compared to H1 2023, rising from 81 to 134.
Banking/payments issues accounted for the majority
of complaints (57).
Fraud scams and unauthorised payments made up
60% of all banking/payments complaints.
36 cases settled in mediation.

Case summaries.............2

Court of Appeal reviews
Arbiter's decisions............5
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Alfred Mifsud, Arbiter for Financial Services
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I am concerned not only with the quantity, but also with
the quality of these fraud schemes. In some cases, we are
going well beyond the usual €5,000 daily limit normally
attached to accounts. We are seeing cases of high five
figures and even six-digit losses.

There is the need for a co-ordinated national campaign to
render consumers sensitive to the trickery and unbounded
creativity of professional fraudsters, who are making an
industry out of their deceit. I am co-ordinating with
regulators and law enforcement authorities to launch such
a campaign – the sooner the better.

However, we warn consumers to be more careful before
parting with their savings. Get-rich-quick schemes are
invariably too good to be true. They are carefully laid out to
tempt vulnerable consumers to try their luck with a small
sum. Once inside the scheme, it gets progressively more
difficult to extricate themselves out, and they are quite
often convinced to continue paying into the false scheme
until, finally, the truth is exposed, with hurtful results –
both financial and psycho-social.

Many complaints are being resolved using the model we
published on how to allocate responsibility between the
complainant and the bank. Early next year, we plan to
issue Technical Notes on more sophisticated fraud
schemes to guide service providers and customers on their
respective roles and duties to protect and prevent this
fraud.

Only two cases registered in 2023 are still awaiting
adjudication. Most pending cases were registered in the
second half of 2024. Generally, we are keeping within 90
days from date of final submissions to adjudication.

Hoping you had a lovely festive season and wishing
everyone a happy New Year!

Rising complaints and fraud concerns

Workload has continued to increase at the OAFS, with
233 complaints registered in the first 11 months of
2024, compared to 149 (excluding 75 complaints
against one common service provider, which are frozen
for regulatory reasons) that were registered in 2023.
We consider this positively but with concern.

Positively because it indicates that consumers are
becoming more aware of the services we offer; with
concern because it is an indication that consumers have
more to complain about.

In fact, we are seeing more complaints relating to fraud
issues. Fraud includes one-shot unauthorised push
payments (APP) complaints from bank customers, who
pressed fraudulent links sent by fraudsters that were
falsely personifying banks and payment institutions, as
well as fraud relating to get-rich-quick schemes created
by fraudsters to trap retail customers into crypto mania.

Lessons Learned:
Leveraging the Arbiter's
decisions from a
consumer perspective....6

Two educational videos
on scams released..........9

Contact & Office
Location.............................9

From 1 January 2025, the Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services (OAFS)
will not charge a registration fee for new complaints. This reform aligns the
OAFS with international best practices, as numerous jurisdictions already
operate financial redress schemes without imposing charges on
complainants. 

This important change demonstrates the OAFS’s commitment to enhancing
access to justice through its redress mechanism by removing potential
barriers for consumers from seeking resolution to their financial disputes.

For complaints registered up to 31 December 2024, the €25 registration
fee will be refunded if the complainant withdraws the complaint or if both
parties reach an agreement before the Arbiter issues a decision.
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The inaugural issue, published in late April 2024, featured 
an in-depth interview with the Arbiter, who reflected 
on his first year in office and outlined key challenges 
and achievements. The April newsletter introduced 
readers to the new framework model for allocating 
responsibility between Payment Service Providers and 
Payment Services Users in cases of payment fraud 
scams. Amendments to the Arbiter for Financial Services 
Act were also explained. The August issue opened with 
an analytical note from the Arbiter that highlighted the 
office’s progress during the first half of 2024. 

The final newsletter of the year, published in December, 
completed the triannual cycle with a comprehensive 
overview of the OAFS’s activities throughout 2024. The 
Arbiter conveyed concern about the rising sophistication 
of financial fraud schemes. This issue also announced 

Educational videos on financial scams

In response to the growing sophistication of financial scams in 
Malta, the OAFS produced two educational videos aimed to inform 
consumers about the nature of financial scams and provide practical 
guidance on protecting themselves from fraudulent activities. The 
videos address a concerning trend emerging not only from the 
number of complaints lodged with the OAFS but also as highlighted 
by European Central Bank and European Banking Authority data, 
which reported €3.76 million worth of payment fraud in Malta in the 
first half of 2023 alone (European Banking Authority & European 
Central Bank, “Report on Payment Fraud 2024”).

The videos feature a character resembling Albert Einstein, who 
was deliberately chosen to convey an important message: even 
the most intelligent individuals can fall victim to sophisticated 
financial scams. Our approach was to destigmatise being scammed 
and acknowledge that modern fraud schemes are increasingly                                         
complex and convincing.

The first video provides key protective measures for consumers, 
emphasising that one should never share personal information 
with unknown parties and avoid responding to unsolicited 
communications about banking details. It stresses the importance 
of being vigilant about suspicious messages claiming to be from 
financial institutions. The content clearly explains that banks will 
never request passwords or PINs via phone calls, nor will legitimate 
banks threaten immediate service suspension through messages.

The second video introduces the Arbiter’s model for allocating 
responsibility between payment service providers and users in 
cases of electronic messaging scams. This model, developed by the 
Arbiter for Financial Services and launched in late 2023, provides a 
balanced framework to evaluate the responsibilities of both banks 
and consumers when fraud occurs.

Both videos are available in Maltese and English on the OAFS 
website and popular social media platforms. The Maltese version of 
the first video was also transmitted on local TV stations at different 
timings during the last two months of the year.Stills from the two video clips 

produced by the OAFS

the upcoming abolition of registration fees for new 
complaints, effective from January 2025. Additionally, 
it highlighted the release of two educational videos 
aimed at raising awareness about financial scams and 
introduced a section reviewing Court of Appeal decisions 
on cases previously decided by the Arbiter. 

The newsletters featured various summaries of 
decisions delivered by the Arbiter. They also included a 
“Lessons Learned” section, which leveraged the Arbiter’s 
decisions to provide practical guidance from a consumer 
perspective. 

All three newsletters were made available through 
multiple channels, including the OAFS website, direct 
email distribution to stakeholders and promotion 
through the Office’s social media platforms. 
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Other public outreach initiatives

In line with our 2024 Strategic Plan, the Office of the 
Arbiter for Financial Services has significantly expanded 
its public outreach efforts to increase awareness of our 
services and share valuable insights from our work.

Our social media presence has been strengthened 
through consistent weekly posts. Every Friday, we 
publish a summary of a decision issued by the Arbiter 
on LinkedIn, providing stakeholders with accessible 
insights into our case resolutions. Complementing 
this, our Facebook page features weekly ‘lessons 
learned’ posts in both English and Maltese, highlighting 
practical takeaways from recent decisions that can help 
consumers make informed financial choices.

Beyond digital platforms, we have maintained a 
strong presence in traditional media through frequent 
appearances on television and radio programmes. These 
opportunities have allowed us to promote our services 
while educating consumers about prevalent financial 
scams and prevention strategies. This multi-channel 
approach has proved effective in reaching diverse 
audiences across Malta and Gozo.

Other actions taken by the OAFS to 
counter financial fraud scams

Following a number of cases filed with the OAFS in 2024 
by consumers who had fallen victim to relationship-
based scams – commonly known as pig-butchering 
scams – involving fake trading in crypto and forex, 
with significant losses reported, the Office initiated 
discussions with relevant stakeholders about measures 
and joint actions to address this worrying trend.

High-level meetings were held with the MFSA and 
the Police during which potential initiatives, tools and 
educational campaigns to counter these scams were 
discussed. The OAFS emphasised the urgent need to 
launch a continuous national educational campaign 
aimed at protecting consumers from increasingly 
sophisticated and creatively persuasive scammers.

Stakeholder engagement

The OAFS functions within a broader network of 
regulatory agencies and stakeholders, contributing to the 
generation and dissemination of valuable information 
and intelligence. By handling consumer complaints, 
the OAFS gains unique insights into the practices and 
conduct of financial services providers while identifying 
emerging trends in consumer issues.

During the year, the OAFS held meetings with 
stakeholders, including the Malta Bankers’ Association 
and the Insurance Association (Malta). 

During the meeting requested by the Insurance 

Association (Malta), representatives from local 
insurance companies discussed a number of issues 
emerging from enquiries and complaints lodged with 
the OAFS. In particular, insurers raised concerns about 
recommendations of ex-gratia payments in Arbiter’s 
decisions; the importance of impartiality in mediation 
processes; challenges insurers face when competing with 
digital platforms, particularly regarding documentation 
requirements; and the need for customers to address 
complaints to service providers first before escalation to 
the OAFS. On the other hand the OAFS emphasised the 
duty for insurers to  create effective internal complaints 
mechanisms and to handle claims fairly, especially when 
vulnerable consumers are involved. In addition, it was 
imperative for firms to better guide customers on the 
need of proper disclosure at the onboarding stage. 

At a meeting with the Malta Bankers’ Association, local 
bank representatives discussed several critical issues 
on fraud prevention. OAFS observed that, from the 
complaints it has received, it appeared evident that the 
payment monitoring systems of some banks needed 
sufficient upgrade to detect fraudulent transactions. 
The discussion also highlighted the need for additional 
actions in banks’ anti-fraud measures, particularly the 
need to issue direct client warnings instead of relying 
on website notifications. The OAFS also suggested 
banks should reassess previously rejected scam 
complaints not reported to OAFS, which aligns with the 
model for allocating responsibility between payment                        
service users and providers.

The OAFS further noted that complaints involving 
more sophisticated types of scams were under review, 
and that the Arbiter intended to issue technical 
notes in early 2025 on which he would base his 
decisions for these cases involving out-of-character 
transactions. The technical notes would outline 
expectations for the processes that banks, payment 
service providers and VFASPs (Virtual Financial Assets 
Service Providers) should adopt to improve their                                                                      
transaction monitoring systems.

International engagement

The OAFS actively engages with two international 
networks composed of out-of-court dispute resolution 
bodies that handle complaints related to financial 
services. 

Since 2017, the Office has been a member of FIN-
NET. This network facilitates the cross-border 
resolution of financial disputes between consumers 
and financial services providers within the EU and 
the EEA. FIN-NET promotes co-operation among 
national consumer redress schemes in the financial 
services sector and ensures that consumers have 
easily accessible avenues for alternative dispute                                                                            
resolution in cross-border disputes.

The OAFS also actively participates in the Steering 
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Group, which is chaired by the European Commission (DG FISMA) and is responsible 
for setting the agenda for FIN-NET’s bi-annual plenary meetings. These meetings allow 
redress mechanisms to exchange insights and experiences on common complaint trends. 
Additionally, participants receive briefings from EU officials on various legislative and non-
legislative financial services developments in the EU.

During the May 2024 session, the Arbiter presented the model for the allocation of 
responsibility between payment service providers (PSPs) and payment service users (PSUs) 
in cases of alleged payment fraud scams. During the Q&A session, the Arbiter explained that 
the model distinguishes between payments authorised by the PSU and those authorised 
by a fraudster using the PSU’s credentials. The model takes into account the level of co-
operation with the fraudster shown by the PSU. Adjudication proceedings, whether physical 
or online, allow technical experts from PSPs to explain system logs. These logs serve as 
evidence that the payment was properly authenticated. The Arbiter observed that banks 
have begun to improve their security systems in response to the cases brought before the 
Office and the recommendations published with the model. 

In addition, the OAFS is a member of the International Network of Financial Services 
Ombudsman Schemes (INFO Network). This network serves as the global association 
for financial services ombudsmen and other out-of-court dispute resolution schemes 
that address consumer complaints and, in some cases, small businesses against 
banks, insurers and other financial services providers. The INFO Network facilitates 
collaboration among its members, fostering the exchange of experiences to enhance                                                                                    
expertise in external dispute resolution.

The Arbiter’s model drew particular interest from international ombudsmen and other 
financial redress mechanisms, so much so that he was asked to deliver a presentation on the 
model during the 2024 annual conference held in October in Toronto, Canada. The Arbiter 
confirmed during his presentation that the Court of Appeal had upheld both the outcome 
of an earlier decision directing the bank to pay full compensation to a complainant and the 
framework model establishing how liability in these scam situations should be apportioned.  
Since the model was adopted, new cases were generally solved without adjudication (at pre-
mediation or mediation stages). The Chairman of the OAFS was also invited to participate 
in a panel discussion on “Independence & interdependence: Ombudsmen and Regulators”. 

The Arbiter and the Board Chairman delivering their 
presentations at the annual INFO Network Conference 
held in October in Toronto.
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Article 27(6) of the Act allows matters to be referred to the competent authorities if, in the Arbiter’s opinion, there 
is substantial evidence of significant misconduct by the provider or any of the parties to the complaint.

The table below outlines the decisions, delivered during 2024, that the OAFS referred to the regulatory authorities, 
as directed by the Arbiter, and for the specified reasons.

Sharing of information with Regulatory Authorities
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CASE 
REFERENCE

ISSUES RAISED BY THE 
COMPLAINANT

ARBITER’S REMEDY REASON FOR
REFERRAL

ASF 050/2024

ASF 128/2024 
and
ASF 129/2024

The complainant alleged 
that the bank refused to 
reimburse €12,345 after an 
unauthorised withdrawal 
from her account. She 
claimed she received 
fraudulent emails purporting 
to be from the bank asking 
her to verify her signature via 
a link. After clicking this link, 
she entered what appeared 
to be the bank’s website 
where the fraudulent 
payment was executed. 
She maintained that the 
bank failed to protect her 
by allowing scammers to 
send links mimicking the 
bank’s website, failed to 
promptly attempt recovery 
of funds and did not send an 
SMS notification about this 
unusual transaction.

The complainants claimed 
that their accounts with the 
payment provider, holding 
around €72,000, were 
effectively blocked after the 
payment provider lost the 
ability to provide wire transfer 
(SEPA) services. They faced 
difficulties even when trying 
to access funds using the 
payment provider’s card. The 
personal complainant suffered 
significant stress, which 
affected his health and forced 
him to borrow from family to 
complete a property purchase. 
The company complainant 
could not settle bills. Both 
complainants requested 
practical access to their 
funds and compensation for 
financial and moral damages.

The Arbiter applied the 
responsibility-sharing 
model and determined that 
the complainant should 
bear 70% of the loss while 
the bank should bear 
30%. This apportionment 
considered several factors: 
the complainant showed 
negligence by clicking a 
suspicious email link and 
completing the payment 
authorisation process, 
but the bank failed 
to send notifications 
for this substantial 
payment, despite doing 
so for smaller amounts. 
The Arbiter ordered 
the bank to pay the 
complainant €3,703.50, 
representing their 30%                               
share of responsibility.

The Arbiter found that 
the payment provider’s 
failure to provide normal 
payment services caused 
the complainants stress 
and inconvenience, 
and did not meet the 
expected standards of a 
licensed payment service 
provider. However, the 
complainants did not 
provide documentary 
evidence for their claimed 
actual expenses. The 
Arbiter awarded €1,000 
for moral damages, to be 
shared according to the 
ratio of funds blocked 
(personal and company 
accounts), and ordered 
the refund of all account 
service fees charged 
from February 2024                                            
to the decision date. 

The Arbiter recommended 
that banks implement 
systems that could 
possibly restrict online 
payment capabilities from 
savings accounts, limiting 
transfers only to the 
client’s current account 
in certain circumstances. 
This recommendation, 
already adopted by some 
international institutions, 
would better protect 
customers’ savings from 
fraud. To this end, the 
Arbiter specifically ordered 
that a copy of the decision 
be sent to both the Central 
Bank of Malta and the 
Malta Financial Services 
Authority (MFSA), as the 
respective regulators of          
payments and banks.

The Arbiter determined 
that the payment provider’s 
failure to provide adequate 
payment services not only 
affected the complainants 
but also appeared to 
impact all customers. The 
alternatives the payment 
provider offered were 
considered inadequate 
and inconsistent with the 
level of service required by 
law. Since this constituted 
a systemic issue rather 
than an isolated incident, 
the Arbiter invoked article 
26(3)(c)(i)-(iii) of the Act 
and ordered the payment 
provider to report these 
operational failings to the 
MFSA. The decision was 
sent to the MFSA for further 
guidance and direction, as 
provided for under article                               
27A.(1) of the Act.



Reporting of a systemic case to MFSA

During the first semester of 2024, the OAFS received 
multiple complaints on a licensed payment provider. 
These complaints shared a common pattern: retail 
clients alleged that they had fallen victim to scams after 
transferring money to corporate clients of the payment 
provider. The complainants alleged that these corporate 
clients were engaging in fraudulent schemes.

The disputes primarily concerned alleged deficiencies in 
the payment provider’s due diligence processes for its 
corporate customers during onboarding and monitoring. 
The complainants contended that the payment 
provider’s systems for vetting and monitoring corporate 
clients lacked sufficient robustness. This reportedly 
permitted entities with links to fraudulent activities to 
use the provider’s services.

Given the nature and complexity of the issues raised, 
the OAFS informed the regulator about these matters 
and the potential challenges it might encounter when 
determining the cases.

With respect to jurisdiction, the payment provider raised 
a preliminary objection, noting that the complainants 
did not qualify as “eligible customers” under the Act. The 
upholding of this objection leaves the Arbiter unable to 
review these complaints for lack of competence.

While these legal barriers exist, the pattern of complaints 
raised questions about the adequacy of the provider’s 
client vetting processes and transaction monitoring 
systems. There was no suggestion that the payment 
provider itself participated in fraudulent activity; the 
concern was whether its onboarding and KYC processes 
were sufficiently robust.

In response to this pattern, similar to that identified 
in previous decisions involving other providers, MFSA 
were informed that OAFS was considering amendments 
to the Act that would expand the definition of 
“eligible customers” to include individuals in similar 
circumstances, thereby providing them access to the 
OAFS alternative dispute resolution mechanism.
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Role of Customer Relations Officers

Our CROs handle matters about banking, investments, 
private pensions and insurance, and guide customers 
through our complaints procedures.

Based on each situation, CROs suggest possible 
solutions, often informed by similar cases previously 
brought to our attention.

CROs share essential details with customers about 
engaging with service providers. They maintain 
regular contact with complaints officers at financial 
institutions, who serve as primary points of contact                                      
when customers need help.

When cases present unique challenges, CROs review 
each query to determine viable solutions and may 
facilitate communication between parties. They then 
contact service providers to assess initial responses. 
Most providers welcome this approach, particularly 
when it leads to successful outcomes.

In 2024, our CROs managed numerous disputes between 
local consumers and EU-licensed financial firms offering 
online services in Malta. This occurs because EU-licensed 
financial services providers can operate across member 
states without additional authorisation in the country 
where they offer their services. While the OAFS cannot 
directly address complaints about these firms, our CROs 
inform consumers about their rights and direct them to 
the appropriate entities that can help them. We provide 
contact information for relevant redress bodies and 
explain the terms of available resolution mechanisms.

Malta-licensed firms also expand their services across 
EU countries through passporting rights. We received 
cases from counterparts in these nations, mainly 
about insurance matters. They included health issues, 
property damage and disputes about premium refunds 

for cancelled policies. Our CROs worked with insurers 
to achieve satisfactory results for consumers.

Some matters prove too complex for informal resolution, 
or providers might not agree to this approach. In 
these instances, CROs discuss other options with 
customers, including formal complaints. While 
some customers seek outside help for this process,                                                                
others manage it independently.

We strongly encourage customers and their 
representatives to submit complaints through 
the OAFS portal, which enables efficient                                                                  
processing and automates communications.

Eligible customers may contact the OAFS by phone, 
WhatsApp or email. Office visits might be necessary 
for customers who need help with technology 
or cannot provide scanned documents for their                                           
enquiries or formal complaints.

Enquiries and Minor Cases

The Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services (OAFS) offers two distinct channels for customers to submit 
complaints about financial services providers: an informal route and a formal procedure.

The informal channel addresses minor matters through information sharing and mediation. This approach 
aims to reach amicable solutions while ensuring customers understand the steps involved in the formal 
complaints process, which we detail in subsequent sections of this report.

Throughout the year, our Customer Relations Officers (CROs) worked alongside financial services providers 
to resolve minor matters efficiently. This report presents several cases that showcase our intervention efforts.

An examination of enquiries and minor cases from 2024 appears in Annex 2.

Delayed settlement resolved after payment 
system issue

The complainant contacted the OAFS after 
waiting several weeks for a compensation 
payment of over €2,800, despite repeated 
follow-ups that failed to explain the delay. OAFS 
investigated and found that, although the insurer 
had authorised the payment, it had become stuck 
within the SEPA payment system and was never 
delivered. OAFS argued that technical problems 
should not prevent the claimant from receiving 
the agreed settlement promptly, nor should the 
claimant have to wait while the insurer resolved 
its internal issues. Following OAFS’s involvement, 
the insurer settled the matter by issuing a cheque 
to the complainant.
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A total of 791 enquiries were received in 2024, which is consistent with the previous year’s figure of 795. 
This represents a stable enquiry volume year-on-year, following the pattern established since 2021.

Digital channels dominated the methods through which enquiries were received in 2024. Web-based 
submissions accounted for 425 enquiries (53.7%) and 272 enquiries (34.4%) were received by email. 
Traditional communication methods were less prevalent, with telephone enquiries numbering 83 (10.5%) 
and walk-in enquiries just 11 (1.4%). This distribution shows a clear preference for digital channels, with 
web-based enquiries accounting for more than half of all communications. 

Banking/Payment Services continued to account for more than half of all enquiries received in 2024, 
with 416 enquiries representing 52.6% of the total. Insurance-related enquiries formed the second largest 
category with 151 enquiries (19.1%), followed by Investments with 125 enquiries (15.8%). The Other 
category accounted for 90 enquiries (11.4%) and Corporate Services, a new category introduced in 2024, 
represented 9 enquiries (1.1%).

Maltese residents formed the majority of enquiries, with 471 cases (59.5%). That said, the international 
reach of our services remains significant. The substantial number of enquiries from EU countries, particularly 
France, Italy and Germany, reflects the extent to which Maltese-authorised firms are passporting their 
services into these countries. 

The vast majority of enquiries in 2024 were resolved by providing general information, with 726 enquiries 
(92.9%) falling in this category. 

The time taken to resolve enquiries in 2024 showed notable improvement from previous years. The average 
time to resolution was 15.6 days, while the median was just one day. The average time represents the sum 
of all resolution times divided by the number of enquiries, while the median shows the middle value when all 
times are arranged in order. The median of one day versus an average of 15.6 days indicates most enquiries 
were resolved quickly, with a few complex cases requiring much longer periods.

Resolution times varied considerably across different sectors. Banking and Payment Services enquiries were 
processed most efficiently, with an average of 6.5 days and a median of 0 days. This indicates that most 
banking enquiries were resolved on the day of receipt. Investment-related enquiries were also handled 
promptly, with an average of 13 days and a median of one day.

Insurance enquiries required significantly more time, with an average of 27.1 days and a median of 15 
days, reflecting the often more complex nature of insurance claims and disputes. The Other category 
showed an average of 32.5 days with a median of six days. Corporate Services, as a new category, showed 
the longest resolution times with an average of 111.3 days and a median of 14 days. However, this 
represents a small sample of only nine cases, which may have needed specialist attention, given that this                                        
is a new area of responsibility.

Analysis of Enquiries for 2024 

Medical claim dispute resolved with new 
evidence

The complainant approached the OAFS after his 
insurer refused to pay for medical investigation 
expenses of €860, which had been recommended 
by his doctor. The insurer argued that the medical 
condition was caused by hypertension, a condition 
excluded by the policy. When the OAFS became 
involved, new medical documents were provided, 
showing that the complainant’s illness was not 
related to hypertension. With this new expert 
evidence, the insurer agreed to settle the claim in 
full as requested by the OAFS.
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Analysing the enquiries received between 
2021 and 2024
This section examines the content of enquiries received 
during 2024, organised by sector, and compares it 
with trends observed in previous years (2021-2023). 
Understanding the nature of these enquiries offers 
insights into the concerns and issues faced by consumers 
in the financial services industry over the four years.

Banking and Payment Services sector

The Banking and Payment Services sector continued to 
generate the highest volume of enquiries in 2024, with 
416 submissions, accounting for 52.6% of all enquiries 
received. A qualitative analysis of these enquiries reveals 
several dominant themes.

Service quality concerns represented the most common 
issue (47.1% of enquiries), followed closely by payment-
related problems (43%). Account issues, such as access 
difficulties, closures and restrictions, formed the third 
most significant category (37.3%). Technical issues with 
digital banking services appeared in nearly a third of all 
banking enquiries (30.3%).

Common topics included account access problems, 
disputed transactions, unexplained fees and difficulties 
with online banking platforms. 

Notable changes from previous years include a shift in the 
primary concerns of banking customers. While account 
issues and payment problems have consistently been 
prominent since 2021, service quality has emerged as 
the dominant theme in 2024, replacing fees and charges 
more prominent in 2021. This may indicate that banking 
institutions may have addressed fee transparency issues 
but now face challenges in maintaining service standards.

Insurance sector

Insurance-related enquiries accounted for 151 
submissions (19.1% of total enquiries) in 2024. 
The content analysis revealed a strong focus                                                                                                
on claims handling.

Claims-related issues constituted the majority of insurance 
sector enquiries, appearing in 61.6% of all submissions. 
Fee and charge disputes represented the second most 
common theme (27.8%), followed by service quality 
concerns (26.5%).

Key terminology in insurance enquiries centred around 
policy terms, claim denials and coverage disputes. Water 
damage claims, travel insurance matters and life insurance 
maturity values also featured prominently. 

Compared to previous years, insurance enquiries have 
shown a gradual reduction in the dominance of claims-
related issues (down from 80.6% in 2021 to 61.6% in 
2024). Concerns about the quality of service have 
gained greater visibility. While the handling of claims 

remains the main issue for customers, standards of overall 
service are now drawing more attention from those                                                               
having insurance cover.

Sample enquiries highlight cases, such as travel insurance 
claim rejections, delayed settlements for third-party 
claims and disputes on claim denial due to policy non-
renewal. Several cases involved consumers challenging 
insurers’ interpretations of policy terms, particularly on 
notification periods and coverage exclusions.

Investment sector

The Investment sector generated 125 enquiries 
in 2024 (15.8% of the total). These enquiries                                                        
revealed distinct patterns.

Service quality formed the primary concern (52.8%), 
followed by payment problems (45.6%) and investment-
specific issues, such as returns and portfolio management 
(44.8%). Technical issues with investment platforms 
appeared in 37.6% of enquiries.

Crypto-related investments featured prominently. 
Other common issues included fund access 
problems, concerns about potential investment fraud 
and disputes about transaction fees, particularly                                                                                        
for cryptocurrency withdrawals.

The year-over-year comparison reveals an interesting 
trend: while investment-specific issues and payment 
problems have remained consistently important since 
2021, service quality concerns have grown steadily in 
prominence (from 44.2% in 2021 to 52.8% in 2024), 
becoming the top issue in recent years. 

Representative enquiries included cases of funds being 
withheld from cryptocurrency platforms, account access 
issues and suspected investment scams. A number of 
queries referenced particular organisations based in 
Malta, raising concerns about their business conduct.    This 
highlights the cross-border nature of several investment-
related concerns.

Corporate Services sector

Corporate Services emerged as a new category in 2024, 
accounting for 9 enquiries (1.1% of total). Despite the 
small sample size, distinct patterns were observable.

Legal and compliance matters were the most common 
issues (44.4%), followed by account-related problems, 
service quality concerns, technical issues and 
information requests (each at 33.3%). This distribution 
reflects the more complex and formalised nature of                                        
corporate service relationships.

As this is a new category for 2024, there is no historical 
comparison available. However, the emergence of this 
category itself represents an evolution in the types 
of financial services being queried and suggests an 
expanding remit for the organisation.
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Co-operation with EU financial redress 
mechanisms

The OAFS is an active member of FIN-NET, the Europe-
wide network of national organisations responsible for 
settling consumers’ financial services complaints out of 
court.  This network is made up of over 60 entities in 30 
countries within the European Economic Area (EEA). It 
is essentially an EEA-wide network promoting national 
financial redress mechanisms for cross-border cases 
between consumers and financial services providers. 

During the year under review, the OAFS assisted 
several consumers located in other EU jurisdictions 
who had purchased insurance policies issued by firms 
which were authorised by the MFSA and domiciled 
in Malta.   The host redress mechanism was unable 
to handle these complaints since its competence 
did not extend to firms that were passporting their                                                              
services from other jurisdictions. 

The main hurdle faced by the OAFS in these cases was 
provided by the fact that the supporting documentation 
was entirely in the language of the host country.  In 
most cases, an English version of the documentation 
or a translation for the various exchanges between the 

complainant and the provider was not available. This 
significantly limited our understanding of the case and 
considerably restricted our ability to identify a practical 
solution to the claimant’s predicament. Machine 
translation of the documentation, redacting relevant 
personal consumer information, was used to determine 
the issues that the claimant was raising.  

In this regard, the OAFS is pleased to report that 
it successfully managed to resolve the greater part 
of these cross-border cases with the insurer(s) 
concerned, and this after protracted discussion and 
negotiation. The several positive and co-operative 
relationships developed with the insurers concerned 
over time turned out to be an essential and vital aspect                                                                            
in the overall procedure. 

These positive outcomes included cases where the 
OAFS equally secured the insurer(s) agreement to settle 
the disputed matter, purely as a goodwill gesture, and  
this in instances where the policy cover was not as clear-
cut as one would prefer. 

The several cases handled by the OAFS during the year 
under review spanned various types and aspects relating 
to general and life insurance policies.

Account opening for a non-speaker with cerebral palsy

In October, a parent contacted our office for urgent help regarding her 16-year-old daughter, who has cerebral 
palsy, is non-verbal and uses a wheelchair. The daughter’s government-issued ID card states she is “unable 
to sign”, providing a legal basis for alternative identification. The parent needed to open a bank account 
in her daughter’s name to receive a school grant, as required by the Education Department. However, two 
Maltese banks refused to open the account without formal guardianship, which under Maltese law is only 
available once the individual turns 18. This left the parent unable to meet the deadline, despite her legal 
authority as a parent. The bank staff’s rigid approach and lack of flexibility caused significant frustration. 
Our office intervened, recognising that the banks’ advice was incorrect and that reasonable adjustments 
could have been made. We co-ordinated with the parent and the bank to arrange a suitable appointment, 
and the account was opened without further issue. The parent expressed great relief, and the school                               
grant was successfully deposited.

Travel insurance claim after cruise cancellation

Two senior citizens cancelled a planned cruise due to a sudden serious illness, losing over €4,000. They 
sought compensation from their insurer, who offered €2,400, citing policy terms. The OAFS reviewed the 
case and confirmed that the insurer’s offer matched the policy’s conditions. The couple had wanted a more 
comprehensive policy but, because of their age, could only buy a plan with limited benefits, as explained 
by the insurer’s representative. They provided medical certificates and accepted the restricted policy and 
its lower premium. The OAFS found that the couple should have understood the policy’s limitations when 
they agreed to it. After reviewing the situation, the OAFS urged the insurer to pay the claim promptly and 
convinced the insurer to waive the €100 policy excess as a goodwill gesture, acknowledging the couple’s 
significant financial loss.
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Delay in receipt of transferred funds following 
account closure

A Maltese-Australian expatriate reported a delay 
in receiving funds after closing her account with 
a Maltese bank. She had provided all required 
documents, verified by the Maltese Consulate 
in Sydney, and sent them by registered mail. 
Despite meeting all requirements, her account 
closure was not completed and the funds did not 
reach her Australian bank. After she contacted 
us, we reached out to the remitting bank, and 
she confirmed her Australian bank details were 
correct. The remitting bank discovered the transfer 
failed because her Australian bank, being a smaller 
institution, could not accept payments in euros. 
The bank then sent the funds in Australian dollars 
instead and, to help resolve the matter, waived all                                 
related fees and charges.

OAFS helps resolve delayed policy payment

A complainant contacted OAFS for help after 
payment of over €70,000 from a joint life policy had 
been delayed for several weeks. OAFS responded 
quickly and presented the case to the insurer, aiming 
to find a practical solution. The delay was due 
to missing procedural documents, specifically an 
updated power of attorney and a joint bank account, 
which the complainant could not provide. OAFS 
listened to the complainant’s reasons for this and 
recognised the case as genuine. OAFS then discussed 
the situation further with the insurer, acknowledging 
that the insurer’s requirements were meant to prevent 
abuse and clarifying that OAFS did not question their 
legitimacy. After extended discussions, the insurer 
agreed with OAFS’s view and released the payment. 

Resolution of delayed property insurance 
claims

The complainant, who rented out two insured 
apartments, sought help from OAFS regarding 
two claims that had remained unsettled for 
several months. He argued that he had already 
supplied all the necessary documents. OAFS 
found that the delay resulted from the insurer’s 
mistaken belief that the repairs being claimed 
would improve the properties rather than simply 
restore them. After reviewing the documents, 
OAFS clarified this point, allowing the claims 
process to move forward. OAFS also ensured 
that the settlement included the cost of an 
unpaid water and electricity bill left by the 
tenants. The final settlement amounted to 
€1,200, which the complainant accepted.

Settlement after parked car accident

A parked car was damaged by a driver who was 
over the legal alcohol limit. The complainant 
tried to claim compensation from the other 
driver’s insurer, but the insurer refused, 
arguing that the policy did not cover accidents 
caused by drunk driving. With the situation 
at a standstill, the complainant approached 
OAFS for help. Although the case did not 
strictly fall within OAFS’s legal remit – since 
the claim was not under the complainant’s 
own policy – OAFS decided to assist due to 
the clear circumstances. OAFS engaged in 
discussions with the insurer, pointing out the 
relevant legal provisions and arguing that 
the insurer should not simply reject the claim 
for liability towards an innocent third party 
without a court decision. OAFS also explained 
that, if the insurer paid out, it could then seek 
repayment from its policyholder. Following 
these discussions, the insurer agreed to settle 
the matter by paying the complainant €2,500, 
which the complainant accepted.
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Domestic transfer disruption and resolution

A customer contacted our office after a domestic transfer of 
€85,000 between two local banks went missing. Despite her 
repeated requests, neither the sending nor the receiving bank 
could locate the funds, with each insisting they had done 
their part correctly. Our office investigated and found that 
an intermediary bank had returned the funds without giving 
a clear reason, and no compliance issues were reported. The 
intermediary did not explain why the money was sent back, 
leaving both local banks unable to resolve the issue on their 
own. After several follow-ups, the remitting bank credited the 
funds back to the customer, and the receiving bank then re-
sent the transfer, ensuring all details were checked. This time, 
the funds arrived safely. Throughout the process, we kept the 
customer informed. To make up for the delay, the beneficiary 
bank backdated the customer’s term deposit, so she did not lose 
any interest. The customer was pleased with the outcome.

Card deactivation and denial of funds access

A customer filed a complaint after their bank abruptly deactivated both debit and credit cards without 
warning. On inquiry, they learned the suspension was due to a mandatory customer profile update required 
by law. The customer had not been informed that failure to update would result in frozen access to their 
finances. Despite promptly submitting all required documentation once aware of the issue, they were told card 
reactivation would take two to three working days – a delay they found unreasonable given the lack of prior 
notice. Facing inability to access funds for basic expenses, the customer sought assistance before the standard 
15-day period for banking complaints had elapsed. Following intervention, the bank acknowledged the issue 
and restored the customer’s access to their accounts, allowing them to resume normal banking activities.
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Initial review of newly submitted 
complaints

The Act does not specify a mandatory format for 
submitting a complaint. However, we offer a structured 
complaint form to assist customers in presenting their 
case and arguments effectively, and assist in providing 
the necessary information. Customers may lodge a 
complaint through our online portal or by post using 
our downloadable complaint form. Our online platform 
allows customers to conveniently edit and save their 
complaint and upload supporting documents in popular 
formats, such as PDFs. Joint complaints require paper-
based submissions rather than electronic ones. This 
ensures all parties can provide necessary signatures and 
documentation in a format that maintains the integrity 
of the shared complaint process.

All newly received complaints undergo an initial review 
assessment before they are officially registered. The 
administrative staff and the CROs promptly evaluate 
these submissions and interact with the complainant 
to ensure that the complaint is comprehensive and 
meets the minimum prerequisites. This requires that the 
complaint description and the remedy requested by the 
complainant are clearly outlined, along with the correct 
name of the financial services provider(s) against which 
the complaint is being lodged.

If a complainant has not initially raised an issue directly 
with the financial services provider before submitting 
a complaint to the OAFS, there may be a temporary 
delay in the review process. The law requires that the 
substance of the complaint is communicated by the 
customer to the provider and that the provider be given 
a reasonable opportunity to address the complaint 
before it is escalated to the OAFS. In these situations, 
our staff will ask the complainant to first utilise the 
internal dispute resolution (IDR) mechanism offered 
by the provider before proceeding further with the 

The Formal Complaints Process

Consumers who encounter disagreements, have unresolved issues with their provider or whose complaint is 
complex and requires investigation can formally complain to the Office. In contrast with the enquiry/minor 
case complaint process discussed earlier, this complaint procedure consists of four phases: registration, 
mediation, investigation and adjudication. 

While we refer to these complaints as ‘formal’ in this report, the procedure is designed to be straightforward 
and as informal as possible, aligning with the Act’s requirement for informality and the consumer-oriented 
nature of our redress mechanism.

For a more in-depth analysis of the formal complaints received and the decisions made by the Arbiter in 
2024, please refer to Annex 3.

complaint. If the IDR process has been followed, we 
will request a copy of the complaint letter sent to the 
provider and any response received (if available) as part 
of the supporting documentation.

Key documentation supporting the complaint, such 
as complaint letters, provider responses, product 
wordings, schedules, application forms, contract notes, 
statements and other relevant legal documents, will be 
requested during the complaint review process. During 
the reporting year, we introduced a comprehensive list 
of documents to guide consumers on which materials 
may be relevant to their case, tailored to the specific 
type of financial service involved (e.g., investments, 
pensions, insurance or banking). This list is available on 
our website to help consumers prepare and submit the 
necessary information for their complaint.

In 2024, the number of accepted 
complaints reached 251, the highest figure 
recorded over the past four years. This 
represents a continuation of the upward 
trend observed since 2022, when accepted 
cases numbered 151, following a slight 
decrease from 167 in 2021. The marked 
increase to 224 cases in 2023 was further 
exceeded in the reporting year. 

Almost 88% of submissions (220) arrived 
via the online complaint platform. This 
continues a pattern seen across the 
four-year period, where the online portal 
consistently served as the main point of 
contact. Conversely, complaints originating 
from walk-in/postal interactions have 
steadily decreased, from 32 in 2021              
to just 11 in 2024. 
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After the required documentation is gathered and 
procedural conditions are met, the complaint proceeds 
to an early assessment phase. This step helps clarify 
the Office’s investigative scope and guides complainant 
expectations from the outset. Conducting an early 
assessment of complaints has enabled the OAFS to 
enhance its consumer service by ensuring complainants 
are fully informed about the investigative powers granted 
by legislation. If complainants raise concerns that have 
already been addressed in decisions made by the Arbiter, 
they are advised to review those decisions. This allows 
complainants to decide whether to proceed or withdraw 
their complaint, depending on their particular case. By 
drawing attention to previous Arbiter decisions during 
the initial review stages of the complaint process, cases 
with similar issues are handled promptly and customer 
expectations managed accordingly.

Eligibility to lodge a complaint

A customer must have a relationship with a financial 
services provider to be eligible to file a complaint with 
the OAFS. This includes being a consumer of a financial 
service, being offered a service by a provider, or 
seeking a financial service from a provider. The Arbiter 

As to the sectoral distribution of complaints 
in 2024, the banking and payment services 
sector accounted for the largest number of 
cases, totalling 103. The insurance sector 
followed with 81 cases and the investments 
sector with 65. Corporate Services 
represented a minimal fraction, with only 
two complaints registered.

Comparing these 2024 figures with 
previous years reveals interesting shifts. 
The banking and payment services sector, 
while dominant in 2024, saw a slight 
decrease from its peak of 122 complaints 
in 2023. That 2023 figure represented a 
substantial rise from the 38 and 39 cases 
recorded in 2021 and 2022, respectively. 
Insurance complaints returned in 2024 to 
the exact level seen in 2021 (81 cases). 
The investments sector also saw a rise 
in 2024 compared to the previous year 
(65 cases, up from 36 in 2023), though 
this remained below its 2022 high of 71 
cases. These sectoral movements indicate 
that while the overall complaint volume 
grew in 2024, the dynamics within 
specific sectors varied, with insurance 
and investments contributing more to the 
year-on-year increase than the banking 
and payment services sector, which had 
driven much of the complaint increase                            
between 2022 and 2023.

The Banking and Payments sector recorded 
a significant number of complaints, 
with “Suspected irregular activity” (34 
cases) and “Unauthorised use” (27 
cases) being the most frequently cited 
issues. These predominantly related to 
“Savings/Current/Term Accounts”, which                          
accounted for 66 complaints.

In the Insurance sector, the primary concern 
for consumers was “Value at maturity”, 
leading to 56 complaints, followed by 
“Rejection of claim” with 21 instances. “Life-
related” products were the main subject of 
these insurance complaints, totalling 60.

As to Investments “General admin/customer 
service” was the most common issue, 
with 28 complaints, closely followed by 
“Administration/Management/Custody” 
issues at 20. Notably, “Crypto/Virtual 

Financial Assets” were the product category 
attracting the highest number of complaints 
in this sector, with 31 complaints lodged.

Refer to Annex 3 for further details 
about the type and nature of                      
complaints accepted in 2024.

In 2024, 37 submissions did not advance 
to registration for various reasons. The 
majority of cases involved customers who 
claimed they were victims of scams. In these 
instances, the CROs advised customers 
to discuss their cases with their banks 
and referred them to the model published 
by the Arbiter regarding the sharing of 
responsibility between users and providers 
in scam cases. Other submissions were 
dropped because the complainants did 
not follow up after receiving preliminary 
feedback from the OAFS. 

The average time taken for the Office to 
process a formal complaint from the date of 
submission to the date of registration was 
approximately 19 days. 
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issued several decisions during the year under review 
specifically addressing the eligibility of complainants to 
file a complaint in terms of the Act. 

The term “financial services provider” refers to an entity 
granted a licence or being authorised by the Malta 
Financial Services Authority, the financial regulator in 
Malta, as per the Malta Financial Services Authority 
Act or any other relevant financial services legislation.  
Competence of the Arbiter extends also to providers 
whose licence or authorisation may have been revoked 
by the MFSA or surrendered voluntarily. 

This definition includes providers offering a wide 
range of investment, payment, banking, pensions and 
insurance services. However, the Act allows the Arbiter 
to determine other types of services that may also fall 
under the broad definition of “financial service”.

The Office’s competence includes complaints lodged by 
eligible customers against banks, providers of payment 
services, investment services providers, insurance 
companies and intermediaries, virtual asset providers 
and corporate service providers.

The Office is unable to accept complaints against 
providers authorised in EU member states other than 
Malta, even if the service has been provided in Malta on 
a cross-border basis. In these cases, we recommend the 
financial redress mechanism in the jurisdiction where 
the respective provider is licensed or based.

Eligible customers, which include natural persons, 
micro-enterprises and consumer associations, have the 
right to file a complaint with the Office. The Act defines 
a micro-enterprise as a business that employs less than 
ten individuals and has an annual turnover and balance 
sheet total that does not exceed €2,000,000. The 
Consumer Affairs Act defines a consumer association as 
“voluntary bodies of persons whose principal objective 
is the promotion of consumer protection or education”.  

The OAFS accepts complaints in both Maltese and English, 
which are the official languages used throughout the 
dispute resolution process. Complainants are requested 
to provide translations of key supporting documents if 
these are not available in English. During the mediation 
and hearings processes, all communications and 
supplementary documentation, the operative languages 
are strictly limited to English and Maltese.

Conditions for eligibility

In terms of the Act, the Arbiter cannot investigate 
disputes unless the financial services provider has 
been given a fair opportunity to review the customer’s 
issues before the customer complains to the Office. 
To comply with this requirement, customers must first 
communicate their complaints in writing to the financial 
services provider and allow 15 working days for a 
written response. A provider is justified in delaying a final 

response beyond 15 working days only in exceptional 
circumstances beyond their control. In such cases, 
the provider should promptly inform the customer of 
the delay and its reasons, and indicate when a final         
response can be expected.

Nonetheless, the final response must still be provided 
within not more than 35 working days of receiving 
the complaint. Both the customer’s letter or email and 
the provider’s written response are to be integrated 
with the supporting documentation of the complaint          
submitted to the OAFS.

The Arbiter cannot consider a complaint if the conduct 
complained of has already been the subject of a lawsuit 
in any court, tribunal or alternative dispute resolution 
mechanism in any other jurisdiction initiated by the 
same complainant. If such a situation is observed 
during the initial assessment, this matter is brought                                 
to the complainant’s attention.

To file a complaint with the Office, a fee of €25 is applied, 
which will be reimbursed completely if the complainant 
withdraws the complaint or if the parties agree to a 
dispute settlement before the Arbiter issues a decision. 
The complaint fee will be waived for new complaints 
registered in 2025 onwards.

Once the Office registers a complaint, it is transmitted 
to the provider by registered mail for its reply. The 
provider has 20 days from the delivery date to submit 
its reasoned response to the Office.

Once the OAFS receives the provider’s response, it 
is copied to the complainant. At the same time, both 
the complainant and the provider are encouraged to 
consider mediation as a means to resolve the case. 
The law emphasises the importance of resolving cases 
through mediation whenever feasible.

In 2024, individual complainants 
constituted 79% of cases, joint 
complainants 15%, and company 
complainants 6%.  The proportion of 
individual complainants in 2024 was lower 
than the peak observed in 2023 (87%) and 
slightly below the levels of 2021 (81%) 
and 2022 (82%). Conversely, company 
complainants represented their highest 
share in 2024 compared to the approximate 
3% seen in the previous years. The 
percentage of joint complainants increased 
from 2023 but remained comparable to 
2021 and 2022 figures.

In 2024, Malta-based complainants 
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represented 62% (155 cases) of the total 
accepted cases. The top three other countries 
of origin for complainants in 2024 were 
the United Kingdom (29 cases), France 
(nine cases), and Italy (nine cases). The 
percentage of Malta-based complainants 
saw a substantial increase in 2024, rising 
well above the consistent range observed 
in 2021 (46%), 2022 (46%), and 2023 
(44%).  The composition of the top non-
Maltese complainant countries fluctuates 
annually; while the UK has been a frequent 
source, 2022 featured Spain prominently, 
and 2023 showed significant numbers                          
from Romania and Ukraine. 

Slightly less than 39% of cases (97) chose 
to be assisted by their own appointed 
professional or trusted person during the 
complaint process. The remaining 61% (154 
cases) were not assisted. The proportion 
of complainants who chose to be assisted 
in 2024 was the highest of the past four 
years. It surpassed the figures for 2021 
(36%), 2022 (38%), and notably 2023 
(31%). Consequently, 2024 saw the lowest 
percentage of unassisted complainants, 
although they still form the majority.

Mediation

Mediation is offered to all complainants as an alternative 
method of resolving their disputes. This approach allows 
parties involved in a complaint to work together to find 
a mutually satisfactory compromise solution with the 
help of a mediator.

Our Office actively promotes mediation due to the 
benefits of early dispute resolution. We assign a 
dedicated staff member to manage and facilitate 
the process. This confidential and informal process 
takes place privately, which ensures that the 
parties’ legal positions remain unaffected if they                                                                                    
cannot reach a resolution.

Participation in mediation is entirely voluntary; either 
party may opt out at any time, and in such case or where 
agreement is not reached, the complainant decides 
whether the complaint progresses to the Arbiter. 
The mediator and the Arbiter are separate individuals 
with completely distinct and different roles in the                  
dispute resolution process.

The success of mediation depends on the participants’ 
mindset. It requires parties to assess their situation 
realistically rather than hold firm to their initial 
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Focusing on cases concluded primarily 
through settlement or withdrawal at 
mediation stage (115 cases), a notable shift 
occurred in how these cases were resolved in 
2024 compared to 2023. Some of the cases 
resolved in this manner were brought forward 
from the previous year. 

Agreement reached during mediation 
was the most common outcome in 2024, 
accounting for over half (59 cases) of the 

expectations. This openness can sometimes be 
difficult to achieve, as people tend to maintain                                                  
their original positions.

Many cases come to us after extensive and unsuccessful 
discussions between the parties. A history of strained 
relations can reduce faith in mediation’s effectiveness. 
The approach parties take to mediation sessions greatly 
affects outcomes. Some parties enter the process with 
fixed expectations based on published decisions, while 
others attend without any intention to compromise.

Most disputes centre on complex issues that need 
thorough understanding by all parties. For example, 
financial disputes often involve disagreements about 
expected versus actual rates of return. Investors 
must balance their rights with their obligations. Many 
problems stem from parties signing documents without 
fully comprehending them.

Mediation provides more than just compensation 
claims resolution. It offers a space for information 
exchange, particularly from the provider’s side. Poor 
communication or inadequate initial engagement 
often leads to complaints. Throughout the year, several 
successful mediations enabled informal discussions that 
helped identify common ground and enabled a mutually 
agreeable solution to be reached.

Mediation sessions can be conducted online via video 
conferencing or in person at our Msida offices. In-person 
sessions are often arranged when parties have difficulty 
with technology or when discussing sensitive matters.

The terms are documented and submitted to the Arbiter 
if a mutually agreeable settlement is reached. Once 
approved and signed by both parties, the agreement 
becomes legally binding and concludes the complaint 
process. For complaints registered during 2024, the 
complainant will receive a refund of the €25 complaint 
fee in the case of settlement during mediation.

To better assist complainants and providers in 
understanding mediation, we prepared an FAQ available 
on our website that addresses the main questions about 
mediation and the mediation process.

relevant closed cases. This represents a 
substantial increase from 2023, where such 
agreements represented only about a third                        
(22) of similar cases. 

Providing further detail for 2024, the 
next most frequent outcomes were 
withdrawals following mediation 
(24 cases) and withdrawals before                                 
mediation began (15 cases). 

For the 115 relevant cases closed in 2024, 
the average time from acceptance to closure 
was 88.7 days, approximately 27 days faster 
on average than in the previous year. In 
2023, an average of 115.5 days for the 67 
relevant cases closed were taken.

Information on the outcomes of resolved 
complaints at mediation stage can be found 
in Table 3 of Annex 3. 

Investigation and adjudication

If mediation is declined or proves unsuccessful, and 
the case is escalated for the Arbiter’s consideration, 
the Arbiter will initiate the procedure for reviewing 
the complaint. The Arbiter firstly has to consider and 
confirm his competence to hear the complaint in terms 
of the enabling legislation,

As stipulated by law, at least one oral hearing is 
conducted for each case referred to the Arbiter. Nearly 
all hearings were conducted remotely during the 
reporting period using web-conferencing software. 
This approach ensures efficient use of time and 
resources without compromising the fairness of the 
process. The hearings are recorded, resulting in more 
detailed summaries, which prove beneficial during the 
subsequent investigation stage.

A few cases were heard in person to accommodate 
requests made by consumers who did not have online 
access or who preferred to cross-examine the provider 
or its agents face to face.

The parties present their cases, supported by oral and 
written evidence. They also have the option to present 
witnesses and submit final written submissions. All 
documents are exchanged and submitted electronically. 
Hearings can only be conducted in English or Maltese.

During the first hearing, the Arbiter listens to the 
complainant’s perspective, including their oral and 
written evidence, and a cross-examination may be 
conducted. In the second hearing, the provider presents 
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In 2024, the Arbiter issued 94 final decisions. 
An analysis of outcomes shows that 51 cases 
(54%) were not upheld. A further 36 cases 
(38%) were partially upheld, and 7 cases 
(7%) were fully upheld by the Arbiter.

Of the 51 decisions not upheld, the most 
frequent reason, accounting for 28 cases, 
was related to merit, where the case 
presented was not sufficiently proven. 
Another 12 cases were determined to fall 
outside the Arbiter’s competence. Legal 
points were also a factor, with six cases being 
time-barred and four for other legal reasons. 
One further case was not upheld for other 
merit-related reasons.

Cases related to banking and payment 
services (31 decisions) and insurance 
(31 decisions) were equally represented. 
Investments followed closely with 29 
decisions. A small number of cases, 
three decisions, originated from the              
Corporate Services sector. 

In insurance, disputes concerning the value 
at maturity of life-related policies were most 
common (16 cases). Issues surrounding 
suspected irregular activity affecting savings/
current/term accounts (11 cases) and 
transfers (6 cases) were notable for banking 
and payment services decisions. Within 
the investments sector, administration, 
management or custody issues, particularly 
concerning pensions (12 cases) and crypto 
assets (8 cases), were more frequent.

In cases where the Arbiter determined that 
compensation was warranted, the amounts 
varied. The highest recorded compensation 
was £118,295.60, though most awards 
ranged between €1,000 and €5,000. 
Several cases also included moral damages, 
typically between €100 and €1,000. The 
range of compensation reflects the Arbiter’s 
careful consideration of both financial 
loss and, where appropriate, additional 
damages for the inconvenience and distress                   
caused to complainants.

Only seven cases (7.4%)                         
proceeded to appeal.

its evidence and further cross-examination may occur. 
Both parties are eventually invited to present final 
submissions in summary form.

The entire process is typically concluded within a few 
weeks before the case is adjourned for a decision.

Findings and awards

A few days before the Arbiter issues a decision, the 
parties involved in the complaint are notified of the 
date the decision will be announced. Although not 
compulsory, the parties are invited to a hearing where 
the Arbiter will declare the decision. The decision is 
then sent to the parties and their representatives,                               
if any, via email.

Each decision includes a note outlining the parties’ rights 
to request corrections or clarifications and providing 
information on the appeals process. Additionally, some 
decisions now include information on the reasonable 
costs of proceedings that complainants can claim in 
cases overseen by the Arbiter. It is noted, however, that 
the Arbiter retains the discretion to decide how costs 
are apportioned based on the specifics of each case. 
The applicable professional fees that may be charged 
are expected to align with tariffs and fees stipulated 
for civil court proceedings in Malta under the Code of 
Organisation and Civil Procedure.

The Arbiter is empowered to award compensation up 
to a maximum of €250,000, including additional sums 
for interest and other costs. For claims that exceed this 
limit, the Arbiter may issue recommendations.

The Arbiter’s final decisions are accessible on the 
Office’s website, although the identities of the                     
complainants are pseudonymised.

Either party can request the Arbiter to clarify the award 
or rectify any computational, clerical, typographical or 
similar errors within 15 days of the decision date. The 
Arbiter will issue a clarification or correction within 15 
days of receiving a party’s request.

Either party may challenge decisions made by the 
Arbiter through an appeal to the Court of Appeal 
(Inferior Jurisdiction) within 20 days from the date 
of the Arbiter’s decision or from when clarification or 
correction is issued by the Arbiter, as applicable. The 
parties’ identities in appealed decisions are made public 
on the Court of Justice website.

If neither party appeals, the Arbiter’s decision becomes 
final and binding on all parties involved.

Occasionally, the Arbiter may need to issue a preliminary 
decision, often during the initial stage of a case hearing. 
These preliminary decisions address legal objections, 
such as when a service provider argues that the Arbiter 
lacks competence to hear the case.
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Average time taken to reach case decisions

Under the ADR Directive, a final decision must be issued 
within 90 days of finalising a complaint’s investigation 
process, that is, when the evidence and submissions 
relating to the case file are declared complete. In 
certain exceptional cases of a highly complex nature, 
ADR entities may be able to extend the timeframe for 
examining the case in question.

The OAFS was established to provide financial 
services consumers with a platform for expedited case 
resolution in accordance with the objectives of the ADR            
Directive and the Act.

While some cases can be resolved swiftly, complex cases 
require thorough research and careful consideration 
before a final decision can be reached and published.

A few cases required a longer period to convene 
hearings, primarily because the parties submitted 
extensive supporting documentation that necessitated 
considerable review time. Consequently, issuing 
a decision in these instances took longer than in 
other comparatively less complex cases, highlighting 
the challenge of balancing the Arbiter’s desire for 
prompt decisions with the need for comprehensive                             
detail in the final decision.

As part of the commitment to ensuring a timely 
resolution of cases, the Arbiter has prioritised delivering 
decisions promptly once a case file is complete with 
evidence and parties’ submissions. This provides the 
parties involved with a prompt and clear understanding 
of the outcome of their case.

Decision times, measured from when a case 
file is complete, decreased significantly 
compared to the previous year. This reflects 
improvements in processing efficiency 
across all sectors.

For banking/payment services-related 
complaints, the average time taken to issue 
a decision reduced substantially to 34 days, 
down from 106 days in 2023. Similarly, the 
average time for insurance-related cases fell 
to 55 days from 88 days the previous year.

Investment-related complaints typically 
require longer review periods due to the 
large volume of information involved. 
However, processing times improved 
markedly here as well. The average 
time for these cases decreased to 101 
days, a significant reduction from                             
250 days in 2023.

Within the investments sector, cases 
concerning retirement schemes often 
present particular complexity. These 
require detailed assessment of legal and 
substantive points. For such pension-related 
cases, the average decision time was 151 
days. This is considerably faster than the 
340 days averaged in 2023. For all other 
investment cases, the average time was 66 
days, also showing improvement from 160 
days in 2023.
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Overview of Decisions delivered by the Arbiter

Arbiter’s decisions online

Our online portal provides comprehensive access to the Arbiter’s decisions, enabling users to 
explore over 800 available decisions. Users can refine their searches using various filters such 
as: the name of the financial services provider, the language, year date of the decision, the 
sector involved, the outcome of the decision and the occurrence of any appeals. 

In the published versions of the decisions, the names of the complainants are omitted and 
replaced with unrelated alphabetical characters.

The database of the Arbiter’s decisions is regularly updated to include relevant case reference 
numbers for appeals made to the Court of Appeal (Civil Inferior). Users can also filter their 
searches to distinguish between appealed and non-appealed decisions. 

When the appeal judgment is published, it is made available alongside the corresponding 
Arbiter’s decision. The identity of the complainant(s) would be revealed when an appeal is 
lodged with the Courts.

This decisions database aims to act as a thorough research tool for academia, the financial 
services industry, consumers and other stakeholders, thereby contributing to the growing 
body of knowledge on retail financial services jurisprudence in Malta.

A selection of case summaries

The OAFS is mandated by law to publish summaries of the decisions made by the Arbiter. In 
the reviewed year, the Arbiter issued 94 final decisions.

This section highlights key decisions related to banking and payment services, insurance, 
investments, private pensions and corporate services provision.

The summaries capture the principal elements and insights observed in the Arbiter’s decisions. 
Besides case summaries of individual cases, there are also ‘group’ case summaries of various 
decisions that are related. They can be related by the subject matter, the type of complaint, or 
issues raised by the complainant or the provider.

If the judgment to a decision has been published by the time this annual report is compiled, 
the summary will also include the outcome of the judgment. Further details about Appeal 
judgments issued in 2024 relating to the Arbiter’s decisions are found in Appendix 4.
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Banking and Payment Services Cases

The case summaries include individual decisions and thematic groupings of related complaints, 
covering a range of banking and payment services disputes. These include loan application rejections, 
account closures, credit report disputes, crypto-related transfer blockages, fund access restrictions 
and unauthorised payment transactions. The decisions reveal the Arbiter’s approach to balancing 
regulatory compliance with consumer protection, particularly evident in the model used for apportioning 
responsibility in financial fraud cases. The summaries demonstrate how the Arbiter considers factors 
such as service provider discretion, regulatory obligations, customer due diligence requirements and 
communication standards when determining outcomes. 

Housing loan application rejection 
disputed (ASF 087/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Equity sharing scheme, affordability parameters, 
maintenance agreement, property financing, court 
decree, loan conditions

A complainant disputed the rejection of their housing 
loan application by a financial services provider. The 
proceedings revolved around an equity sharing scheme 
arrangement with the Housing Authority.

The complaint highlighted these issues:

a)	 The complainant met a bank representative 
in January to obtain quotes for submission to                                                
the Housing Authority.

b)	The Housing Authority approved the equity 
sharing scheme for a property valued up to 
€200,000, with €20,000 as personal contribution, 
€102,000 as bank financing, and €78,000 as                                                                               
the Authority’s equity share.

c)	 After providing documentation and signing a 
promise of sale agreement, the bank rejected                                              
the loan application.

d)	The complainant maintained they had sufficient 
income, including salary (€1,200), maintenance 
payments (€400), children’s allowance (€176) and in-
work benefits (€171), totalling €1,947 monthly.

e)	The complainant sought reversal of the bank’s decision 
and approval of the loan as originally discussed.

The financial services provider stated in response:

a)	 The bank maintained complete discretion on                  
credit exposure decisions.

b)	The application failed to meet reasonable affordability 
parameters according to bank policies.

c)	 The rejection demonstrated adherence to         
responsible lending principles.

d)	The Housing Authority’s agreement to co-finance did 
not necessarily influence the bank’s decision.

e)	The bank denied responsibility for expenses incurred 
during the application process.

The Arbiter made the following observations:

1.	While acknowledging inability to order banks to 
provide credit facilities outside their risk parameters, 
the Arbiter maintained authority to express opinions 
and make recommendations on those decisions.

2.	The bank’s rejection stemmed from two main factors: 
affordability concerns and alleged misrepresentation 
of personal circumstances in the application.

3.	The affordability argument held merit while 
maintenance arrangements remained informal. 
However, this position weakened after formalisation 
through a court decree, especially considering 
the father’s consistent payment history even                         
during informal arrangements.

4.	The bank appeared inflexible in maintaining its position 
despite changed circumstances. The affordability was 
demonstrated practically since the proposed loan 
payment would be less than the current rent (net of 
Housing Authority subsidy).

5.	Regarding misrepresentation, the bank showed 
excessive rigidity in not appreciating that a first-
time applicant might misunderstand application 
terms, particularly concerning dependents                                                
and maintenance arrangements.

6.	The bank’s approach did not align with its stated 
mission of making banking more personal and 
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inclusive, especially concerning social progress and 
stakeholder growth opportunities.

The Arbiter rejected the complaint but ordered the 
bank to bear the case’s costs. This decision reflected 
that while unable to compel loan approval, the Arbiter 
found the bank’s handling of the application overly rigid, 
particularly after circumstances changed with the court 
decree formalising maintenance arrangements.

The Arbiter did not order reimbursement of application 
expenses, noting this retained value for potential 
arrangements with other banks.

The decision was not appealed.

Credit report update request following 
bank error (ASF 150/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Credit report, loan repayment, banking directive, 
distressed credit, consumer credit, confidentiality

This case involved a complaint about a credit report 
listing following a bank’s error in crediting an account 
with €71,001.80 instead of €7,101.80.

The complainant raised these issues:

a)	 In 2017, the bank mistakenly transferred €70,000 – 
rather than €7,000 – to their account.

b)	While on holiday with their child and without 
access to emails, they spent €16,000 more than                               
they actually had.

c)	 The bank treated this as credit card debt with an         
8% interest rate.

d)	When the complainant returned from 
holiday, they agreed to repay the amount                                                                               
once they found employment.

e)	The bank required the outstanding amount of 
€17,782.42 to be paid by 31 January 2018.

f)	 A loan agreement was reached in August 2018 
for €16,912.23 with an effective interest rate 
of 8.7%, to be repaid in monthly instalments of                                     
€771.28 over two years.

g)	The complainant claimed she tried to borrow from 
other banks for a house but was refused due to her 
credit report showing this loan in distress.

h)	The complainant requested the provider to update 
their system since she had never missed payments on 
previous loans but was refused.

The financial services provider rejected the complaint 
and presented their version of events. They stated:

a)	 The complainant appeared aware of the error 
and dishonestly took advantage by spending 
approximately €17,000.

b)	The bank transferred the spent amount to a credit 
card loan after detecting the error.

c)	 The complainant’s payments were insufficient to 
settle the debt within the agreed timeframe.

d)	The bank reported the loan as “in distress” to 
the Central Bank of Malta when it remained 
unsettled 90 days after the due date, as required by                                 
Central Bank Directive 14.

e)	The bank maintained they had no control over the 
Central Bank report but provided the complainant 
with a letter explaining her efforts to pay the loan.

f)	 By May 2022, the complainant had paid €16,300, 
with about €5,000 still due.

The Arbiter made the following observations:

1.	The case centred on the complainant’s request 
to remedy their Central Credit Register record, 
which the bank could not modify under                                                           
Banking Directive 14.

2.	The Central Credit Register served an important 
function in facilitating lending business and 
commercial credit terms between businesses.

3.	The regulations governing the Register were 
strict and could not be altered to maintain                                                
discipline in lending practices.

4.	While the complainant eventually paid after a 
two-year delay and received a €1,900 reduction 
from the bank, they expected to be able to borrow                          
again without impediment.

5.	According to regulations, this opportunity would only 
arise after five years.

6.	Research showed this five-year period was below the 
EU average of seven years for similar credit registers.

7.	The Arbiter found little credibility in the complainant’s 
argument that they continued spending on their 
credit card, exceeding their genuine balance by over 
€16,000, because they thought they had more money 
due to the bank’s error.

8.	Although the complainant also raised concerns about 
confidentiality breaches, they did not seek remedy for 
this aspect and did not pursue it during the hearings.

The Arbiter rejected the complaint and ordered each 
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party to bear their own costs, noting that they could not 
order the bank to provide the requested remedy as it 
would contravene the Central Bank’s directive on the 
reporting of distressed credit exposures.

The decision was not appealed. 

Rejection of crypto-related transfer 
deemed unjustified (ASF 198/2023)

COMPLAINT UPHELD

Crypto assets, customer acceptance policy, portfolio 
liquidation, risk appetite, transfer rejection

A client filed a complaint against a financial services 
provider on the rejection of an inward transfer of 
approximately €4,000 from their account held with a 
foreign investment platform. The contested transfer 
represented proceeds from the liquidation of an 
investment portfolio.

The complainant sought the following remedies:

a)	 A formal apology acknowledging misunderstanding 
and mismanagement of the situation.

b)	Reinstatement of the rejected transaction from            
their portfolio proceeds.

c)	 Assurance on data privacy protection.

d)	Revision of internal policies and additional 
staff training to align with modern                                                                                    
financial investment developments.

The service provider responded by asserting:

a)	 Their right to reject payments that did not comply 
with their acceptance policies based on risk appetite.

b)	The complainant’s request could not be accepted 
since it violated their policies.

c)	 There was no misunderstanding of financial products 
requiring policy review.

d)	The data privacy breach allegation                                                                    
was merely an assumption.

e)	The complainant’s demands were unfounded                        
in fact and law.

The Arbiter made the following observations and 
considerations:

1.	Each financial institution had the right to formulate 
internal policies related to customer acceptance 
and risk, provided these were consistently applied 
without discrimination.

2.	The allegation of privacy breach was 
dismissed since there was no evidence that 
another bank’s simultaneous enquiry was                                                                                            
anything beyond coincidental.

3.	The service provider’s customer acceptance policy, 
which they presented to justify the rejection, 
actually did not support their action. The policy 
specifically prohibited business relationships 
with corporate entities and sole traders involved 
in crypto-assets, virtual currency exchanges                                                                          
and virtual currency issuers.

4.	The account relationship with the complainant 
remained active despite the transfer rejection, 
indicating that the cited policy section on prohibited 
customers could not apply to the complainant.

5.	The prohibition under the policy related to business 
clients, not individual clients, was aimed at excluding 
businesses offering crypto/virtual asset services 
rather than individual clients with crypto assets in 
their investment portfolios.

6.	The service provider’s less restrictive approach 
to outward payments suggested the absence of a 
specific policy excluding individual inward payments, 
particularly when these formed part of an investment 
portfolio liquidation where crypto represented                   
a minor component.

7.	The cryptocurrency profit in the complainant’s 
investment account over a five-year period amounted 
to only US$282.89, with crypto commission of 
US$85.38. Without a clear policy excluding such 
transfers, there was no justification for rejection based 
on anti-money laundering or regulatory concerns.

The Arbiter found the complaint justified and 
ordered the service provider to accept the transfer 
of approximately €4,000 from the account held with 
the foreign investment platform to the complainant’s 
bank account. Additionally, the Arbiter awarded 
€100 as compensation for moral damages, citing                                                                        
a previous case decision.

The decision noted that, while the service provider 
could adopt stricter policies going forward, such policies 
would contradict the trend of financial innovation and 
their own approach to outward payments. The costs of 
proceedings were to be borne by the service provider.

The decision was not appealed.
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Determining eligibility in financial 
fraud complaints (ASF 115/2023, 

ASF 070/2024, ASF 133/2024, 
ASF 135/2024, ASF 006/2024,                       
ASF 070/2023, ASF 112/2024)

Eligible customer, fraud scam, contractual 
relationship, competence, preliminary plea, money 
laundering, corporate clients, fraudsters

The cases before the Arbiter for Financial Services in 
this category involved complainants who had fallen 
victim to various types of fraud schemes. In each case, 
the complainants had transferred funds to accounts 
held with payment service providers licensed in Malta, 
but the complainants themselves were not direct 
customers of these service providers. The complaints 
centred on allegations that the service providers had 
failed in their due diligence and anti-money laundering 
obligations, which allegedly enabled fraudsters to 
operate through accounts held with these providers.

The complaints

The complainants raised the following issues:

a)	 They had been victims of scams orchestrated by 
fraudsters who directed them to transfer money to 
accounts held with the service providers.

b)	They claimed the service providers had failed 
to conduct proper due diligence on their 
corporate clients who were allegedly involved                                                                   
in fraudulent activities.

c)	 They alleged the service providers had breached their 
obligations under anti-money laundering regulations 
by not detecting suspicious transactions.

d)	Some complainants argued that the service providers 
had a duty of care towards them, even though they 
were not direct customers of the service providers.

e)	The complainants sought refunds of their lost funds, 
with amounts ranging from €1,000 to €210,033, 
along with compensation for emotional and financial 
distress in some cases.

Service providers’ responses

The service providers’ responses across all cases 
followed a similar pattern. Their primary defence was 
based on a preliminary plea that the complainants 
were not “eligible customers” as defined in the 
Act, and therefore the Arbiter lacked competence                                                                    
to hear these complaints.

The service providers explained that they had no 
direct contractual relationship with the complainants, 
who were instead customers of the service providers’ 

corporate clients. They maintained that they had never 
offered financial services to the complainants, nor had 
the complainants sought such services from them. 
Furthermore, the service providers asserted that they 
had followed all regulatory requirements regarding 
customer due diligence and anti-money laundering 
procedures when onboarding and monitoring                                               
their corporate clients.

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter made a number of observations and 
considerations regarding the preliminary plea raised by 
the service providers.

The primary function of the Arbiter, as established 
by Article 11(1)(a) and Article 19(1) of the Act, was to 
deal with complaints filed by “eligible customers”. This 
preliminary matter needed to be determined before 
considering the merits of any case, for two important 
reasons. First, if the complainants were not eligible 
customers, they should be promptly informed so they 
could seek redress through other competent forums. 
Second, expressing opinions on the merits of cases 
outside the Arbiter’s competence might prejudice future 
proceedings in competent courts or tribunals.

The definition of an “eligible customer” under Article 
2 of the Act was crucial to these determinations. The 
Act defined an eligible customer as “a customer who is 
a consumer of a financial services provider, or to whom 
the financial services provider has offered to provide a 
financial service, or who has sought the provision of a 
financial service from a financial services provider”.

In all seven cases, the Arbiter found that none of these 
criteria were met. The complainants had no direct 
contractual relationship with the service providers; 
rather, they had relationships with the corporate 
clients of these service providers. For example, in ASF 
135/2024, the complainant testified: “I was aware of 
[the service provider] (being somehow involved in these 
transactions) after I made the transfers when I checked 
the number.” The complainant even confirmed: “I am a 
customer of a customer of [the service provider].”

During hearings, most complainants acknowledged they 
had never opened accounts with the service providers, 
had never been offered services by them and had never 
sought services from them. Their point of contact 
with the service providers was simply to try to recover 
funds they had lost when they transferred money 
to accounts of corporate clients who held accounts                                                
with the service providers.

The Arbiter’s decisions were consistent across all cases 
in emphasising that the fact that beneficiaries of the 
complainants’ funds had accounts with the service 
providers did not render the complainants eligible 
customers of those service providers. In ASF 133/2024, 
the Arbiter noted that the complainant “confirmed that 
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he only became aware of the beneficiaries of his transfers 
being in account with [the service provider] after he had 
already affected all the payments complained of”.

The Arbiter also addressed the complainants’ allegations 
regarding anti-money laundering failures. In several 
cases, the Arbiter noted that these concerns should 
be directed to the competent authorities specifically 
dealing with money laundering issues, as this fell 
outside the Arbiter’s competence and expertise. In ASF 
006/2024, the Arbiter commented that “considering 
that the Complaint mainly revolves around money-
laundering and financing of terrorism issues, the Arbiter 
would like to draw the attention of the Complainants 
that questions and issues in this regard should be 
addressed to the Competent Authorities in Malta that 
specifically deal with such issues”.

Another important consideration was that, in several 
cases, the transactions involved relatively small amounts 
that would not typically trigger money laundering 
concerns. In ASF 070/2023, the Arbiter noted it was 
“very unlikely that a sole payment for one thousand 
euro could give rise to money laundering suspicions”.

In one case (ASF 115/2023), the Arbiter went beyond 
the question of eligible customer status to consider the 
nature of the complainant company itself, which was 
providing payment support services to its intra-group 
companies. The Arbiter observed that the complainant’s 
activities “intrinsically involve financial services – with 
three key areas specifically mentioned and emerging 
from the proceedings of the case: forex brokerage, CFD 
trading services, and/or payment services”. This led the 
Arbiter to conclude that “the dispute is rather deemed to 
be purely of a commercial nature between two business 
parties predominantly involving the course of business 
of the Complainant”.

Remedy

In all seven cases, the Arbiter determined that the 
complainants could not be deemed “eligible customers” 
as defined in Article 2 of the Act. Consequently, the 
Arbiter declared a lack of competence to deal with the 
merits of these complaints and dismissed them.

The dismissals were made without prejudice to the 
complainants’ rights to take their cases to competent 
courts or tribunals. The Arbiter also noted that 
complainants might have rights to file complaints 
against the actual beneficiaries of their funds                                                    
in appropriate jurisdictions.

In one case (ASF 112/2024), despite ruling a lack 
of competence, the Arbiter made a non-binding 
recommendation that the service provider consider 
offering an ex-gratia payment to the complainant. This 
recommendation was motivated by the fact that the 
complainant’s payment occurred when the service 
provider’s corporate client was already under the 

service provider’s “Fraud Monitoring Programme”, 
yet was allowed to continue operating during a                                         
60-day grace period.

None of the decisions were appealed. 

Refer to the Arbiter’s Report and the Administrative report 
on pages 12 and 19 that explain the changes to the 
legislation to address this matter.

	 Bank closure and account opening 
complaints (ASF 084/2023, 089/2024, 

134/2024)

Account closure, due diligence, compliance, 
regulatory obligations, customer risk assessment, 
banking relationship, discrimination, documentation

Three separate complaints were filed with the 
Arbiter for Financial Services on issues related to 
bank accounts. The complainants raised concerns 
about account closures and difficulties in opening 
accounts, citing various grievances, including alleged 
discrimination and lack of proper communication                                                                          
from the service providers.

In the first case, the complainant contested the 
closure of their personal accounts after questions 
arose on certain transactions related to payments to                              
companies and cash deposits.

In the second case, the complainant challenged the 
handling of their savings account closure and transfer 
of funds, citing unexplainable requests and inadequate 
handling of documentation.

In the third case, the complainant alleged racial 
discrimination in the rejection of their account opening 
application, claiming humiliation and financial hardship.

The complainants sought various remedies, including 
reopening of accounts, compensation for time wasted, 
lost interest, moral damages and formal apologies.

Service providers’ responses

The financial services providers defended their 
actions primarily on regulatory grounds and internal 
risk assessment procedures. They cited various legal 
obligations, including anti-money laundering regulations 
and customer due diligence requirements.

The first provider maintained it had the right to terminate 
relationships based on risk appetite and internal 
policies. The second initially defended its position but 
later offered to engage with the customer for proper 
due diligence. The third acknowledged deficiencies in 
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handling the application and offered compensation 
along with an apology.

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter examined each case individually while 
considering the broader implications of banking 
relationships and regulatory requirements.

Looking at the first case, it was noted that banks must 
consider account closures as a last resort measure, 
given that it represents the most drastic action a bank 
can take against its clients. The decision to close an 
account should only be taken after giving clients a 
reasonable opportunity to address any concerns. The 
Arbiter found the provider had sufficient grounds to 
conclude that personal accounts were being used 
for non-personal transactions beyond what was                                                     
explained on certain payments.

In the second case, the focus was on the provider’s 
handling of documentation requests and account closure 
procedures. The Arbiter found no satisfactory basis 
for claims of unexplainable requests or unreasonable 
reversal of positions on documentation. However, the 
provider failed to follow proper termination notice 
procedures as outlined in its own terms and conditions.

The third case raised serious concerns about 
discriminatory practices. The provider’s admission of 
deficiencies in handling the application and lack of proper 
staff experience supported the complainant’s allegations 
of unfair treatment. The extended processing time of 
over two months, followed by rejection without proper 
explanation, contrasted sharply with the complainant’s 
swift success in opening an account with another bank.

Throughout these cases, the Arbiter emphasised the 
importance of proper communication between financial 
services providers and their clients. While providers 
have the right to implement risk-based approaches 
and regulatory compliance measures, these must be 
executed professionally and without discrimination.

Remedy

In the first case, the complaint was rejected since 
the provider had justified grounds for its actions. The 
second case resulted in compensation of €500 due to 
procedural failures in account termination notification. 
The third case led to a more comprehensive remedy: 
€500 in compensation, a formal letter of apology and an 
order for the provider to ensure proper staff training in 
non-discriminatory customer treatment.

None of the decisions were appealed. 

Blocked funds lead to compensation 
and intervention by regulator                         

(ASF 220/2023, ASF 074/2024,               
ASF 128/2024 and ASF 129/2024)

Compensation, moral damages, SEPA transfers, 
account blocking, card transactions, financial 
hardship, service disruption, compliance

Four separate complaints were lodged with the Arbiter 
for Financial Services against payment providers on 
blocked funds and inability to make SEPA transfers. The 
complainants faced significant difficulties in accessing 
and transferring their funds, which caused financial 
hardship and considerable stress. The complaints 
shared similar circumstances and legal responses 
from the service provider, which consistently cited 
legal impediments under Maltese law that prevented 
them from releasing funds or providing detailed                    
explanations to customers.

Summary of complaints

a)	 In case ASF 220/2023, the complainant claimed 
the service provider blocked his fintech account 
containing €9,200 without providing any explanation 
despite several requests. The complainant felt the 
service provider was “behaving like a scam” and 
requested the release of his funds.

b)	In case ASF 074/2024, the complainant claimed her 
fintech account with €5,988 was blocked allegedly 
for “money laundering checks”. Despite providing 
all requested documentation, her account remained 
blocked for five months. As a Ukrainian mother 
of two children suffering from war hardship, she 
urgently needed access to her funds and requested 
their immediate release.

c)	 In cases ASF 128/2024 and ASF 129/2024 (treated 
jointly), the complainants claimed their accounts 
holding approximately €72,000 were effectively 
blocked as the service provider had lost the ability to 
offer wire transfer services. The personal complainant 
experienced considerable stress as he needed the 
money to honour a property purchase agreement and 
had to borrow from family members. The company 
complainant stated they were unable to settle their 
bills. Both requested access to their funds and 
compensation for loss of income and moral damages.

Service provider’s response

The service provider maintained a consistent position across 
all cases, citing legal impediments under Maltese law that 
prevented them from releasing funds or providing detailed 
explanations. They later explained that SEPA transfer issues 
stemmed from third-party provider problems. The provider 
claimed they offered alternative access through increased 
card transaction limits and ATM withdrawals.
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Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter for Financial Services considered each 
case on its merits, examining whether the service 
provider acted capriciously, unethically or illegally in 
not releasing the complainants’ funds. The Arbiter made 
consistent observations across all three decisions while 
acknowledging the unique circumstances of each case.

The Arbiter observed that, in the first two cases (ASF 
220/2023 and ASF 074/2024), the service provider’s 
behaviour was “very specific to the complainant and has 
no general application to other clients”. This specificity 
suggested the service provider was not acting arbitrarily 
but responding to particular circumstances that likely 
involved regulatory constraints.

For cases ASF 128/2024 and ASF 129/2024, the 
Arbiter acknowledged there was “no doubt that the 
service provider has caused considerable stress and 
inconvenience, if not financial loss, through their 
inability to offer normal payments services”. The 
alternatives offered were deemed “inconvenient and 
unorthodox” and “fell well short of the level of service 
which complainants had a right to expect from a licensed 
payment service provider”.

Notably, the Arbiter recognised that this was not 
an isolated issue affecting only the complainants 
but a systemic failure affecting all customers of the 
service provider. This observation was particularly 
significant in the third decision (ASF 128/2024 and 
ASF 129/2024), where the Arbiter ordered the service 
provider to communicate their failings to the Malta 
Financial Services Authority (MFSA), their regulator, and                                 
seek guidance accordingly.

Remedies awarded

In the first two cases (ASF 220/2023 and ASF 
074/2024), the Arbiter declined to order the release of 
funds as requested by the complainants. The decisions 
cited insufficient evidence that the service provider was 
acting “capriciously, unethically or illegally”. However, 
in both cases, the Arbiter ordered the service provider 
to “keep Complainant informed, within the limits 
allowed by law, about the status of his/her request                                          
to release his/her funds”.

In the third case (ASF 128/2024 and ASF 129/2024), 
the Arbiter awarded compensation for moral damages 
suffered by the complainants, quantified at €1,000 to 
be shared between the personal complainant and the 
company complainant in the ratio of 84:16, based on 
the proportion of blocked funds at the time of filing. 
The Arbiter noted that this award was made “on the 
basis of arguments already covered in the Arbiter’s                       
decision re case 071/2021”.

Additionally, the Arbiter ordered the service provider 

to refund all account service fees charged to both 
complainants from February 2024 to the date of the 
decision. The Arbiter also directed that the costs of the 
proceedings were to be borne by the service provider.

None of the decisions were appealed.

Fraudulent payments through 
compromised banking channels 
(ASF 215/2023, ASF 218/2023, 
ASF 010/2024, ASF 011/2024, 
ASF 012/2024, ASF 020/2024, 
ASF 033/2024, ASF 037/2024, 
ASF 039/2024, ASF 050/2024,                       

ASF 084/2024)

Fraudulent payment, SMS spoofing, smishing, 
gross negligence, two-factor authentication, recall, 
apportionment model, dynamic linking

The Arbiter for Financial Services dealt with several 
complaints concerning fraudulent payments made 
from customers’ accounts held with financial services 
providers. While the complaints varied in certain details, 
they shared common elements. The complainants alleged 
that fraudsters penetrated communication channels 
normally used between them and their financial services 
provider, typically through SMS or email, which led to 
unauthorised payments from their accounts.

Summary of complaints

a)	 The complainants received fraudulent messages 
via SMS or email on the same channels normally 
used by their financial services provider                                                                   
for official communications.

b)	The messages contained links that directed the 
complainants to fraudulent websites mimicking the 
official websites of their financial services provider.

c)	 Following instructions on these fraudulent websites, 
the complainants inadvertently authorised payments 
to third parties, typically for amounts under €5,000.

d)	The payments were processed on a ‘same day’ basis to 
bank accounts in foreign countries, making it difficult 
to recall the funds once the fraud was reported.

e)	The complainants promptly reported the incidents 
to their financial services provider, but the payments 
had already been processed.

f)	 The complainants requested refunds of the fraudulently 
transferred amounts, arguing that their financial services 
provider failed to protect them by allowing fraudsters to 
penetrate official communication channels.
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Financial services provider’s response

The financial services provider rejected the complainants’ 
requests for refunds, maintaining that the complainants 
were solely responsible for the fraudulent payments. 
In their responses, the financial services provider 
emphasised several key points to justify their position.

a)	 The payments were duly authorised 
using the complainants’ credentials and 
authentication methods, including two-factor 
authentication, in accordance with the Payment                                                                                      
Services Directive 2 (PSD2).

b)	The complainants demonstrated gross negligence by 
clicking on links in suspicious messages and providing 
their security credentials to fraudsters.

c)	 The financial services provider had implemented 
robust security measures, including strong 
customer authentication and dynamic linking,                                                        
as required by PSD2.

d)	The financial services provider had conducted 
educational campaigns warning customers about 
potential scams and advising them not to click on 
links in messages.

e)	The financial services provider attempted to recall 
the funds upon being notified of the fraud, but these 
attempts were largely unsuccessful as the funds had 
already been transferred to the fraudsters’ accounts.

f)	 According to Article 50(1) of Directive 1 of the Central 
Bank of Malta, the payer bears all losses relating to 
unauthorised payment transactions if they were 
incurred through gross negligence.

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter for Financial Services examined 
the complaints and responses to determine the 
appropriate apportionment of responsibility 
between the complainants and the financial services 
provider. To ensure transparency and consistency in 
decisions, the Arbiter developed and referred to the 
framework model published in 2023 for apportioning                                       
responsibility in such cases. 

The Arbiter made the following observations:

While it was true that financial services providers did 
not have means to prevent spoofing or smishing in their 
communication channels, they were not doing enough to 
effectively warn customers about these risks. Publishing 
warnings on websites, mass media or social media 
was insufficient since consumers were busy with daily 
problems and could not be expected to stay informed 
through these channels. In serious fraud cases, financial 
services providers should use direct communication 
with customers via SMS or email.

The Arbiter noted that clicking on a fraudulent link did 
not automatically constitute gross negligence under the 
law. Referencing the European Court of Justice case of 
Wind Tre and Vodafone Italia, the Arbiter highlighted 
that an action would not be considered grossly negligent 
if even an average, reasonably informed and attentive 
consumer might fall for it.

PSD2 clearly required that consumers must give specific 
consent for each payment, not just general consent 
in Terms of Business Agreements. Financial services 
providers needed to have robust payment systems 
ensuring that payments were not processed without 
specific authorisation from customers.

The Arbiter’s framework model considered various 
factors in apportioning responsibility, including whether 
the complainant received the fraudulent message on a 
channel normally used by the financial services provider 
(which reduced the complainant’s responsibility by 
50%), whether the complainant fully co-operated with 
the fraudster in making the payment (which increased 
the complainant’s responsibility by 30%) and whether 
the complainant had received direct warnings from the 
financial services provider in the previous three months.

Special circumstances were also considered, such as 
whether the complainant was travelling, had made 
similar genuine payments in the previous 12 months or 
was experiencing difficulties that made the fraudulent 
message seem less suspicious.

The Arbiter found that, in most cases, the complainants 
had continued to co-operate with the fraudsters 
by entering amounts and account details in the 
signature sections of their banking apps and providing 
authorisation codes specifically for the payments. This 
increased their degree of negligence.

However, the Arbiter also recognised that the financial 
services providers had not sent direct warnings to the 
complainants about these fraudulent schemes in the 
months before the incidents occurred, which partially 
excused the complainants.

In some cases, the Arbiter found special circumstances 
that further shifted responsibility to the financial services 
provider, such as when a complainant was travelling and 
panicked about missing payments, when there were 
consecutive failed authentication attempts that should 
have raised suspicion, or when the complainant had 
not made similar genuine payments in the previous 12 
months and thus was not familiar with the process.

Remedies awarded

The Arbiter applied the framework model to each 
case to determine the appropriate apportionment 
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of responsibility between the complainants and the 
financial services provider. The remedies varied based 
on the specific circumstances of each case.

In ASF 050/2024 and ASF 020/2024, the Arbiter 
determined that the complainant should bear 70% of the 
loss and the financial services provider 30%, ordering a 
refund of 30% of the fraudulent payment. 

For ASF 012/2024, ASF 215/2023 and ASF 218/2023, 
the Arbiter allocated 60% of the responsibility to the 
complainant and 40% to the financial services provider. 
In ASF 215/2023, for instance, the Arbiter noted that 
two consecutive failed authentication attempts should 
have raised suspicion and considered this a weakness          
in the security system. 

For ASF 010/2024, the Arbiter also determined a 
60%/40% split, with the complainant bearing the larger 
share. The Arbiter considered special circumstances, 
including that the complainant was travelling and had 
difficulty contacting customer service.

In ASF 011/2024, the complainant was found to 
bear 80% of the responsibility, with the financial 
services provider being ordered to pay 20% of                                                                   
the fraudulent amount.

Across all cases, the Arbiter ordered payments to 
be made within five working days of the decision, 
with interest accruing thereafter if payment was not 
made. Since responsibility was allocated between 
both parties in all cases, each party was ordered                                                                 
to bear its own expenses.

None of the decisions were appealed. 
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Insurance Cases

This section presents both individual and group case summaries covering life and non-life insurance 
disputes resolved over the reporting period. The individual case summaries examine distinct complaints, 
such as rejected claims due to policy exclusions, notification delays, proof of loss, or the timing of medical 
diagnoses, highlighting the central issues and the Arbiter’s reasoning in each decision. Group case 
summaries, meanwhile, focus on clusters of similar complaints sharing a common theme – such as disputes 
about life policy maturity values or multiple travel insurance claims – demonstrating how the Arbiter 
addresses recurring issues across related cases. 

	 Late insurance claim for workplace 
injury (ASF 059/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Workplace injury, insurance policy, notification 
delay, surgical intervention, claim rejection, broker 
intermediary

The case concerned a complaint about a rejected 
insurance claim following a workplace injury 
where the insurer refused to honour the claim                                                                
due to late notification.

The complainant presented this case:

a)	 The complainant was injured at work in May 2021 and 
initially consulted their family doctor who diagnosed 
a pulled muscle and prescribed medication.

b)	When the pain persisted, they sought a second 
opinion and were referred to a specialist, who 
confirmed the need for surgery.

c)	 They contacted their insurance broker in August 
2021 and provided profit and loss documentation                      
in September 2021.

d)	The surgery took place in May 2022, after 
which they submitted all relevant medical                                                        
certificates and documentation.

e)	The complainant opened a second claim in 
August 2022 for a separate injury, which was                                   
processed and paid.

f)	 After numerous follow-ups with the broker 
about the first claim, they contacted the insurer                                    
directly in February 2023.

g)	The complainant sought compensation of €8,640, 
comprising €1,890 for surgery and hospital expenses 
and €6,750 for nine weeks of recovery.

The service provider responded to the complaint             
with these arguments:

a)	 The policy terms required immediate notification of 
any incident that could lead to a claim.

b)	The first notification of the claim was received in June 
2022, ten months after the alleged incident.

c)	 The complainant underwent surgery without 
obtaining prior approval, as required by the policy.

d)	The broker was appointed by the complainant and 
not the insurer, therefore any delays in notification 
by the broker could not be attributed to the insurer.

e)	The second claim was paid because it was notified 
within a reasonable timeframe.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1.	Two important policy conditions were breached – 
timely notification of the claim and obtaining prior 
approval for expenses except in emergencies.

2.	The relationship between the broker and the insured 
was distinct from that with the insurer since the 
broker was chosen by the complainant and acted as 
their agent rather than the insurer’s representative.

3.	The delay in notification was substantial – the claim 
form indicated the incident occurred in August 2021 
and the insurer was only informed in June 2022, 
though the complainant testified the injury occurred 
in May 2021, making the delay even longer.

4.	The surgical intervention was carried out without the 
insurer’s approval, preventing them from obtaining 
their own medical opinion, particularly regarding 
the nine-week recovery period that constituted the 
majority of the claim.

5.	No explanation was provided for why the surgery 
was performed in May 2022, nine months after the 
consultation with the surgeon in August 2021.
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6.	The complainant did not file a complaint against 
their insurance broker, who appeared to be 
primarily responsible for the excessively late 
notification and failure to obtain pre-approval                                                                        
for the surgical intervention.

The Arbiter concluded there was no valid reason to 
order the service provider to honour the claim given 
the breach of policy conditions by the complainant and/
or their broker. The complaint was rejected, with each 
party being ordered to bear their own costs.

The decision was not appealed. 

Kitchen hood insurance claim rejection 
(ASF 095/2024)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Insurance policy, named perils, technical report, 
damage assessment, evidence, proof of loss

A policyholder submitted a complaint following the 
rejection of their insurance claim for damage to their 
kitchen hood. The case centred on whether the damage 
was covered by their home insurance policy.

The complainant presented this case:

a)	 On returning from a trip abroad, they discovered their 
kitchen hood had stopped working.

b)	A technician examined the appliance but could not 
determine the exact cause of the malfunction.

c)	 The technician suggested the damage should be 
covered under standard home insurance policies.

d)	The complainant filed a claim for €163, comprising 
€118 for parts and €45 for labour costs.

The insurance provider defended their position arguing:

a)	 The policy in question was a “named perils policy” 
that only covered specific listed risks.

b)	The technical report did not identify any cause that 
corresponded to the named perils in the policy.

c)	 The technician’s opinion about insurance coverage 
was irrelevant since they were not familiar                             
with the policy terms.

d)	Weather records showed no lightning strikes             
during the relevant period.

e)	There was no evidence of any covered peril                
causing the damage.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1.	The primary issue concerned whether the cause of 
damage to the kitchen hood fell within the scope of 
the insurance policy coverage.

2.	In cases of loss and subsequent claims, the 
policyholder bore the responsibility of presenting 
evidence to support their claim and demonstrate that 
the damage resulted from a covered peril.

3.	The mere existence of an active insurance policy 
did not guarantee coverage for all types of                               
damage from any eventuality.

4.	The technician’s statement that similar damage would 
typically be covered under a home insurance policy 
was insufficient evidence since they were not privy to 
the specific policy terms.

5.	The complainant needed to demonstrate not 
only proof of loss but also establish that the 
proximate cause of the damage was an insured peril                            
covered by the policy.

6.	The technical report only documented the damage 
without identifying its cause, making it impossible to 
determine if it resulted from a covered peril.

7.	The distinction between “named perils” and “all risks” 
policies was significant – even with an “all risks” 
policy, reasonable evidence would still be required to 
show the damage was not caused by an excluded risk.

8.	The inability to determine the cause of 
damage did not automatically mean it resulted                                                               
from a covered peril.

The Arbiter dismissed the complaint, concluding that, 
without evidence linking the damage to a specific named 
peril covered by the policy, there was no basis to require 
the insurance provider to honour the claim. Each party 
was ordered to bear their own costs.

The decision was not appealed. 

Home insurance claim for structural 
damage (ASF 114/2022)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Structural settlement, cracks, concrete columns, 
waterproofing, spalling, gradual deterioration

The case concerned a disputed home insurance claim 
on damages sustained to various parts of a property and 
the insurer’s decision to partially repudiate the claim.

The complainant contended:
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a)	 Large cracks appeared in various parts of their 
home that could potentially cause falling debris,                
requiring urgent repairs.

b)	Three independent experts, including a waterproofing 
specialist, two builders and a retired architect, agreed 
the damages were caused by structural settling/
movement of the earth.

c)	 The cracks were first noticed in March 2020 
when they became enlarged and clearly visible, 
but repairs were delayed until March 2021 due                                                    
to Covid-19 restrictions.

d)	The insurer incorrectly used the presence of minor 
rusting as grounds to deny the claim under the wear 
and tear exclusion.

e)	The repairs cost €3,350 in total, comprising work on 
bridge and concrete columns (€3,000), lounge soffit 
(€150), and bathroom (€200).

f)	 The damages should have been covered under 
Section 9 of the policy covering heave, landslip, 
settlement and subsidence.

The service provider maintained:

a)	 The claim for damages to the bridge and 
concrete columns was correctly declined due                                                        
to gradual deterioration.

b)	The spalling and damaged concrete beam/column 
resulted from poor quality concrete and water 
infiltration, causing steel reinforcement to rust over 
five to 15 years.

c)	 The policy specifically excluded loss, damage 
or destruction arising from wear and tear,                                            
and gradual deterioration.

d)	Settlement was offered for the bathroom and kitchen 
soffits as separate incidents caused by covered perils.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1.	While the lounge soffit and bathroom damages 
were settled by the insurer, the dispute centred on 
damages to the bridge and concrete columns.

2.	Despite claiming the damages required urgent 
repairs when noticed in December 2019, the 
complainant waited until March 2021 to undertake 
repairs, which went against the insurance principle 
of minimising losses.

3.	The insurer acted promptly on notification, 
appointing an architect, who inspected the property 
within days, but some repairs had already been 
carried out before the inspection.

4.	The architect’s reports and explanations were more 

detailed, professional and credible compared to the 
builders’ and waterproofing expert’s testimonies, 
which lacked substantiation for their conclusions 
about structural settlement.

5.	No evidence was presented from the retired 
architect mentioned in the complaint, despite the 
insurer’s architect urging the complainant to obtain 
a warranted architect’s report.

6.	The architect concluded the damage resulted from 
poor quality concrete and proximity of reinforcement 
to the surface, causing a gradual deterioration 
process over five to 15 years.

The Arbiter could not uphold the complaint since 
the damages fell under the policy’s general exclusion 
for wear and tear, gradual deterioration, inherent 
defect and bad workmanship. Each party was ordered                                     
to bear its own costs.

The decision was not appealed.

Insurance claim denied during Covid-19 
period (ASF 100/2023)

COMPLAINT UPHELD

Credit protection insurance, involuntary 
unemployment, probation period, exclusion clause, 
Covid-19 pandemic, policy interpretation

The case related to a complaint on the denial of an 
insurance claim for credit protection insurance during 
the Covid-19 pandemic.

The complainant raised these issues:

a)	 They had subscribed to credit protection insurance in 
2008 that covered involuntary unemployment.

b)	Their employment was terminated during a probation 
period that coincided with the national lockdowns 
during the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020.

c)	 The insurer relied on an exclusion clause that limited 
coverage to unemployment arising from job extinction 
or collective dismissal.

d)	They were never properly informed about the 
exclusion clause details and could not understand it.

e)	The insurer failed to provide records of changes in 
subscription when the underwriting company changed.

f)	 The complainant requested compensation of €2,000, 
representing 10 months of payment instalments 
during their unemployment period between April 2020             
and July 2021.
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The service provider presented this position:

a)	 The insurance policy explicitly excluded 
unemployment due to termination during the 
probational period.

b)	The exclusion clause was valid and legally compliant 
across multiple jurisdictions.

c)	 Unless proven abusive, the clause remained 
enforceable under contractual freedom principles.

d)	They would revise contracts for future cases only if 
the clause was found to be abusive.

The Arbiter undertook a detailed analysis of the case 
and made the following observations:

1.	The policy document contained two different 
definitions of unemployment under separate 
sections – General Conditions and Special Conditions                     
for Non-Life Protection.

2.	The General Conditions required employment to 
exceed 12 consecutive months for coverage; the 
Special Conditions contained no such requirement.

3.	Since the claim fell under non-life insurance, the 
Special Conditions definition took precedence since 
it applied specifically to non-life protection.

4.	The contradicting definitions in the same policy 
document warranted giving the policyholder                    
the benefit of doubt.

5.	Even if the policy had unambiguously excluded 
coverage during probation, the rationale behind 
this exclusion was to prevent abuse through 
regular employment loss that could question the          
involuntary nature of dismissal.

6.	The Covid-19 pandemic circumstances left no doubt 
about the involuntary nature of the dismissal.

The Arbiter determined that, since the service provider’s 
main reason for claim denial was dismissal during the 
probation period, which was overruled by the specific 
provisions analysed, it was fair and reasonable for 
the complainant to be compensated. The Arbiter 
ordered the service provider to pay €2,000 with 4.5% 
annual interest from the decision date until payment,                                     
plus all proceeding costs.

The decision was not appealed. 

	 Cancer diagnosis after policy 
expiry claim (ASF 213/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Life insurance policy, critical illness benefit, cancer 
diagnosis, claims-based policy, occurrence-based 
policy, ex-gratia payment

A claim made for payment of a critical illness 
benefit under a life insurance policy expired when 
the diagnosis was confirmed. The complainant’s                                                         
claims were as follows:

a)	 The complainant had a life insurance policy with a 
critical illness benefit supplement for 18 years from 
May 2004, which included coverage for cancer.

b)	In May 2021, they experienced symptoms and 
underwent medical examinations.

c)	 Before the policy expired in May 2022, they 
informed the provider about ongoing tests but had                                 
no definitive diagnosis.

d)	A Grade 3 Carcinoma diagnosis was confirmed in 
February 2023, after the policy had expired.

e)	The complainant sought payment of €11,647 
plus interest, arguing that delays in diagnosis                                
were beyond their control.

The service provider rejected the claim and argued:

a)	 The policy expired in May 2022 after its 18-year term 
and when the complainant reached age 65.

b)	When first contacted in March 2022, the complainant 
had no conclusive diagnosis or evidence of malignancy.

c)	 The provider advised the complainant to submit any 
test findings before policy expiry.

d)	The diagnosis was only confirmed in February 2023, 
nine months after policy expiry.

e)	The policy terms required claims to be made                
within the policy period.

f)	 Even if the policy had remained valid until December 
2022, the initial diagnosis would not have qualified 
since it was specifically excluded.

The Arbiter made these observations and considerations:

1.	The case centred on whether an insurer must 
pay a cancer-related claim when the condition 
scientifically existed during the policy period but was                  
diagnosed after expiry.
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2.	This differed from cases involving non-disclosure of 
pre-existing conditions since the issue was about 
timing of diagnosis and claim submission.

3.	The key consideration was whether the policy was 
“claims-based” or “occurrence-based”.

4.	A claims-based policy only covered claims made 
during the policy period; an occurrence-based policy 
covered events that occurred during the policy period, 
even if claimed later.

5.	The policy provision allowing late claims due to 
“practical difficulties” did not transform it into an 
occurrence-based policy.

6.	This provision was intended for situations where a 
valid diagnosis existed before expiry but practical 
circumstances prevented timely claim submission.

7.	The inability to submit a claim due to lack of 
diagnosis did not constitute “practical difficulties” as             
intended by the policy.

8.	In this case, the claim could not be made before 
expiry because diagnostic conditions necessary for 
a valid claim did not exist, not because of practical 
impediments to submission.

The Arbiter dismissed the complaint, ruling that 
each party should bear their own costs. However, 
understanding the unfortunate circumstances, the 
Arbiter recommended that the provider consider 
making an ex-gratia payment to the complainant,                             
though this was not binding.

The decision was not appealed. 

Travel insurance disputes: coverage 
for medical conditions and theft 
(ASF 058/2023, ASF 108/2023,                       
ASF 184/2023, ASF 001/2024)

Travel insurance, medical conditions, pre-existing 
conditions, urticaria, cancellation, theft, disclosure, 
reimbursement

Four separate complaints were lodged with the Arbiter 
for Financial Services on travel insurance claims. The 
complaints centred around rejection of claims by 
insurance providers for various reasons, including pre-
existing medical conditions, theft of personal belongings 
and cancellation of travel arrangements.

Summary of complaints

a)	 The first complainant sought compensation 
after a medical condition prevented travel to Sri 
Lanka and Turkey. The claim was rejected since 

the insurer deemed it a pre-existing condition                                                     
that was not disclosed.

b)	The second complainant requested reimbursement 
for hotel costs and parking fees after cancelling their 
trip due to illness. The insurer declined, based on 
policy terms being updated.

c)	 The third complainant claimed compensation for a 
travel insurance policy after varicose veins prevented 
travel. The claim was rejected since the insurer 
considered it a pre-existing condition.

d)	The fourth complainant sought reimbursement 
for stolen items including cash and electronics 
from a retail store. The claim was rejected due to                        
items being left unattended.

Service providers’ responses

The insurance providers defended their positions 
primarily on grounds of policy terms and conditions. 
They cited specific exclusions, failure to disclose 
material information, breach of policy conditions on 
supervision of belongings and updates to policy terms 
as justification for rejecting the claims.

Key points raised by these providers:

•	 non-disclosure of pre-existing medical conditions;

•	 breach of policy conditions on the supervision of    
valuables;

•	 updated policy terms excluding certain types of claims;

•	 lack of evidence to support claims; and

•	 misrepresentation of facts.

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter examined each case individually while 
noting common themes around disclosure obligations, 
interpretation of policy terms and reasonableness 
of claim rejections. Several key principles                                                
emerged across the decisions.

In examining pre-existing medical conditions, the Arbiter 
focused on whether conditions were serious enough 
to warrant disclosure and whether complainants could 
reasonably have known they had to disclose them. For 
the urticaria case, the frequency of medical consultations 
and escalating nature of treatment indicated a serious 
condition that should have been disclosed.

Regarding theft claims, the Arbiter considered whether 
items were genuinely “unattended”, as defined by policy 
terms. CCTV evidence showed the complainant had 
moved away from their belongings, constituting a breach 
of policy conditions requiring  reasonable care of valuables.
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The Arbiter emphasised the principle of “utmost good 
faith” in insurance contracts, requiring full disclosure 
of material facts. This was particularly relevant where 
medical conditions had required multiple consultations 
or ongoing treatment prior to policy purchase.

Evidence played a crucial role in the decisions. Medical 
records, police reports and CCTV footage were carefully 
examined to establish facts. The Arbiter noted that 
burden of proof lay with complainants to demonstrate 
their claims fell within policy coverage.

Policy wording and timing were significant factors. In 
one case, differing French and English versions of policy 
terms created confusion, but the Arbiter determined the 
version in effect at time of purchase was controlling.

The Arbiter considered whether insurance providers’ 
interpretations of policy terms were reasonable and 
whether exclusions were clearly communicated to 
policyholders at time of purchase.

Remedies awarded

The theft claim was rejected since the Arbiter 
found a clear breach of policy conditions on the                                   
supervision of valuables.

For the urticaria case, the claim was rejected 
since medical evidence showed the condition 
was serious enough to warrant disclosure when                                                             
purchasing the policy.

In the case involving differing language versions of policy 
terms, the Arbiter recommended but did not order an 
ex-gratia payment of €780 while upholding the technical 
grounds for claim rejection.

The three decisions above were not appealed. 

In the varicose veins case, the Arbiter ordered 
compensation of €1,029 plus interest, finding the 
provider had not justified rejection based on pre-existing 
conditions. The decision was confirmed on appeal.

Disputes on life policy estimated 
values (ASF 004/2024, ASF 011/2023,                     

ASF 013/2024, ASF 049/2023 
& 050/2023, ASF 068/2022,                                               

ASF 074/2023, ASF 086/2024, 
ASF 087/2024, ASF 090/2024, 
ASF 102/2024, ASF 115/2024, 
ASF 123/2024, ASF 155/2023, 
ASF 188/2023, ASF 207/2023,                        

ASF 217/2023)

Quotation, estimated maturity value, reversionary 
bonus, terminal bonus, important notes, policy 
document, policy account, bonus statements, 
statutory notice

Many complaints arose from policyholders of life 
assurance policies, often described as having a savings or 
investment element. A central issue for the complainants 
was the amount declared on policy maturity compared 
to figures presented to them at the time of sale, often 
through quotations.

They argued that the values shown in these initial 
documents were implicitly or explicitly presented as 
guaranteed amounts they would receive after the policy 
term, which was typically 25 years. When the actual 
maturity value was significantly lower than these figures, 
they felt misled.

The specific issues raised by the complainants             
included that:

a)	 The figures provided in the quotations, particularly 
the estimated maturity value, were understood to be 
guaranteed amounts.

b)	The representative who sold the policy promised 
a specific sum on maturity, often based on the 
estimated figures presented in the quotation.

c)	 They did not fully understand that the quoted 
figures were estimates and could fluctuate based 
on investment performance. Some complainants 
stated they could not read or did not read the policy 
documents or accompanying notes carefully.

d)	Important information on the non-guaranteed 
nature of the bonuses and maturity values was not 
adequately explained to them verbally.

e)	The remedy requested by the complainants was often 
payment of the difference between the estimated 
maturity value shown in the initial quotation (often 
the higher figure if multiple scenarios were presented) 
and the actual amount received upon maturity.
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Financial services provider’s responses

The provider consistently maintained that the claims 
were unfounded, asserting that sufficient information 
about the policy and its potential returns was provided 
to the complainants at all stages: at the time of issuing 
quotations, when the policy document was issued and 
throughout the policy’s duration.

A key argument was that the figures presented in the 
initial quotations were explicitly stated as “estimates” or 
“illustrations” and were not guarantees. The quotations 
themselves, and importantly the accompanying 
“Important Notes” and “Product Information” documents, 
clarified that the estimated values were based on past or 
current bonus rates, which could change depending on 
the performance of the underlying investments.

The provider also emphasised that the policy document 
contained the legally binding terms and conditions, and, 
in case of conflict with the quotation or notes, the policy 
document would prevail. Furthermore, they highlighted 
that complainants received annual bonus statements, 
media releases and sometimes revised illustrative values 
on request, which provided updates on the policy’s 
performance and projected future values, indicating 
that the initial estimates were likely to vary.

The provider also noted that complainants had signed 
various documents, including the Statutory Notice, 
which informed them of a 15-day cooling-off period 
after receiving the policy document, during which they 
could have cancelled the policy and received a full 
refund if they were not satisfied.

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter considered the documentation provided to 
the complainants at the point of sale and throughout the 
policy term, noting the provider’s argument that these 
documents clearly distinguished between guaranteed 
amounts and estimated or illustrative values. The 
Arbiter observed that the quotations themselves often 
contained wording indicating they were for “illustration 
only” and did not confer any rights or used terms like 
“Estimated Maturity Value”.

The accompanying Important Notes typically explained 
the nature of bonuses (reversionary and terminal) 
and clarified that bonus rates could go up or down 
based on investment performance. It was also noted 
that the policy document was the definitive contract            
governing the benefits.

The Arbiter acknowledged that complainants often 
stated they relied on the representative’s verbal 
explanations and did not fully understand the written 
documentation, or that the representative had         
promised specific amounts. 

In most cases the Arbiter remarked that it was difficult 

to decide whether it was a case of selective memory on 
the part of the complainant or aggressive sales tactics 
by the representative concerned in emphasising the 
benefits of the policy without making a clear distinction 
between what was estimated and what was guaranteed. 

However, the Arbiter also noted that, in many cases, 
the complainants signed documents confirming that 
they had read and understood the Important Notes 
and were satisfied with the policy and its explanation. 
Some complainants even admitted seeing or asking                 
about the word “estimate”.

The Arbiter also considered the actual performance of 
the policies. In all cases, policyholders received positive 
returns on their investments (typically around 3-3.5%), 
which the Arbiter deemed reasonable given the risk-free 
nature of the product and market conditions during the 
policy terms. Additionally, policyholders had benefited 
from life cover protection from day one of their policies.

Remedy

In cases where during the onboarding process the sales 
representative quoted only one scenario estimate (as was 
the case with most policies issued until the year 2000) 
the Arbiter gave limited compensation arguing that the 
provider should have quoted a range of scenarios to 
make it easier for the policy holder to understand that 
quotes were estimates and not guarantees, The Arbiter’s 
limited compensation also took into consideration that 
the complainants had signed documents to acknowledge 
that figures were an estimate and that it was practically 
impossible for anyone to guarantee a quote that involved 
a very long-term realisation time span. 

In some cases, the Arbiter noted that the complainant 
was clearly aware of the type of policy offered, including 
its life cover and investment elements. Although the 
complainant’s main complaint was the “unacceptable 
variation” between the estimated and actual maturity 
value, they confirmed awareness that the estimated 
value was not guaranteed.

A key distinction in reasoning emerged in cases 
regarding policies sold before and after the year 
2000. The Arbiter noted that, after 2000, quotations 
started presenting three scenarios instead of just 
one, which was considered essential in helping clients 
understand that nothing was guaranteed for the entire 
25-year term. Consequently, no compensation was                                                              
awarded in these cases.
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Investments Cases

This section presents case summaries of investments-related decisions that illustrate core legal and 
factual questions arising from individual and grouped complaints. The summaries address various 
concerns, including suitability and appropriateness of financial advice, service failures, disputed losses, 
contract terms, missed expectations, regulatory obligations and questions of jurisdiction. Both stand-
alone cases and ‘group’ case summaries –where multiple disputes shared similar facts or legal issues 
– are included. The decisions cover a spectrum from straightforward mis-selling and procedural failings 
to more complex scenarios involving evolving areas such as crypto assets, as well as cases resolved on 
procedural grounds, such as time-barring or lack of regulatory authorisation.

Securitisation vehicle not a financial 
services provider (ASF 205/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (COMPETENCE)

Securitisation vehicle, eligible customer, MFSA 
notification, regulatory authority, competence

A complaint was filed against a two-tier 
securitisation vehicle on alleged mismanagement 
during the liquidation of financial instruments held                                                                                 
in a specified compartment.

a)	 The complainant alleged she was an 
investor in a structure referred to as a                                                                                           
“two-tier securitisation vehicle”.

b)	By notice dated 28 June 2018, the service provider 
informed investors that it initiated liquidation of 
investments in Compartment 19 and, consequently, 
would also liquidate assets in Compartment 11.

c)	 Although the liquidation was expected to be finalised 
in 2019, it was only concluded in March 2020.

d)	The complainant stated that the expected value 
of each share on liquidation was initially declared 
at €1,674, but subsequently decreased to 
€1,549, then €1,240, €825 and, finally, €501.34,                                               
without any reasonable justification.

e)	According to a report commissioned by an 
audit firm, the value should have been around                                      
€1,875.26 per share.

f)	 The complainant claimed that, despite 
requests by her and fellow investors for 
information about the calculation methodology,                                                                                           
no explanation was provided.

g)	She alleged that several unauthorised transactions 

occurred, with fees and substantial amounts paid 
without basis to benefit the service provider, related 
entities and unknown third parties.

h)	The complainant requested the Arbiter to declare 
the service provider responsible for damages 
suffered due to devaluation of her assets, liquidate 
the damage suffered (€46,713.28) and order the                                
provider to pay this sum.

The service provider in their reply maintained that it was 
not a financial services provider as defined in the Act 
and that the complainant was not its client.

a)	 The service provider clarified it was not licensed 
or authorised by the Malta Financial Services 
Authority, and had never provided financial services                                    
in Malta or elsewhere.

b)	It explained it was a securitisation special purpose 
vehicle established under the Securitisation Act 
in Malta solely to issue asset-backed securities to 
professional investors, with no employees beyond its 
board of directors.

c)	 The service provider stated it had stopped operations 
in March 2020 after the redemption of the last 
outstanding asset-backed security, having ceased 
issuing securities in 2018.

d)	The service provider explained that, while operating, 
it offered licensed asset managers the ability to 
repackage their investment strategies into asset-
backed securities for professional investors.

e)	The securities subject to the complaint were 
originally structured for a specific financial group, 
which the service provider later terminated relations 
with after discovering misconduct, including 
allocation of securities meant for professional                                          
investors to retail investors.

f)	 The service provider denied ever publishing an 
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“expected” amount for the liquidation value, 
stating it would not have made sense to estimate                            
values for defaulted bonds.

g)	 It rejected that any investor had formally requested 
information about calculation of the redemption 
amount, contradicting the complainant’s claim.

h)	The service provider categorically rejected 
any wrongdoing, stating all transactions were 
duly authorised by its board and complied                                                
with terms and conditions.

i)	 The service provider suggested the complainant was 
a wealth management client of a third party who 
misled her to deflect from their own misconduct.

The Arbiter made the following observations on his 
competence to hear the case:

1.	The service provider contested the Arbiter’s 
competence on two grounds: that it was not a 
financial services provider; and that the complainant 
was not an eligible customer.

2.	The Act requires proceedings before the Arbiter to 
be made against a financial services provider, defined 
as “a provider of financial services which is or has 
been licensed or otherwise authorised by the Malta 
Financial Services Authority”.

3.	This definition consists of two limbs: the provider 
must have been licensed or authorised by the MFSA, 
and the service must relate to specified financial 
activities or “any other service which in the opinion 
of the Arbiter constitutes a financial service”.

4.	The operative part of this definition is that the service 
provider must have been licensed or otherwise 
authorised by the MFSA to provide financial services.

5.	The Arbiter noted that MFSA licence or authorisation 
is a sine qua non for jurisdiction, and the definition 
should be interpreted holistically considering the 
financial services sector’s regulatory framework.

6.	The MFSA Act distinguishes between licences/
authorisations and supervisory functions, with the 
definition of “person” including entities holding 
licences or falling under MFSA’s supervisory authority.

7.	The Arbiter determined that the Act was not intended 
to apply to persons who fall only within MFSA’s 
supervisory or regulatory purview without being 
licensed or otherwise authorised.

8.	Article 5 of the Securitisation Act explicitly states that 
securitisation vehicles “shall not be required to obtain 
any licence, permit or authorisation other than as 
provided in this Act”, with Article 19(2) requiring only 
public securitisation vehicles to apply for licences.

9.	The Arbiter observed that securitisation vehicles 
not offering services to the general public are 
authorised by operation of law, not by MFSA                                       
permission or tacit authorisation.

10.	 The registration document issued by the service     
provider confirmed it “does not currently require a 
domestic licence or other authorisation to conduct 
business as a securitisation vehicle in or from Malta”, 
though it had notified the MFSA of its operations.

11.	 The Arbiter concluded that the service provider was 
not a financial services provider within the meaning 
of the Act, since it merely notified the MFSA of its 
operations and fell under regulatory supervision 
without requiring licence or authorisation.

12.	 Given this finding, the Arbiter determined that 
the complainant could not be an eligible customer 
as defined in the Act, since this status requires a 
relationship with a financial services provider.

The Arbiter decided that he lacked competence to hear 
the case and closed it without entering into its merits. 
This was without prejudice to the complainant’s rights 
to pursue her complaint in a court or tribunal not 
constrained by the competence provisions of the Act. 

The decision was not appealed.

CFD trading losses case (ASF 022/2024)

COMPLAINT PARTIALLY UPHELD

Discretionary portfolio management, Contracts for 
Differences (CFDs), high-frequency trading, conflict 
of interest, commission charges, risk profile

A complaint was filed against an investment firm 
related to losses of €50,000 in a managed trading 
account through high-frequency Contract for 
Differences (CFDs) trading over less than three months. 
The complainant requested compensation for the                                                                            
full amount lost, claiming:

a)	 The process of opening the trading account lacked 
transparency, particularly on costs applicable to 
trades and their implications.

b)	He was told the broker only earned from his profits 
without conflict of interest, but the commissions 
undermined this balance of interests.

c)	 The broker kept €36,000 in commissions from the 
amount lost, with rates increased by 600% shortly 
after contract signing.

d)	He was taken advantage of due to his lack of knowledge 
about unsustainable commission fees and deceived 
into signing for the fee increase.
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e)	He was misled to invest a minimum of €50,000 when 
there was no such requirement.

f)	 He was not informed that a person he was interacting 
with was an introducer/agent for the service provider.

g)	The service provider’s agent deceitfully convinced 
him not to withdraw money from his account.

h)	He was pressured to sign for a higher-risk strategy 
after losing over €30,000.

The service provider rejected the complaint as 
unfounded while expressing sympathy for the outcome. 
The provider stated:

a)	 The complainant had developed a personal bond 
with the referral agent, whose relationship with 
the provider was limited to introducing prospective 
clients, with no investment advice provided.

b)	The complainant formally confirmed his understanding 
of this through the Customer Agreement.

c)	 The referral agent was registered with the company 
after the complainant had been onboarded, and this 
relationship was later terminated due to infringement.

d)	The complainant disclosed he was a sufficiently 
experienced investor when registering                                             
with the provider.

e)	Communications between the complainant 
and the referral agent showed the complainant 
was knowledgeable about commissions                                                          
and trading terminology.

f)	 The complainant never contacted the provider 
for guidance despite receiving daily trading                              
reports and statements.

g)	The portfolio initially generated a positive return 
of 3.65% within the first month and a half,                                       
net of increased commissions.

h)	The commissions were not applied universally but 
limited to transactions within main market indices, 
with the increase occurring because the provider did 
not offer mini-CFD contracts as initially expected.

i)	 The complainant possessed the experience to 
understand the high-risk nature of CFD trading and 
contractually accepted the risks of losing part or all of 
his trading capital.

The Arbiter made the following observations:

1.	The complainant was fully aware of the high 
risks in CFD trading, and when deciding to enter 
a high-risk investment expecting a 3% monthly 
return, he must have been aware of significant                                                    
potential capital loss risks.

2.	The investment was undertaken during high 
geopolitical uncertainty with the Ukraine war, 
which led to sharp inflation increases and sudden               
interest rate reversals.

3.	ESMA, as the EU’s financial markets regulator, had 
established measures for CFDs, including margin 
close-out protection, requiring providers to close 
positions when margins fall below 50% of minimum 
required initial margin.

4.	The provider appeared to maintain that this obligation 
was more flexible for discretionary mandates, 
allowing them to obtain the complainant’s written 
agreement to continue positions by raising his risk 
profile to 100% loss of capital.

5.	The complainant’s profile showed limitations in his 
experience and knowledge: secondary education 
level, limited investment experience and declaring 
himself not as “an experienced private investor”.

6.	His experience in CFDs was limited to “2 years or 
less”, and he had never invested in forex or derivative 
instruments related to forex.

7.	The complainant had invested the bulk (€50,000) 
of his total investment portfolio (€56,000) in this 
managed account, and initially indicated that a 
30% reduction in value would materially impact his 
standard of living.

8.	The role of the referral agent raised doubts about 
whether the provider should have accepted the 
complainant’s choices to increase risk exposure 
without suspecting the agent was operating             
beyond permitted rules.

9.	Despite knowing that the relationship with the 
referral agent should have been limited to introducing 
prospective clients, the provider discussed the client’s 
account with this agent.

10.	 The complainant’s high-frequency trading absorbed 
over €30,000 in charges, which together with 
market movement losses resulted in the portfolio 
being wiped out by November 2022.

11.	 The payment structure for the consultant who 
provided trading signals created an inherent conflict 
of interest, since he gained from high-frequency 
trading even if not in the client’s interest.

12.	 While no evidence showed the high-frequency 
trading was motivated by conflict of interest, the 
client was not sufficiently informed about the 
inherent conflict and risks involved.

The Arbiter dismissed the request for full compensation 
but ordered the service provider to pay €23,000 with 
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interest at 4.25% p.a. from the date of the decision 
until payment. This was due to the provider’s failures 
to inform the client about the risks of high-frequency 
trading and disclose the inherent conflict-of-interest 
risks resulting from the consultant’s remuneration terms; 
and close out positions at the 50% loss cap, in apparent 
conflict with ESMA’s product intervention measures, 
while raising the risk profile from 50% to 100% loss with                  
inadequate suitability assessment.

The Arbiter also requested the provider to renegotiate 
its consultancy agreement to eliminate the inherent 
conflict of interest by excluding brokerage fees from the 
definition of gross revenues paid to the consultant. If 
renegotiation proved impossible, affected clients should 
be formally informed about this conflict of interest.

The decision was appealed by the financial services 
provider but was then withdrawn. 

Trading platform accessibility and 
portfolio losses (ASF 211/2023)

COMPLAINT PARTIALLY UPHELD

Portfolio value, trading access, market loss, platform 
availability, transfer fees, rebranding

The complainant brought a case against an investment 
services provider on alleged losses due to issues accessing 
their trading platform and requested compensation for 
the losses, along with additional remedies.

The complainant alleged that:

a)	 Due to problems accessing the trading platform, 
which was later rebranded, he lost €34,000                                     
of his portfolio investment.

b)	The service provider denied his request to transfer 
his portfolio to a third-party broker, citing the need 
to clear his balance and pay transfer fees before 
executing the transfer.

c)	 The provider could have liquidated part of his 
investments to clear the debt and then transfer            
the remaining portfolio.

d)	The provider had changed statements, terms and 
conditions, fees and their platform without proper 
notification as required under their terms.

The complainant sought compensation of €34,000 for 
losses, unquantified interest on his capital, transfer of 
his portfolio without costs and compensation for 100 
hours spent dealing with the issue.

The service provider responded with                                                                    
the following points:

a)	 The complainant had and continued to have regular 
access to their online trading platform and execution 
services in line with their terms and conditions.

b)	The app was withdrawn from app stores in 
France in line with their Anti-Money Laundering 
policy, but trading through their website was                                                   
never withdrawn or suspended.

c)	 The complainant had continued to trade 
extensively on his account, despite claiming                                              
interruption of service.

d)	The complainant refused to settle the outstanding 
debit balance before transferring his portfolio, though 
he agreed to pay the transfer fee.

e)	All fees and charges were disclosed at onboarding 
and were transparently available on their website.

The Arbiter for Financial Services made                                                        
the following observations:

1.	There were substantial gaps in the credibility of the 
complainant’s case, noting that his initial complaint 
to the service provider only concerned charges 
required before the portfolio transfer and never 
mentioned the €34,000 loss claim, interest claim                                               
or compensation for time spent.

2.	The Arbiter identified inconsistencies in the 
complainant’s claims. In his complaint, he stated the 
provider could have withheld part of his securities 
to cover the debit balance and transfer fee, but 
in a separate email to the Office of the Arbiter for 
Financial Services, he insisted on “a total and integral 
transfer” of his portfolio.

3.	The complainant was inconsistent regarding 
the amount originally transferred to the service 
provider, citing different figures in various 
communications: €95,000 in the first hearing, a 
combination of cash (€2,200) and portfolio value 
(€71,000) totalling US$95,880 in a later email, and                                                     
€90,000 in his final submissions.

4.	The claimed portfolio loss of €34,000 was 
not supported by credible evidence showing 
it resulted from inability to trade rather than 
normal portfolio trading losses. The complainant’s 
statements about whether this figure included                                                            
unrealised losses were contradictory.

5.	The complainant claimed the €34,000 loss resulted 
from inability to trade regularly from April 2022, 
but valuation statements showed the portfolio was 
already down to €34,319 by 1 April 2022, indicating 
substantial losses had occurred before the alleged 
access issues began.

6.	No evidence was provided to support the claimed 
compensation for interest or for the 100 hours 
allegedly spent resolving the issue.
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7.	During the period when the complainant claimed to 
have lost access (April-December 2022), he executed 
eight trades on seven different dates, undermining 
his claim that he was prevented from trading. The 
Arbiter found it likely that reduced trading volume 
resulted from previously incurred losses that reduced 
the portfolio size rather than accessibility issues.

8.	The service provider stated under oath that they did 
not encounter any instance where the complainant 
wanted to close a position but couldn’t trade, 
noting they would have executed these transactions 
telephonically, if requested.

The Arbiter concluded that the complaint was merely an 
effort to recover trading losses by exaggerating service 
quality issues. He dismissed the claims for €34,000 
in losses, interest and compensation for 100 hours. 
However, he partially accepted the claim regarding the 
portfolio transfer, ruling that the complainant should 
not have to pay the debit charges outstanding on his 
account, giving him the benefit of the doubt that 
changes related to these charges were not properly 
notified to him.

The complainant was still required to pay the €175 
fee related to the portfolio transfer, which the service 
provider maintained had not changed since the account 
was opened. Each party was ordered to bear its own 
costs of the proceedings.

The decision was not appealed.

Investment growth and return 
expectations (ASF 197/2023)

COMPLAINT UPHELD

Investment, capital, distribution payments, growth 
element, surrender penalties, expectations

The complaint against a financial services provider was 
related to an investment product. The complaint stated:

a)	 The complainant invested €60,000 in December 2017 
and claimed they were assured that the capital would 
remain intact, even though there was an agreement 
that they would receive 5% each year.

b)	They requested payments of €1,500 every six months, 
representing 5% annually on the invested capital.

c)	 Between March 2021 and December 2022, the 
complainant withdrew three separate amounts 
of €10,000 each from the capital, reducing the 
investment to €30,000.

d)	The complainant incurred surrender penalties totalling 
approximately €825 for these early withdrawals.

e)	The investment was misrepresented and mis-sold 
to them, since they later realised that a significant 
portion of the regular payments came from the capital 
rather than representing profits.

f)	 As a remedy, the complainant sought compensation 
of €5,000 for the mis-sold investment, claiming 
that the disadvantages were not highlighted and 
they were made to believe the investment was                        
something it was not.

The service provider rejected the complaint                         
entirely in its response:

a)	 It described the complaint as baseless in fact 
and law, stating the complainant had received 
payments as agreed and had not incurred                                                                            
any loss on the investment.

b)	The provider denied any mis-selling                                                                  
or misrepresentation.

c)	 It characterised the complaint as frivolous and 
vexatious, noting that the complainant had received a 
total sum of €66,160.29 on an investment of €60,000, 
thus making a profit despite withdrawing much of her 
capital before the investment matured.

The Arbiter made the following observations:

1.	The complaint did not concern the suitability of the 
investment for the complainant’s risk profile or any 
loss incurred. In fact, it was undisputed that the 
investment yielded a net profit of €6,160.29.

2.	The complaint was not about the significant expenses 
involved in the investment, though there was no 
evidence these had been properly explained when 
the investment was made.

3.	The core issue was the complainant’s expectation 
that all the money she received regularly according to 
the original agreement was profit, and therefore the 
capital should have remained intact.

4.	The Arbiter found it difficult to accept this 
expectation as reasonable. When directly asked if 
they had questioned why they continued receiving 
the same amount despite withdrawing from the 
capital, the complainant admitted they had not 
made a complaint about this because they did not                                    
understand these matters.

5.	The service provider’s representative testified 
that she had telephone conversations with the 
complainant whenever they wanted to withdraw 
capital, especially during the first five years, informing 
them of the associated costs.

6.	When analysing the figures, the Arbiter determined 
that, over the investment period of approximately 
5.61 years, the average capital invested (after 
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accounting for partial withdrawals) was €51,741. This 
yielded a return of 2.12% per annum, while expenses 
amounted to 2.17% per annum.

7.	For the complainant to receive 5% profit annually, 
the investment would have needed to yield a return 
of 7.17% to cover the fund’s expenses. According 
to the provider’s own documentation, this was 
quite an aggressive estimate. The expected growth 
rates indicated in the document showed an average 
expected profit before expenses of about 5.73%, 
approximately 1.44% less than the 7.17% growth 
needed for a 5% distribution after expenses without 
touching the capital.

8.	While the complaint was not specifically about 
these charges, it was clear that the complainant’s 
expectation, encouraged by the service provider, to 
receive at least 5% on the average invested capital 
was not met because of these charges.

9.	The Arbiter concluded it was not prudent for the 
service provider to create an expectation of a 5% 
annual return when this would require a return of 
more than 7% on the invested fund before charges.

The Arbiter determined that the complaint had merit 
because the service provider had helped the complainant 
build unrealistic expectations about the recommended 
investment returns. The discrepancy was calculated at 
1.44% on the average invested capital of €51,741.

However, the Arbiter decided to order a lower 
compensation because it was not a realistic expectation 
for the complainant to think there would be no expenses 
at all. Products like these typically have initial expenses 
varying between 2% and 4%, so taking an average of 3% 
and dividing it over 5.6137 years resulted in a 0.53% 
reduction from the previously indicated discrepancy of 
1.44%, bringing it down to 0.91%.

For these reasons, the Arbiter ordered the service 
provider to pay the complainant compensation of 0.91% 
on the average capital of €51,741 invested for 5.6137 
years, amounting to €2,643, plus interest at the rate of 
4.50% per annum, from the date of the decision until 
the date of effective payment. All costs were to be                     
borne by the provider.

The decision was confirmed on appeal.  

	

Unsuitable investment sale to an elderly 
customer (ASF 009/2024)

COMPLAINT UPHELD

Equity funds, appropriateness test, suitability 
report, investment risk, profile assessment, 
vulnerable client

The case concerned a complaint against a bank 
about investment losses suffered on three separate 
investments made between 2017 and 2021. The 
complainant sought compensation for capital losses 
incurred from these investments.

The complainant claimed:

a)	 She was 77 years old, had minimal education (only 
attending primary school until age 14), was unable to 
read English and could hardly read Maltese.

b)	She had no experience in financial investments 
prior to opening an account with the provider                                                  
in December 2017.

c)	 She had previously only held fixed deposits with the 
money her husband gave her.

d)	The provider persuaded her to invest €50,000 in 
December 2017, €30,000 in April 2018 and €82,000 
in January 2021.

e)	Despite failing the Appropriateness Test for 
the first investment, the provider proceeded                                                 
with the transaction.

f)	 The information recorded in the Appropriateness 
Test was incorrect, including false claims 
about her education level, financial knowledge                                                   
and professional experience.

g)	When selling the investments in October 2023, 
she suffered a capital loss of €20,378, which she 
demanded the provider reimburse.

The financial services provider rejected the                   
complaint, stating that:

a)	 The allegations were unfounded, abusive,                
malicious and irresponsible.

b)	The complainant was always accompanied by her 
husband during meetings.

c)	 The complainant had signed all documentation, 
including risk warnings. 

d)	The first two investments were sold for                                       
profit in January 2021.
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e)	The third investment was properly assessed and 
suitable for her risk profile.

f)	 The complainant decided to sell the 
investments against the provider’s advice                                                                             
during a market downturn.

g)	Had the complainant followed their advice to hold 
the investments longer, a significant portion of the 
losses would have already been recovered.

The Arbiter made the following observations:

1.	The case involved three investments: two 
that generated profits when sold in January 
2021 and a third that resulted in a loss when                                                              
sold in October 2023.

2.	For the first investment, in December 2017, the 
provider used an Execution Only approach with an 
Appropriateness Test, which the complainant failed. 
Despite this failure, the transaction proceeded with 
a risk warning that the complainant signed. Given 
that the share split was mandatory and not optional, 
the only real choice the complainant had to avoid 
paying tax on the share split was to sell the shares 
before the ex-dividend date, which appears to have                        
been 27 September 2021.

3.	The Arbiter found it difficult to believe that someone 
who could barely read, had no education beyond 
primary school and no investment experience 
could have provided the responses recorded                                            
in the Appropriateness Test.

4.	The Appropriateness Test questionnaire categorised 
the complainant as having managerial-level 
professional experience because she was a director 
in her husband’s company, though evidence showed 
she performed no managerial functions.

5.	For the second investment in April 2018, a Suitability 
Report was used instead of an Appropriateness Test, 
despite no change in circumstances. The Arbiter 
noted inconsistencies between the first and second 
questionnaires completed just months apart.

6.	The third investment, in January 2021, was made using 
funds from the first two investments. Although the 
Suitability Report again categorised the complainant 
as having a “Balanced” risk profile, surprisingly all 
funds were invested in equity-only products.

7.	The Arbiter questioned how a 75-year-old person with 
no education, no financial experience, who had failed 
an Appropriateness Test, could be considered suitable 
for investing nearly €80,000 with approximately half 
in equities under a “balanced” risk profile.

8.	The provider failed to present evidence supporting its 
claim that the €80,000 investment represented only 
15% of the complainant’s total assets of between 
€500,000 and €750,000.

9.	Despite categorising the complainant as having a 
“balanced” risk profile, the provider invested 100% 
of her funds in equities rather than the typical 50:50 
split between equities and fixed income expected for 
a balanced portfolio.

10.	 The Arbiter concluded that the provider did not 
follow investment regulations and the Code of 
Conduct issued by the Malta Financial Services 
Authority in any of the three investments, and none 
were appropriate or suitable for the complainant.

The Arbiter determined that, regardless of whether 
profits were made on the first two investments, the 
argument that experience from the first two investments 
enabled the complainant to handle the risk of the third 
investment was rejected, as was the argument that the 
complainant caused her own losses by selling at an 
inopportune time against the provider’s advice.

The Arbiter ordered the provider to pay compensation 
of €15,264.31, calculated by considering the total 
investment amounts minus both the profits withdrawn 
and the liquidation amount received from the third 
investment. Additionally, the provider was ordered to 
pay interest at a rate of 4.25% per annum from the 
date of the decision until effective payment, as well as 
interest equivalent to what the provider paid on one-
year fixed deposits during the relevant period on the 
initial investments. All costs of the proceedings were to 
be borne by the provider.

The decision was substantially confirmed on appeal, 
except for the amount of compensation. 

Share purchase dispute over price limit 
(ASF 086/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Reverse stock split, price limit, execution order, 
averaging down, contract note, retail investor

This case involved a dispute about an online share 
purchase order that was affected by a corporate action. 
The complainant filed their grievance on 12 July 2023 
regarding a trade executed on 24 May 2023.

The complaint centred on the following points:

a)	 The complainant placed an online share purchase 
order for 4,700 shares in a company at a price 
limit of US$0.28 per share, with an expected total                  
outlay of US$1,316.

b)	The order was meant to average down the 
complainant’s existing position in the same shares 
where they were incurring losses.
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c)	 The complainant received a contract note showing 
the purchase of 4,700 shares at US$4.26, which was 
significantly above their stated price limit.

d)	The transaction resulted in a debit balance in the 
complainant’s account, which they maintained should 
not have been possible.

e)	Following the complainant’s enquiry, they received 
another contract note showing the sale of 4,389 
shares at US$3.53 per share.

f)	 The complainant sought compensation of US$18,706 
for the lost opportunity to have the order executed at 
their set price limit.

The service provider presented their position 
through written submissions and during hearings.                                         
Their response highlighted:

a)	 The issuer of the security had announced a 1:15 
reverse stock split effective from market opening on 
24 May 2023.

b)	The order was placed without a price limit 
and was executed at the best market price of                                  
US$4.2634 per share.

c)	 Their system allowed the order despite insufficient 
funds because it calculated costs based on the 
previous day’s closing price.

d)	They calculated that the client’s intention 
was to buy 311 post-reverse split shares,                                                           
considering the 15:1 consolidation.

e)	They sold the excess shares at market price and 
absorbed any resulting losses.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1.	The primary issue was whether there was a 
market opportunity for the order to be executed                                        
at US$0.28 per share.

2.	The service provider presented clear evidence that 
the reverse stock split took effect at market opening, 
making it impossible to purchase shares at the 
complainant’s claimed limit price.

3.	The expected profit claimed as compensation could 
not have materialised even if the order had included 
the price limit.

4.	Whether the order was placed with a price limit or 
at market price became largely irrelevant since both 
scenarios would have involved similar amounts: 

     - 4,700 shares at US$0.28 = US$1,316; and

    - 311 shares at US$4.2634 = US$1,326.

5.	Both scenarios would have achieved the complainant’s 
objective of averaging down their existing position.

6.	The service provider had already absorbed the losses 
from selling the excess shares at a lower market price.

7.	The complainant’s interests were not prejudiced, even 
assuming their order included a price limit.

The Arbiter dismissed the complaint, finding that the 
complainant sought compensation for a theoretical 
profit that could not have materialised due to the reverse 
stock split being effective at market opening. Each party 
was ordered to bear their own costs of the proceedings.

The decision was confirmed on appeal. 

Prescription claims upheld in bond 
investment complaints (ASF 069/2023, 

ASF 128/2023, ASF 186/2024)

Bonds, investments, prescription, restructuring, 
default, market value, maturity date, time-barred

Three separate complaints were filed with the Arbiter for 
Financial Services on losses suffered from investments 
in bonds. The complainants claimed they were misled 
about the risks involved and sought compensation for 
their losses. The cases shared similar characteristics on 
prescription arguments raised by the service provider.

Summary of complaints

a)	 The complainants invested in bonds that significantly 
declined in value.

b)	 They alleged they were not properly informed       
about the risks.

c)	 They claimed they were repeatedly assured by 
representatives that the situation would improve.

d)	 They argued they were misled about the true status 
of their investments.

e)	 They sought refunds of their capital investments 
ranging from approximately €9,000 to €15,000.

Service provider’s response

The financial services provider primarily argued that the 
complaints were time-barred under Article 21 of the Act. 
They contended that the complainants had knowledge 
of their grievances years before filing their complaints, 
as evidenced by correspondence and market valuations 
showing significant losses.

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter examined the prescription argument raised 
by the service provider as a preliminary issue before 
considering the merits of the cases. The key question was 
whether the complaints were filed within the two-year 
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period stipulated by law from when the complainants 
first became aware of the matters being complained 
about.

The evidence showed that, in all three cases, the 
complainants were aware of significant problems with 
their investments as early as 2015-2016. Regular 
portfolio valuations clearly demonstrated the declining 
values. In one case, the bond’s market value had 
decreased by over 73% within eight months of purchase. 
By 2016, some bonds had defaulted and undergone 
forced restructuring, with nominal values reduced to as 
low as 28% of the original investment.

While the complainants argued they delayed filing 
formal complaints because they were repeatedly 
assured the situation would improve, the Arbiter found 
this argument unconvincing. The documented losses 
and restructuring of the bonds provided clear evidence 
that the complainants had knowledge of their grievances 
well before filing their complaints in 2022-2023.

The Arbiter particularly noted that, once bonds 
underwent forced restructuring with significantly 
reduced nominal values, it should have been apparent to 
the complainants that full recovery of their investment 
was highly improbable. The fact that some complainants 
had over 20 years of investment experience with high-
yield bonds further supported this conclusion.

Decision and remedy

In all three cases, the Arbiter upheld the prescription 
argument and declined jurisdiction to hear the complaints 
on their merits. The complaints were declared time-
barred under Article 21(1)(c) of the Act since they were 
filed more than two years after the complainants first 
became aware of their grievances.

In one case, however, the Arbiter made a recommendation 
that the service provider consider making an ex-gratia 
payment of not less than €500 to preserve a 25-year 
business relationship and acknowledge their failure 
to provide a formal response to the complaint when 
initially filed.

The costs in all cases were to be borne by the respective 
parties. None of the decisions were appealed. 

Crypto transfers, external wallets, 
and fraud prevention obligations 
(ASF 069/2024, ASF 077/2024, 
ASF 090/2023, ASF 106/2024, 

ASF 119/2023, ASF 156/2024, ASF 
214/2023)

Crypto assets, transaction monitoring, regulatory 
compliance, terms of use, consumer vulnerability, 
due diligence, jurisdictional competence, blockchain 
immutability

Complainants alleged losses from unauthorised 
or fraudulent transfers of crypto assets from their 
custodial wallets to external addresses. They argued 
the service provider failed to implement adequate fraud 
prevention measures, monitor transactions or comply 
with anti-money laundering (AML) obligations. Several 
highlighted the provider’s alleged negligence in not 
flagging high-risk transactions or verifying beneficiary 
wallet ownership. Remedies sought included full or 
partial reimbursement, citing the provider’s duty of care 
and regulatory shortcomings.

Summary of complaints

a)	 Complainants claimed transfers to external wallets 
linked to scams should have triggered alerts, 
given transaction frequency, size or beneficiary 
wallet reputation. One noted the provider’s 
customer service interactions failed to warn of                                     
risks (ASF 069/2024).

b)	 Multiple complainants argued the provider refused 
to co-operate with law enforcement or share 
wallet ownership data, hindering recovery efforts                
(ASF 119/2023, ASF 090/2023).

c)	 Some cited failures to adhere to FATF travel 
rule guidelines, which recommend collecting 
beneficiary information for transfers over €1,000                                 
(ASF 090/2023).

d)	 One case contested whether the Arbiter had 
competence, since transactions occurred via a 
platform operated by an entity outside Malta                
(ASF 077/2024).

e)	 In one case, a complainant sought the release of 
crypto assets after the provider froze their account 
and failed to transfer assets to the external wallet 
address provided (ASF 156/2024).

Service provider’s responses

The provider consistently asserted that users authorised 
all transactions, emphasising blockchain’s irreversibility 
and terms of use clauses absolving liability for third-
party fraud. It argued compliance with Maltese virtual 
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financial assets (VFA) regulations, which did not mandate 
identifying non-custodial wallet owners at the time. For 
jurisdictional challenges, it distinguished between its 
Maltese entity and affiliated foreign platforms, stating 
only the former fell under the Arbiter’s remit (ASF 
077/2024). In the account freezing case, the provider 
cited legal obligations preventing asset release but 
declined to specify details (ASF 156/2024).

Arbiter’s considerations

The Arbiter made various observations when                          
assessing these complaints.

The fundamental issue across most cases concerned 
transfers of digital assets from custodial wallets to 
external wallets that were allegedly controlled by 
fraudsters. In all cases, the transfers were made on the 
specific instructions of the complainants themselves. A 
critical distinction was drawn between custodial wallets 
(managed by the provider) and external or non-custodial 
wallets (outside the provider’s control), with the latter 
presenting significant regulatory challenges.

Regarding transaction monitoring obligations, the 
Arbiter noted that the regulatory framework applicable 
to VFA service providers differed substantially from 
that governing traditional financial institutions. The 
provider’s obligations under Maltese law were limited 
to executing user instructions, not assessing transaction 
legitimacy or conducting due diligence on external 
wallet beneficiaries. As stated in ASF 106/2024, “VFAA 
licence holders were not required to conduct due                                                    
diligence on unhosted wallets”.

The immutability of blockchain transactions was a 
recurring theme across decisions. Once finalised, crypto 
transactions could not be cancelled or reversed by the 
provider, a limitation explicitly acknowledged in its 
terms of use. As noted in ASF 069/2024, the provider 
processed “all Digital Asset Transfers according to the 
instructions received from you and does not guarantee 
the identity of any recipient”.

Concerning regulatory compliance, the Arbiter observed 
that FATF Recommendation 16 (the “travel rule”) was 
not yet binding law during the relevant periods. The 
obligation for VFA providers to identify external wallet 
beneficiaries would only enter into force in 2025 under 
EU Regulation 2023/1113. In ASF 090/2023, the 
Arbiter stated that Recommendation 16 “is, as titled, 
a recommendation. These are guidelines, rather than a 
regulation or a law.”

On jurisdictional matters, the Arbiter determined 
that complaints involving transactions on platforms 
operated by non-Maltese entities fell outside his                          
competence under the Act.

In ASF 077/2024, despite the complainant’s argument 
about integrated security measures across affiliated 

entities, the Arbiter concluded that distinct legal entities 
“based in different jurisdictions and subject to different 
conditions and legal frameworks... cannot justifiably 
and reasonably be treated as one”.

The Arbiter also considered consumer awareness and 
vulnerability. While acknowledging complainants’ 
unfamiliarity with crypto risks, the decisions emphasised 
that individuals venturing into this “highly speculative 
and risky market” needed to be “highly conscious of 
the potential lack of, or lesser, consumer protection 
measures” compared to traditional financial services. 
Multiple decisions noted that EU regulatory bodies had 
issued warnings about crypto risks over the years.

In the account freezing case (ASF 156/2024), the 
Arbiter accepted the provider’s assertion that 
legal obligations prevented asset release, despite                                                            
the lack of specific details. 

Remedies and outcomes

The Arbiter dismissed most complaints, finding 
insufficient evidence that the provider failed to 
meet its regulatory obligations or terms of service. In 
cases involving alleged fraud (ASF 106/2024, ASF 
069/2024, ASF 090/2023, ASF 119/2023), the Arbiter 
sympathised with complainants but concluded that 
the provider could not be held liable for transactions                  
authorised by users themselves. 

In the jurisdictional dispute (ASF 077/2024), the 
complaint was dismissed on procedural grounds, with 
the Arbiter noting that each party should bear its own 
costs. This differed from fraud-related cases where 
the dismissal was based on substantive assessment                   
of the provider’s obligations.   

For the account freezing case (ASF 156/2024), while 
rejecting the request to order asset release, the 
Arbiter directed the provider to keep the complainant 
informed about the status of their assets “within the                           
limits allowed by law”. 

Across multiple decisions, the Arbiter recommended 
that VFA service providers enhance their onboarding 
processes to better educate retail customers about 
crypto risks, particularly regarding external wallet 
transfers and potential scams. As noted in ASF 
106/2024 and ASF 069/2024, “it would not be amiss 
if at onboarding stage retail customers are informed of 
typical fraud cases involving crypto asset transfers and 
warned against get-rich-quick schemes”.
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Pensions Cases

This section presents a range of pensions-related case summaries, comprising both individual disputes 
and groups of related decisions, which highlight recurring themes in pension administration and 
investment management. The summaries address issues such as inadequately diversified investment 
portfolios, the suitability of complex products held within retirement schemes, delays in transferring 
funds, administrative duties of trustees and administrators, claims of time-barred complaints, and the 
proper communication and due diligence expected of service providers. 

Pension scheme transfer and investment 
losses complaint (ASF 078/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Pension transfer, retirement scheme, investment 
portfolio, trustee, risk profile, due diligence, Arbiter’s 
recommendation

A complaint was filed against a retirement scheme 
administrator on their pension investments and 
transfers. The case revolved around the management 
and administration of a personal retirement scheme 
established as a trust and licensed by the Malta          
Financial Services Authority.

The complainant raised these issues:

a)	 The administrator failed to conduct sufficient due 
diligence to protect their interests when accepting 
investments in their pension portfolio.

b)	The investments were unsuitable, high risk and 
illiquid, not conforming with their risk attitude.

c)	 The administrator failed to explain the role of a 
custodian firm and did not provide satisfactory 
information about their involvement.

d)	The administrator refused to transfer the liquid 
portion of investments to another pension plan.

e)	The administrator did not allow them to appoint an 
investment advisor of their choice.

f)	 The complainant sought damages to compensate 
for losses and demanded the transfer of liquid 
investments to a suitable UK fund.

The administrator presented this defence:

a)	 It was not the trustee when the disputed investments 
were accepted into the portfolio.

b)	It had highlighted significant issues with the 
investments within six months of its appointment.

c)	 It provided regular updates about the investments’ 
status to the complainant.

d)	It had valid reasons for not allowing partial               
transfers of investments.

e)	 It approved the complainant’s new investment advisor 
after conducting due diligence.

f)	 The allegations lacked logical consistency                                  
and legal basis.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1.	 The complaint primarily focused on issues 
that occurred before the administrator’s 
appointment in May 2020, when it was not even                                    
incorporated as a company.

2.	 The administrator could not be held responsible for 
the initial investment decisions or the alleged lack 
of disclosure at the time of purchase since these 
occurred under a previous trustee’s tenure.

3.	 Within six months of taking over, the administrator 
had properly informed the complainant about the 
difficulties with the investments, their illiquid nature 
and potential risks.

4.	 The administrator’s refusal to transfer only the liquid 
portion of investments was justified by valid business 
reasons, including avoiding duplicate charges and 
maintaining proper portfolio diversification.

5.	 The administrator had provided adequate 
explanations about the custodian firm’s role and 
appointment through various communications       
with the complainant.

6.	 The complainant themselves withdrew their 
complaint about the custodian firm after                
receiving satisfactory explanations.
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7.	 The administrator’s actions on the approval of 
investment advisors followed proper due diligence 
procedures to ensure they operated within 
appropriate regulatory standards.

The Arbiter dismissed the complaint, finding no 
adequate basis to uphold the complainant’s claims or 
direct the administrator to transfer the liquid portion 
of investments. While the administrator’s explanations 
for its actions were considered reasonable and justified, 
the Arbiter recommended, without obligation, that 
the administrator consider waiving any exit fees if the 
complainant decides to transfer out of the scheme. 

The decision was not appealed. 

Pension transfer delay causes market 
loss (ASF 111/2023)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Pension rights, valuation request, administrative 
delays, market value, portfolio liquidation, transfer 
instructions

A complaint was filed about delays in processing a 
pension transfer request from a private pension fund 
to the European Parliament pension scheme, which 
allegedly resulted in financial losses.

The complainant raised these issues:

a)	 The Director General for Personnel of the European 
Parliament contacted the service provider in 
November 2021 on transferring pension rights.

b)	The value of the pension fund stood at €57,434.48 in 
December 2019, €57,129.22 in December 2020, and 
increased to €57,820 by December 2021.

c)	 The service provider failed to submit the requested 
information promptly, requiring multiple follow-ups 
until April 2022.

d)	By October 2022, the pension pot value had            
reduced to €49,786.14.

e)	The complainant rejected this reduced valuation and 
sought compensation for the difference between 
the December 2021 valuation (€57,820.04) and the 
amount transferred following encashment.

The service provider presented this defence:

a)	 The November 2021 communication was merely a 
valuation enquiry, not a specific transfer request. 

b)	Any transfer amount had to be based on a specific 
redemption request and the prevailing market value.

c)	 While acknowledging some processing delays, they 
noted the EU institutions also contributed to delays 
by not following up.

d)	The portfolio remained invested and subject 
to market fluctuations until receiving formal                                 
liquidation instructions.

The Arbiter made these observations and considerations:

1.	 Clear and unequivocal instructions to liquidate the 
pension portfolio were only received in October 
2023, with all prior communications being requests 
for valuation information.

2.	 While the service provider could have handled 
enquiries more promptly, no evidence showed that 
delays prejudiced the complainant’s position, given 
the long-term nature of pension investments.

3.	 The case involved transferring pension funds for 
continued investment under pension rules, rather 
than a complete exit from pension investments. The 
funds would likely have been reinvested in similar 
investments suitable for pension funds.

4.	 The sharp decline in market value, even for 
conservative investment portfolios, resulted from 
exceptional circumstances in mid-2022, when Euro 
interest rates changed abruptly due to inflation 
caused by the Russia-Ukraine war.

5.	 The market loss would have occurred regardless 
of whether the funds remained with the service 
provider or were transferred to an EU pension plan, 
as demonstrated by comparable market movements 
in benchmark investments.

The Arbiter ruled against the complainant, finding that, 
while the service provider’s service quality was lacking, 
this was insufficient to require compensation for market 
losses, particularly since clear liquidation instructions 
were only received and promptly executed in October 
2023. However, recognising the service provider’s 
shortcomings, the Arbiter ordered them to bear all costs 
of the proceedings.

The decision was confirmed on appeal. 
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Retirement scheme complaints dismissed 
on prescription (ASF 065/2023, 
ASF 105/2023, ASF 130/2024,                       

ASF 139/2022)

Structured notes, advisor, investment guidelines, 
valuation statements, capital losses, due diligence, 
fiduciary duties, prescription

Complaints were brought against administrators and 
trustees of personal retirement schemes licensed in 
Malta. The complainants alleged significant losses on 
their schemes. These losses were attributed to the 
service providers’ alleged failures to fulfil their fiduciary 
duties as trustee and administrator.

The issues raised commonly involved allowing unsuitable 
or high-risk investments, such as structured notes, 
to be held within the schemes, and allegedly failing 
to perform adequate due diligence on the appointed 
financial advisors. Some complainants also raised 
concerns about the communication they received on                                          
their investments and losses.

The complainants essentially claimed that the service 
providers did not act in their best interests, failed to 
ensure investments matched their risk profile and 
permitted investments advised by unlicensed advisors. 
One complainant claimed the service provider allowed 
a company not regulated by the UK’s financial conduct 
regulator to act as his advisor. Another claimed dealing 
instructions were accepted without his signature or with 
a copy of his signature.

Concerns were also raised on lack of diversification, 
excessive fees and failure to provide full information 
or warnings about losses. Complainants sought to 
recoup their losses, approximated in one instance at 
£100,000, another at £103,921 plus interest, and 
a third at £94,000. One complainant requested to 
be reinstated to the position they were in when they                                                 
first joined the scheme.

Service providers’ response

In response, the service providers consistently argued 
that the complaints were unfounded or time-barred 
by law. They often stated they were not licensed to 
provide investment advice and relied on the member’s 
appointed advisor for investment decisions. Service 
providers contended that investment instructions 
were received from the appointed advisor, who was                             
selected by the member.

They highlighted that they had consistently provided 
annual statements detailing portfolio composition and 
showing losses. One service provider noted that the 
complainant had signed the scheme application form 
indicating their advisor and granting permission for the 
administrator to accept instructions from the advisor 

without further reference to the member. In some 
cases, service providers argued that investment rules 
on suitable investments or concentration limits had 
changed over time and were not in effect when the 
disputed investments were made.

One service provider also pointed out that the 
complainant had previously received compensation from 
a financial services compensation scheme for losses on 
the same investment and had declared they would not 
seek compensation from third parties for these losses.

Arbiter’s considerations and observations

The Arbiter, in considering the cases, gave particular 
attention to the preliminary pleas raised by the service 
providers, especially those concerning prescription or 
time-barring under Maltese law, specifically Article 
21(1)(c) of the Act and Article 2156(f) of Chapter 16 of 
the Laws of Malta.

The Arbiter made the following observations in deciding 
on the preliminary pleas. A key aspect in determining 
competence was establishing the date when the 
complainant first had knowledge of the matters 
complained of, as per Article 21(1)(c). This date triggered 
the two-year period within which a written complaint 
had to be registered with the financial services provider.

Service providers presented annual valuation statements 
sent to complainants dating back several years, arguing 
that these statements clearly showed significant losses, 
making the complainants aware of the issues complained 
of since those earlier dates. The Arbiter noted that, in 
some cases, the disputed structured note investments 
had matured or been sold, resulting in realised capital 
losses by specific dates, often years before the complaint 
was filed with the Arbiter.

This finding contradicted complainants’ arguments that 
they were only aware of “paper losses” or became aware 
of the issues much later on receiving specific documents 
or learning of other cases. The Arbiter considered 
that the annual statements, especially those covering 
periods when investments had matured at a significant 
loss, provided sufficient notification of the realised 
losses, even if the complainant considered them merely 
snapshots or was receiving regular withdrawals.

For example, in one case, the Arbiter found it difficult to 
accept that a complainant did not realise the extent of 
realised losses on receiving a valuation statement they 
had specifically requested, which showed a drastically 
reduced policy value. In another case, the Arbiter 
considered communications dating back to November 
2020, which detailed a material reduction in the value 
of an illiquid investment and warned it could become 
worthless, as evidence that the complainant was aware 
of significant issues by that date.

In one instance, the service provider argued that a  
complaint registered with them in November 2017 
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constituted the official complaint for the purposes of 
Article 21(1)(c). The Arbiter agreed, noting that this 
complaint was formal and elicited a detailed reply from 
the service provider, including a direction to refer the 
matter to the OAFS if dissatisfied. While the Arbiter 
found that this November 2017 complaint was registered 
within the two-year period required by Article 21(1)(c) 
relative to the date of awareness of issues like changes 
in advisor terms and maturing investments around that 
time, the Arbiter then considered the plea under Article 
2156(f) of the Civil Code, which imposes a five-year 
prescription period for certain debts.

Based on the evidence that the complainant had 
knowledge of the matters complained of by October/
November 2017, the Arbiter concluded that the 
five-year prescription period had lapsed by the 
time the complaint was filed with the Arbiter since 
there was no sufficient evidence of interruption or                                                          
suspension of prescription.

The Arbiter also commented on other issues raised, 
noting that allegations implying fraud, such as disputed 
signatures on dealing instructions, fall outside the 
Arbiter’s competence and should be referred to 
the competent authorities for criminal activities. 
Furthermore, claims about the lack of regular annual 
statements were deemed to have no material relevance 
to the core complaint and requested redress in one case.

The Arbiter referred to various previous decisions 
where the plea of prescription had been upheld                                             
in similar circumstances.

Decision

For the reasons explained, the Arbiter upheld the plea 
of prescription raised by the service providers in all 
the reviewed cases. Accordingly, the complaints were 
dismissed. The Arbiter did not proceed to consider 
the merits of the cases, such as the alleged unsuitable 
investments or the contested appointment of advisors, 
due to the complaints being time-barred.

The decisions were made without prejudice to any 
right the complainants may have to seek justice before 
another competent court or tribunal. Since the cases 
were decided on a preliminary plea, each party was 
directed to bear its own costs of the proceedings.

Responsibilities of retirement 
scheme administrators and trustees                                           

(ASF 026/2024, ASF 027/2024,                                                                                   
ASF 063/2023, ASF 085/2022,                                                            
ASF 093/2022, ASF 100/2022,                                                          

ASF 160/2023)

Suitability report, structured notes, diversification, 
trustee duties, transfer out, indemnity, member-

directed scheme, investment adviser

Several complainants raised concerns on the 
administration and investment management of 
their pension schemes by their respective service 
providers. Issues primarily revolved around requested 
transfers, investment suitability, associated fees 
and the responsibilities of the service provider as                               
trustee and administrator.

Complainants questioned the service providers’ actions 
or inactions on investment choices made within their 
member-directed schemes, particularly on diversification 
and the appropriateness of complex products. Delays in 
processing requests and perceived lack of service were 
also significant points of contention.

Summary of complaints

The complainants requested various remedies, including 
compensation for alleged losses, time and mental 
energy, as well as the refund or waiving of fees.

a)	 One complainant requested €7,246 for alleged losses, 
and for time and mental energy, stemming from 
issues encountered during a transfer-out process. 
They declined to provide a suitability report and 
later refused to sign a customised deed of indemnity 
requested by the service provider. They also claimed 
interest on funds held in cash during delays.

b)	Another complainant sought £35,000 from the 
service provider, alleging that the provider failed to 
uphold its duties and contributed to a decrease in 
the value of investments. This complainant disputed 
the suitability of investments, claiming they were 
high-risk structured notes primarily intended for 
professional investors, lacked diversification, and 
questioned the licensing and due diligence related to 
appointed advisers and introducers.

c)	 One complainant claimed losses due to errors in 
previous decision calculations and additional losses 
identified in their complaint. They specifically 
alleged that the appointment of a discretionary fund 
manager was insisted upon by the service provider 
to limit its own liability and that the provider failed 
to educate them about this requirement. They 
questioned the sale of a specific fund without prior 
notification. They asked if claimed losses could be paid                                                                                                    
into a private bank account.
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d)	Multiple complainants raised similar concerns 
regarding investments in structured notes and the 
lack of diversification within their portfolios managed 
through a specific provider, noting material exposures 
to the same issuers. They alleged the investments 
were unsuitable for retail investors and that the 
service provider, as trustee and administrator, failed in 
its duty of oversight and compliance with investment 
guidelines and regulatory requirements.

e)	A complainant contested termination fees applied 
during a transfer out process, citing significant delays 
experienced over several months.

f)	 Another complainant sought compensation for 
investment losses, believing the service provider 
should compensate them to restore their initial 
investment value, stating their valuation reflected a 
significant percentage loss.

Responses of service providers

The service providers generally refuted the complainants’ 
allegations, asserting they had fulfilled their obligations 
in accordance with the applicable laws, rules, and 
scheme terms. They stressed that the schemes were 
member-directed, requiring members to appoint their 
own investment advisers. They maintained they did not 
provide investment advice themselves.

Service providers explained their role was primarily 
administrative, involving the verification and execution 
of instructions received from the appointed advisers 
or the members themselves. One provider highlighted 
the time and resources invested in accommodating 
a complainant’s requests, including drafting a 
customised indemnity deed, despite the complainant’s 
reluctance to follow standard procedures intended                                                     
for their protection.

Regarding investment suitability, service providers 
stated that investment decisions were made by the 
appointed advisers or discretionary fund managers 
based on the member’s risk profile, and they reviewed 
instructions against investment guidelines. One 
provider argued that regulatory changes regarding the 
requirement for a discretionary fund manager were 
communicated. They also pointed out that complainants 
had access to view their investment performance online                                         
and received documentation.

Service providers also argued against claims for moral or 
psychological harm compensation. They contended that 
allegations regarding unlicensed introducers or advisers 
were unfounded or not their responsibility at the time. 
Some providers deemed complaints were prescribed by 
law or frivolous and vexatious.

Arbiter’s considerations and observations

The Arbiter reviewed the complaints, the service 
providers’ responses, and the relevant legal and 

regulatory framework, including the Pension Rules 
for Personal Retirement Schemes and the Trusts and 
Trustees Act. The Arbiter made observations on the 
duties and responsibilities of retirement scheme 
administrators and trustees, particularly in the context 
of member-directed schemes and investment oversight.

In the Arbiter’s observations it emerged that service 
providers had a clear duty to check and ensure that the 
portfolio composition recommended by the investment 
adviser provided a suitable level of diversification, and 
aligned with applicable requirements and investment 
guidelines. While the service provider was not 
responsible for providing investment advice, its role as 
trustee and administrator involved ensuring that the 
portfolio composition enabled the scheme’s aims.

This oversight was particularly important in member-
directed schemes with individual investment 
portfolios, where the same standards and safeguards 
should apply. The Arbiter found that portfolios 
containing predominant or exclusive exposure to 
structured notes, especially with material exposures 
to the same issuer, did not reflect the requirement 
for diversification and were not in conformity with                                                                                   
applicable guidelines and rules.

Structured notes were often deemed complex products 
incompatible with a retail investor’s profile, despite 
claims by service providers that instructions were 
reviewed and compliant.

In cases involving specific service providers, the Arbiter 
noted that legal opinions presented by the service 
provider arguing that investment restrictions were not 
applicable or should not be interpreted as applying to 
individual member accounts did not alter the Arbiter’s 
position. The Arbiter maintained that interpreting rules 
otherwise would defeat the safeguards intended for 
members’ protection on investments and diversification.

Regarding the requirement for discretionary fund 
managers, the Arbiter noted in one decision that the 
appointment of a discretionary fund manager (DFM) 
was not necessarily a requirement in all circumstances, 
contrary to what a service provider had indicated 
to a complainant. The Arbiter considered there was 
a deficiency in the service provider’s conduct by 
failing to clearly explain the available options when a 
complainant proposed appointing an adviser who only                                      
held an insurance licence.

On the issue of delay in a transfer out, the Arbiter 
sympathised with the complainant but found the service 
provider was not at fault when the delay was due to the 
complainant’s own actions, such as declining to provide 
a suitability report or sign an indemnity deed, or holding 
funds in cash awaiting transfer.

The Arbiter also addressed claims that the service 
provider was liable for losses resulting from investment 
decisions, noting that the primary responsibility for 
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investment decisions lay with the appointed adviser 
or DFM. However, the service provider, as trustee, 
still had oversight duties. While acknowledging that 
complainants appointed their advisers, the Arbiter 
highlighted the trustee’s broader responsibilities 
beyond strict rule compliance, including acting                                                      
prudently and diligently.

Remedy awarded

The remedies awarded varied depending on the 
specifics of each case and the findings of the Arbiter. In 
some cases, the Arbiter found the complaints justified, 
particularly about the unsuitability of investment 
portfolios due to lack of diversification and concentration 
risks, finding the service provider’s actions or inactions               
contributed to the losses.

The Arbiter’s decisions in multiple cases against one 
service provider on structured notes and lack of 
diversification have been consistently upheld by the 
Court of Appeal (Inferior). In these instances, the Arbiter 
did not reproduce the full details of the legal framework 
and responsibilities but applied the conclusions                 
from previous, similar cases.

In a case involving a transfer-out delay, the Arbiter 
found the service provider not at fault for the delay or 
resulting lack of earnings on cash, attributing it to the 
complainant’s instructions or actions. In this instance, 
the complaint was not upheld in this regard.
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Corporate Service Provision Cases

The case summaries address disputes concerning corporate service providers, focusing on contested fees for 
tax advisory and residency services, alleged breaches of fiduciary duties and professional obligations, conflicts 
of interest and questions of regulatory competence. They examine the adequacy of service provision, the 
legitimacy of settlements and the boundaries of the Arbiter’s jurisdiction under Maltese law.

Fees dispute over global residency 
application (ASF 036/2024)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (LACK OF 
COMPETENCE)

Residency programme, mandate, authorisation, tax 
status, jurisdiction, competence

A complainant sought compensation for expenses 
related to an unsuccessful application for special tax 
status under the Global Residency Programme. The case 
centred on whether the service provider was authorised 
to offer these services and whether the matter fell within 
the Arbiter’s jurisdiction.

The complainant sought reimbursement of €30,000        
for these reasons:

a)	 The service provider charged €7,000 in legal fees and 
€6,000 in government application fees.

b)	The complainant spent €15,800 on rental properties 
and €1,500 on travel from India to Malta.

c)	 The service provider allegedly misled the 
complainant about needing to rent accommodation                                                   
at the application stage.

d)	The complainant maintained they provided all 
requested documentation, including bank statements 
and asset declarations.

e)	The application was refused, despite the complainant 
claiming to have sufficient funds and employment.

f)	 The service provider was accused of                                         
breaching business ethics.

The service provider rejected all allegations in      
presenting their defence:

a)	 They denied involvement in any property rentals.

b)	They explicitly informed the complainant 

that residential leases were unnecessary                                                          
for the application. 

c)	 The application was refused by the tax authorities 
due to insufficient proof of stable financial resources.

d)	They maintained they followed all prescribed 
guidelines in processing the application.

e)	They highlighted their experience in handling these 
applications since the programme’s inception.

f)	 This was reportedly their first complaint of this nature.

The Arbiter made these observations on the                         
matter’s jurisdictional scope:

1.	 The primary consideration was whether the service 
could be classified as a financial service under the 
relevant legislation, specifically the Act.

2.	 The definition of a financial services provider was 
examined, which covered entities licensed by the 
financial services authority for activities related to 
investment, banking, financial institutions, credit 
cards, pensions and insurance.

3.	 The service requested involved assistance with 
applying for the Global Residency Programme, 
which primarily offered tax benefits to 
successful applicants at a rate of 15c per euro on                                          
foreign-sourced income.

4.	 The service provider held authorisation 
from the Commissioner for Revenue as an 
Authorised Mandatory, distinct from any                                                              
financial services licensing.

5.	 The nature of the service did not involve managing 
money, assets or investments on behalf of clients, 
nor did it possess characteristics that would classify 
it as a financial service.

6.	 The service provider’s existing financial 
services authority licence did not cover                                                       
residency programme applications.
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The Arbiter concluded that the activity could not be 
considered a financial service under Article 2 of the 
Act. Consequently, the complaint was dismissed as 
falling outside the Arbiter’s competence. The decision 
preserved the complainant’s right to pursue the case 
before another competent court or tribunal. 

The decision was not appealed. 

Dispute over tax advisory services fees 
(ASF 044/2024)

COMPLAINT REJECTED (ON MERIT)

Tax advice, VAT evasion, Letter of Engagement, 
hourly rate, invoice dispute, duress

A complaint was filed about fees charged for tax 
advisory services related to reporting potential VAT 
evasion. The complainant sought advice on behalf 
of a friend on VAT evasion reporting and presented                                                       
the following grievances:

a)	 They contacted a tax director seeking advice on five 
specific questions on the treatment of their friend as 
a potential whistleblower in a VAT evasion case.

b)	After following up, they received information which 
they considered irrelevant and failed to address         
their specific questions.

c)	 They were presented with an invoice for €2,046.25 
plus VAT for services they had not requested.

d)	Following complaints, the fee was reduced in             
stages to €500 plus VAT.

e)	The complainant paid the reduced amount under 
alleged duress to avoid court action.

f)	 They sought a refund of €590 (€500 plus €90 VAT), 
claiming the payment was made under duress.

The service provider defended their position with this 
reply and during the hearing:

a)	 They maintained that appropriate tax advice 
was provided after reviewing relevant provisions                          
of the VAT Act.

b)	The complainant had accepted their hourly rate and 
signed their Letter of Engagement.

c)	 The time spent on the matter was justified given the 
complexity of the questions.

d)	The fee reductions were offered in good faith                      
to avoid dispute.

e)	 They followed standard procedures for recovering 
unpaid fees.

f)	 They filed a police report against the complainant for 
harassment and vexatious complaints.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1.	 The primary consideration was whether the 
settlement of €500 plus VAT represented a full 
and final settlement that should not be reopened, 
regardless of whether the original invoice was 
justified by the value delivered.

2.	 The argument of duress was examined in the 
light of the complainant’s legal background and 
professional experience, determining that the 
exercise of legal rights by the service provider did not                                                                                         
constitute undue duress.

3.	 It was significant that the complainant admitted 
awareness of the director’s hourly fee rate of €250.

4.	 The director’s involvement throughout the dispute, 
including the escalation over fees, justified the 
finally settled amount.

5.	 The settlement followed a negotiation process 
in which the complainant had offered €250 plus 
VAT, and the service provider had progressively 
reduced their fee from the original amount to the                       
final agreed sum.

6.	 The Arbiter considered that the complainant’s 
legal background made them particularly well 
positioned to understand the implications of                                   
accepting the settlement.

The Arbiter dismissed the complaint, finding that the 
settlement represented a legitimate resolution between 
professionally informed parties, and the threat of legal 
action did not constitute improper pressure that would 
invalidate the agreement. Each party was ordered to 
bear its own costs of the proceedings.

The decision was not appealed. 
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Tax interest penalties and directorship 
duties (ASF 224/2023)

COMPLAINT PARTIALLY UPHELD

Fiduciary duties, tax agreement, interest charges, 
corporate governance, professional obligations, 
professional negligence

A complaint was filed against a company service provider 
on alleged breaches of fiduciary duties and professional 
obligations. The complainant claimed that the service 
provider acted with gross negligence in handling certain 
matters relating to tax payments and corporate services.

The complainant raised these issues:

a)	 The service provider’s appointed director failed 
to sign an agreement with tax authorities to 
settle pending tax and interest due, resulting in                                                 
higher interest charges.

b)	The company service provider gave incorrect advice 
on a BVI holding company structure.

c)	 The service provider inadequately handled matters 
on a bank with whom the companies held accounts, 
affecting prompt tax settlement.

d)	The complainant sought compensation totalling 
€122,418, which included additional tax interest 
charges, remaining funds after tax refunds, 
professional fees and other related costs.

The service provider defended its position, arguing:

a)	 It ensured tax payments were made as soon as funds 
were available and any interest incurred was due to 
late remittance of funds.

b)	The first proposed agreement with the tax authorities 
could not be signed since full payment was not 
affected within the required timeframes.

c)	 Their expertise was limited to Maltese tax 
matters and they had never offered advice on                                                
foreign tax issues.

d)	They had kept the complainant updated on 
the bank situation and maintained records of                                                      
all related correspondence.

The Arbiter made these observations:

1)	 While certain aspects of the complaint fell outside 
his competence, the key matters on breach of 
fiduciary duties and professional obligations in 
relation to directorship services were within scope.

2)	 The service provider’s appointed director failed 
to sign and submit the first tax agreement in a 

timely manner, despite the complainant’s clear 
acceptance of the agreement terms and readiness                                   
to make payments.

3)	 The director appeared more focused on securing 
payment of fees due to the service provider rather 
than acting in the companies’ best interests at a 
crucial time when urgent action was needed.

4)	 The service provider’s claim that full tax payment 
was required before signing the agreement 
was deemed unreasonable since, logically, the 
agreement needed to be signed first for payments 
to be treated accordingly.

5)	 The director had a clear conflict of interest, 
demanding settlement of relatively small service 
fees before proceeding with urgent tax matters that 
could have saved significant interest charges.

6)	 The director’s actions constituted a breach of 
fiduciary duty through negligence in carrying out 
directorship services and failure to act with due 
care and diligence.

Based on these considerations, the Arbiter awarded 
compensation of €26,371 for damages suffered due 
to the failure to properly execute the tax agreement, 
plus €2,850 in moral damages for the service provider’s 
failure to act in the companies’ best interests when 
faced with conflicts of interest.

The decision was not appealed.
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The jurisdiction of the Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services covers complaints lodged 
by eligible customers anywhere in the world against financial services providers licensed 
in Malta. The heat map presented here showcases the international scope of the OAFS’s 
operations and highlights the global presence of Malta’s financial services industry, as it 
represents all consumers who engaged with the OAFS in 2024 through both enquiries and 
formal complaints.

Origin of Enquiries and Complaints

Annex 1
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Enquiries and Minor Cases Statistics
Figure 1 – Total Enquiries and Minor Cases (2016-2024)

Figure 3 – Enquiries and Minor Cases (by sector and outcome)

Figure 2 – Enquiries and Minor Cases (by origination)

Annex 2
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Figure 4 – Enquiries and Minor Cases (by type)
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Formal Complaints Statistics  

Figure 5 – Total number of formal complaints (2016-2024)

Table 1 – Complaints registered by product and issue (2024)

Annex 3

1 The number of complaints for 2016 (June to December) has been adjusted to reflect the actual number of cases received, rather than the 
number of complainants collectively making up such cases.

2 This includes nine cases (comprising 400 complainants) which were treated as one collective complaint (Case reference 28/2016) given that 
their merits are intrinsically similar in nature, and a further 38 complaints filed separately by different complainants. In the latter cases, each case 
was treated on its merits. All these cases concern a collective investment scheme.

3 One complaint is made up of 56 individual complainants as their merits are intrinsically similar in nature.
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Table 2 – Complaints registered in 2024 by provider (alphabetically) and sector
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BOARD OF MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION REPORT

Objects

Results

Review of the period

Post Statement of Financial Position Events

Statement of the Board of Management and Administration responsibilities 

Board of Management and Administration submit their annual report and the financial statements for the period ended 31st
December 2024.

There were no particular important events affecting the entity which occurred since the end of the accounting year.

The Board reports a deficit of €85,489 during the period under review. 

The Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services is an autonomous and independent body setup in terms of Act XVI of 2016 of the
Laws of Malta. It has the power to mediate, investigate and adjudicate complaints filed by customers against financial services
providers.

The statement of comprehensive income is set out on page 3.

In terms of the licensing regulations applicable to Goverment entities, the entity is to prepare financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Entity as at the end of the financial period and of
the surplus or deficit for that period.

- adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Entity will continue to function;
- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on the accrual basis; and
- prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union.

In preparing the financial statements, the entity is required to: 
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Statement of financial position

Notes 2024 2023

€ €

ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment 6 121,182       56,677         

Intangible Asset 7 - - 

121,182       56,677         

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 8 14,064 33,391         

Cash and cash equivalents 9 171,840       248,637       

185,904       282,028       

TOTAL ASSETS 307,086       338,705       

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

Reserves

Accumulated Funds 222,763       308,252       

222,763       308,252       

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 84,323 30,453         

84,323 30,453         

Total liabilities 84,323 30,453         

TOTAL RESERVES AND LIABILITIES 307,086       338,705       

Date:  30 May 2025Geoffrey Bezzina

Chairman

Board of Management and Administration

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 6 to 9 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Management and Administration and signed on its behalf 

by:
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Notes 2024 2023

€ €

Income 3 681,322       675,658       

Administrative expenses 4 (766,074)      (671,096)      

Financial costs 5 (737)             (761)             

Surplus for the year (85,489)        3,802           

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 6 to 9 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in reserves

Accumulated Total

fund

€ €

Balance at 1 Jan 2022 230,736       230,736       

Surplus for the year 73,714           73,714          

Balance at 31 December 2022 304,450       304,450       

Surplus for the year 3,802            3,802            

Balance at 31 December 2023 308,252         308,252        

Surplus for the year (85,489)         (85,489)         

Balance at 31 December 2024 222,763         222,763        

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 6 to 9 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

Note 2024 2023

€ €

Operating activities

Surplus for the year (85,489)        3,802           

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Non-cash movements

Depreciation of fixed assets 22,183         21,007         

Working capital adjustments

Increase in trade and other receivables 19,327         (19,189)        

Increase in trade and other payables 53,870         (67)               

Net cash generated from operating activities 9,891           5,553           

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (86,688)        (49,658)        

Purchase of Intangible Asset -               -               

Net cash used in investing activities (86,688)        (49,658)        

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 248,637       292,742       

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (76,797)        (44,105)        

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 171,840       248,637       

-               -               

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 6 to 9 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Corporate information

2.1 Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Intangible assets

Amortisation method, useful life and residual value

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the useful life of the asset as follows:

Fixtures, furniture & fittings 10 years

Computer equipment 4 years

Office equipment 4 years

The financial statements of the Office for the Arbiter for Financial Services for the year ended 31 December 2024 were

authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the members. Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services is a Goverment

entity.

The financial statements of Office for the Arbiter for Financial Services have been prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such cost
includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.
Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The financial statements are presented in euro (€). 

The amortisation of the intangible asset is based on a useful life of 4 years and is charged to profit or loss. 

Depreciation is to be taken in the year of purchase whereas no depreciation will be charged in the year of disposal of the

asset.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

An acquired intangible asset is recognised only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. An intangible asset is
initially measured at cost, comprising its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its
intended use.

Intangible assets are subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated to write down the carrying amount of the intangible asset using the straight-line method over its

expected useful life. Amortisation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the

asset is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) or the date that the asset is

derecognised. 

The amortisation method applied, the residual value and the useful life are reviewed on a regular basis and when necessary,

revised with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for prospectively.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

3. Income

2024 2023

€ €

        675,000        675,000 

            3,996            5,100 

                  -             (4,442)

            2,326                  -   

681,322       675,658       

4. Expenses by nature

2024 2023

€ €

Staff Salaries                          575,654       514,373       

Office maintenance & Cleaning 13,880         13,146         

Car & Fuel Expenses 22,252         25,608         

PR & Marketing 3,452           1,425           

Financial Education 27,586         -               

Telecommunications 6,437           5,202           

Professional Fees 9,195           2,089           

Depreciation charge for the year 22,183         21,007         

Other expenses 85,436         88,246         

Total administrative costs 766,074       671,096       

Government Funding

Income represents Goverment funding and complaint fees.

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original

maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and

cash equivalents as defined, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Total Income

Complaint Fees

Trade and other payables are shown in these financial statements at cost less any impairment values. Amounts payable in

excess of twelve months are disclosed as non current liabilities.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected

from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. The

asset's residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each financial

year end.

EU Funding Returned

Other Grants
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4. Expenses by nature (continued)

Average number of persons employed by the office during the year: 2024 2023

Total average number of employees 12 11

5. Financial costs

2024 2023

€ €

Bank and similar charges 737               761              

6. Property, plant and equipment

€ € € € €

Net book amount at 1 January 2023 -                11,527           887                2,337            14,751          

Additions 36,870           -                6,444             6,344            49,658          

Depreciation charge for the period -                (2,819)           (2,499)           (2,414)           (7,732)          
-               

Net book amount at 31 December 2023 36,870         8,708            4,832            6,267           56,677         

Additions (36,870)         103,184         10,404           9,970            86,688          

Depreciation charge for the year -                (13,138)          (4,212)           (4,833)           (22,183)         
-               

Net book amount at 31 December 2024 -               98,754          11,024          11,404         121,182       

As at 31 December 2024

Total cost 131,377         25,535           36,534           193,446        

Accumulated depreciation -                (32,626)          (14,510)          (25,130)         (72,266)         

Net book amount at 31 December 2024 -               98,751          11,025          11,404         121,180       

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 

Fittings

Computer 
Equipment

Assets under 
Construction

Office 
Equipment

Total
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

7. Intangible Asset

€ €

Total Cost as at 1 January 2024 53,100           53,100          

Additions -                -               

Accumulated Depreciation (53,100)         (53,100)         

Net book amount at 31 December 2024 -               -               

8. Trade and other receivables 2024 2023

€ €

Prepayments 9,264           8,823           

Deposits 4,800           19,768         

Other receivables -               4,800           

14,064         33,391         

9. Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023

€ €

Cash at bank and in hand 171,840       248,637       

10. Trade and other payables

2024 2023

€ €

Other payables -               13,110         

FSS Payable -               9,778           

Accruals 84,323         7,565           

84,323         30,453         

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Website and 
Case and File 

e-Solution
Total
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Administrative expenses

2024 2023

€ €

Staff Salaries 575,654       514,373       

Training 767               2,392           

Office Consumables 2,924           2,319           

Conference Expenses -               8,280           

Cleaning 11,758         10,543         

Office Maintenance 2,122           2,603           

Printing and Stationery 6,717           6,715           

PC/Printer Consumables -               -               

Other Office Costs 5,222           5,793           

Other Office Equipment -               -               

Telecommunications 6,437           5,202           

Website Expenses 26,404         23,940         

Postage, Delivery & Courier 2,039           1,369           

Insurance 19,411         21,254         

Memberships & Subscriptions 2,483           2,111           

General Expenses 3,883           940              

Vehicle, leasing and fuel expenses 22,252         25,608         

Travelling Expenses 11,313         9,121           

PR & Marketing 3,452           1,425           

Financial Education 27,586         -               

Professional Fees 9,195           2,089           

Accounting Fees 4,273           4,012           

Depreciation Charge 22,183         21,007         

766,074       671,096       



This page is intentionally left blank. 





Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services
N/S in Regional Road

Msida MSD 1920
Malta

Freephone                80072366
Telephone     +356 21249245
Whatsapp  +356 79219961

financialarbiter.org.mt

Scan for map directions


